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Directors' report
For the year ended 31 December 2009

The directors present their Annual Report on the affairs of the company, together with the accounts and auditors’
report, for the year ended 31 December 2009

Principal activity
The principal activity of the company 1s to hold and manage an investment in Northern Gas Networks Holdings
Limited (NGNH)

Business review
As shown in the profit and loss account the company has made a loss of £4,257,000 {2008 — profit of £18,292,000) in
the year This has resulted in a corresponding decrease in net assets in the balance sheet year on year

On 5 November 2009 the company sold its 100% shareholding in Goldia Resources Limited, for £12 1m to its parent
company Kentson Limited

On 18 November 2009 the company acquired an additional 8 2% shareholding in NGNH resulting in a total
shareholding of 41 3% for consideration of £35 4m, funded through an nterest beanng loan This loan was converted
into 10 55% per annum interest beanng loan notes, issued by the company on 1 February 2010, and histed on the
Channel Islands Stock Exchange on 2 February 2010

The company 15 managed by Hongkeng Electrnic Holdings Limited as part of the overall group  For this reason, the
company’s directors believe that further key performance indicators for the company are not necessary or appropriate
for an understanding of the development, performance or position of the business The performance of Hongkeng
Electne Holdings Limited 1s discussed in that company’s Annual Report which does not form part of this report

Pnncipal nsks and uncertainties

The company i1s financed by intercompany loans and listed loan notes  The nsks and uncertainties of the company
reflect those associated with these loan's as discussed below

Future outiook

The directors expect the company to make a profit in the forthcomung year

Financial nsk management objectives and policies
The company’s financial instruments compnise intercompany loans, listed loan notes and cash

The main qualitative and quantitative nisk ansing from the company’s financial instruments 1s liquidity nsk as
summansed below along with policies established by the Board to manage that nsk
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Directors’ report (continued)

Liquidity nsk

The company’s external debt compnises listed loan notes The associated iquidity nsk 1s currently mitigated as they
do not mature unttl 2013 It s planned that the loan notes will be replaced by facilities before the existing loan notes
mature

Going Concern

At 31 December 2009 the company had £162 6m of listed loan notes 1ssued which mature in 2013 and interest
beanng intercompany debt of £35 4m Cash flow projections, which include dwdends receivable, show that the
company wilt be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due After making enquiries, the directors have a
reasonable expectation that the company has adequate resources to continue operations for the foreseeable future
Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis tn preparing the Annual Report and accounts

Dividends
No dividend was declared in the year (2008 - £18,000,000), as shown in note 4

Directors
The directors, who served throughout the year were as follows

N D McGee
C Tsa
KS Tso

Auditors

Each of the directors at the date of approval of this report confirms that

e so far as the directer 1s aware, there I1s no retevant audit information of which the company’s auditors are
unaware, and

e the director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a director to make himse!f aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the company's auditors are aware of that information

This confirmation 1s given and shoutd be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of section 418 of the
Companies Act 2006

The directors will place a resolution before the annual general meeting to reappoint Deloitte LLP as auditors for the
ensuing year

3 More London Riverside By order of the Board,
London 1__\/
SE1 2AQ \/
Y NDMcG X
8 September 2010 Drrector
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Directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for prepanng the Annual Report and the accounts in accordance with applicable law and
regulations

Company law requires the directors to prepare accounts for each financial year Under that law the directors have
elected to prepare the accounts in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United
Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law} Under company law the directors must not approve the accounts
unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or
loss of the company for that year In prepanng these accounts, the directors are required to

+ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
= make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent,
s state whether applicable UK Accecunting Standards have been followed, and

» prepare the accounts on the going concern basss untess it IS inappropnate to presume that the company will
continue in business

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and
enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the Companies Act 2006 They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregulanties
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Independent auditors’ report

To the Members of Beta Central Profits Limited

We have audited the accounts of Beta Central Profits Limited for the year ended 31 December 2009 which comprise
the profit and loss account, the balance sheet, the statement of accounting policies and the related notes 1 to 14 The
financial reporting framework that has been applied in therr preparation 1s apphcable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

This report 1s made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Respeonsibilities Statement, the directors are responstble for the preparation
of the accounts and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair iew Our responsibiiity 1s to audit the accounts In
accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards require
us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's (APB's) Ethical Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the accounts

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and dtsclosures in the accounts sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the accounts are free from matenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error  This inciudes an
assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropnate to the company’s circumstances and have been
consistently applied and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the
directors, and the overall presentation of the accounts

Opinion on accounts
In our opinion the accounts

* give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 December 2009 and of its loss for the
year then ended,

+ have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice,
and

» have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Compames Act 2006
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Independent auditors' report (continued)

Opinion on other matters prescnibed by the Companies Act 2006
In our cpinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the accounts are prepared
ts consistent with the accounts

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Compames Act 2006 requires us to report to
you If, in our opinion

adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not wisited by us, or

the accounts are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns, or

certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or

we have not receved all the information and explanations we require for our audit

Chore oK —

Christopher Powell FCA (Senior Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Leeds, England

T4 September 2010
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Profit and loss account
For the year ended 31 December 2009

Notes
Administrative expenses
Operating loss
Finance charges (net) 1
Income from associate undertaking 13
(Loss) profit on ordinary activities before taxation 2
Tax on {loss} profit on ordinary activities 3
(Loss) profit for the financial year 11

The above results anse from continuing operations
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this profit and loss account

There are no recegnised garns or losses In the year other than the loss for the year
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2009 2008
£'000 £'000

)] {126)

(9) (126)

(17,605) (5,239)
10,685 22,176
(6,929) 16,811
2,672 1,481
(4,257) 18,202




Balance sheet
31 December 2009

Notes 2009 2008
£'000 £000
Fixed asset investments 5 261,953 238475
Current assets
Debtors — due within one year 6 1,315 750
Cash at bank and in hand 13 13
1,328 763
Creditors. Amounts faliing due within one year 7 (40,850) {12,550)
Net current liabilittes (39,522) {11,787}
Total assets less current liabilities 222,431 226,688
Creditors; Amounts falling due after more than one year 8 (162,600) (162,600)
Net assets 59,831 64,088
Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital 10 63,773 63,773
Profit and loss account 1 (3,942) 3186
Shareholders’ funds 12 59 831 64.088

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this balance sheet

The accounts of Beta Central Profits Limited, Registered number 6297913, were approved by the Board of Directors
and authonsed for 1Issue on 8 September 2010 and signed on its behalf by

X ND MCZ A Director

8 September 2010
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Statement of accounting policies
31 December 2009

The pnincipal accounting policies are summansed below They have all been applied consistently throughout the year
and the preceding year

Basis of accounting
The accounts have been prepared under the histoncal cost convention and in accordance with applicable United
Kingdom accounting standards

The company 1s exempt from the requirements of FRS1 (revised) “Cash flow statements” to present a cash flow
statement as it 1s a wholly owned subsidiary of Hongkong Electnc Holdings Limited, which prepares consolidated
accounts which are publicly availlable

The company 1s not required to prepare group accounts as it 1s a wholly owned subsidiary of Hongkong Electnc
Holdings Limited which prepares consolidated accounts that are publicly available

Going concern
The Directors’ report includes a note on page 2 stating that the directors consider the business to be a going concern
at the time of the approval of the Annual Report and accounts

Fixed asset investments
Fixed asset investments are shown at cost less provision for impairment

Taxation
Current tax 1s provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) using the tax rates and laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date

A net deferred tax asset Is regarded as recoverable and therefore recognised only when, on the basis of all avallable
evidence, It can be regarded as more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future
reversal of the underlying timing differences can be deducted

Debt

Debt s inihally stated at the amount of the net proceeds after deduction of Issue costs The carrying amount 15
increased by the finance cost In respect of the accounting year and reduced by payments made n the year
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Notes to the accounts

31 December 2009

1 Finance charges (net)

Interest payable and similar charges

- Loan notes
- Intercompany loans
- Bank loans

2009 2008
£000 £:000
17,154 1,489
451 1,269

- 2,481
17,605 5239

2 {Loss) profit on ordinary activities before taxation

The directors did not receive any remuneration in relation to their services to the company dunng the current or pnior
years The fees payable to the company's auditors for the audit of the company's annual accounts was £3,300 (2008
- £3,000) There are no employees other than the directors

3 Tax on (loss) prefit on ordinary activities

The tax credit compnses
2009 2008
£'000 £000
Current tax
UK carporation tax {2,626) (1,499)
Adjustments In respect of prior years (46) 18
Total tax on profit on ordinary activities (2,672) (1,481)

The differences between the total current tax shown above and the amount calculated by applying the standard rate
of UK corporation tax to the (loss) profit before tax are as follows

2009 2008
£000 £000
(Loss) profit on ordinary activities before taxation (6,929) 16,811
Tax on (loss) profit on ordinary activities at standard UK corporation
tax rate of 28% (2008 — 28%) (1,940) 4707
Effects of
Income not taxable (2,992) (6,209)
Unrecoverable tax losses 2,308 N
Adjustments in respect of prior years (46) 18
Change in standard UK corporation tax rate - (28)
Current tax credit for the year (2,672) (1,481)

The company earns its profits in the UK Therefore the tax rate used for tax on (loss) profit on ordinary activities 1s the
standard rate for UK corporation tax, currently 28% {2008 — 28%)
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Notes to the accounts (continued)

3 Tax on (loss) profit on ordinary activities
A deferred tax asset amounting to £646,000 (2008 - £61,000) for tax losses has not been recognised because in the
opinicn of the directors there will be no suitable taxable profits available in the foreseeable future

4 Dividends paid on equity shares

2009 2008
£000 £'000
Equity shares

- intenm dividend paid of nil {2008 - 3 1p) per ordinary share - 2,000
- final dividend paid of nil (2008 - 25 1p) per ordinary share - 16,000
- 18,000

§ Fixed asset investments
2009 2008
£'000 £'000
Subsidiary undertaking (cost and net book value) - 12,113
Associate (cost and net book value) 261,953 226,362
261,953 238,475

The subsidiary undertaking was a 100% holding in the ordinary share capital of Goldia Resources Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Istands which i1s non-trading and was soid for £12 1m on 5 November 2009

The associate 1s @ 41 3% (2008 - 35 1%) holding In the ordinary share capital of NGNH, a group whose principal
activity 1s the distnibution of gas through the North of England network, which 1s incorporated in England and Wales

The additional share holding was acquired on 18 November 2009 for consideration of £35 4m plus costs

€ Debtors - due within one year

2009 2008
£'000 £'000
Amounts owed by associate undertakings 1,313 750
Prepayments and accrued income 2 -
1,315 750
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Notes to the accounts (continued)

7 Creditors' Ameunts faling due within one year

2009 2008

£000 £000

Amounts owed to group undertakings 40,845 12,502
Accruals and deferred income 5 48
40,850 12,550

Amounts owed to group undertakings includes a 10 55% per annum interest bearnng loan of £35 4m (2008 - £nil)
repayable on demand

8 Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year

2009 2008

£000 £'000

Listed loan notes 162,600 162,600
162,600 162,600

The lean notes are listed on the Channel Islands Stock Exchange and carry fixed interest at 10 55% per annum paid
annually on 31 December and mature on 4 November 2013

9 Derivatives and other financial instruments

The Directors’ report provides an explanation of the role that financial instruments have had dunng the year in
creating or changing the nsks the company faces in its activites The explanaton summanses the objectives and
policies for holding or issuing financial instruments and similar contracts, and the strategies for achieving those
objectives that have been followed during the year

The numerncal disclosures in this note deal with financial assets and financial habilities as defined in Financial
Reporting Standard 13 “Denvatives and other financial instruments Disclosures” (FRS 13) Certain financial assets
such as investments in subsidiary undertakings are excluded from the scope of these disclosures

As permitted by FRS 13, short term debtors and creditors have been excluded from the disclosures The directors
believe that the fair values are not matenally different from the balance sheet values
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Notes to the accounts (continued)

9 Derivatives and other financial instruments (continued)
Interest rate profile

The company has no financial assets cther than sterling cash deposits of £13,000 (2008 - £13,000) which are part of

the financing arrangements of the company The sterling cash deposits comprnise monies held in bank accounts

The interest rate profile of the company’s financial habilities at 31 December was as fellows

Weighted average

Fixed rate Fixed rate interest rate
2009 2008 2009
£000 £000 %
Loan notes 162,600 162,600 10 55
Intercompany
loan 35,410 - 10 55
Total 198,010 162,600

Matunty of financial rabilities

Weighted average
Weighted average penod for which

interest rate rate 1s fixed
2008 2009

% Years

10 55 38

- 02

The matunty profile of the company’s financial habiities at 31 December was as follows

In one year or less
In more than two years but not more than five years

Borrowing factitties

2009
£'000
35,410
162,600

198,010

The company had no undrawn committed borrowing facilities at esther the current or pnor year end

Fair values

Weighted average
period for which
rate 1s fixed

2008
£000

162,600

162,600

The directors believe that the fair values of all financial instruments are not matenally different from the balance sheet

values

10 Called-up share capital

Authonsed
65,000,000 ordinary shares of £1 each

Allotted, called-up and fully paid
63,772,525 ordinary shares of £1 each
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2009 2008
£'000 £000
65,000 65,000
65,000 65,000
63,773 63,773
63,773 63,773

2008
Years

48



Notes to the accounts (continued)

11 Reserves

At 1 January 2009
Loss for the financial year

At 31 December 2009

12 Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds

(Loss) profit for the financial year
Dividends paid on equity shares

Net movement in shareholders’ funds
Opening shareholders’ funds

Closing shareholders' funds

13 Related party transactions

As a subsidiary undertaking of Hongkong Electnc Holdings Limited, the company has taken advantage of the

Profit and
loss account
£'000
315
{4,257}
(3,942)
2009 2008
£000 £'000
(4,257) 18,292
- (18,000)
(4,257) 292
64,088 63,796
59,831 64,088

exemption in FRS8 “Related party disclosures” from disclosing transactions with other members of the group headed

by Hongkong Electnc Holdings Limited

The company received dividend income of £10 7m (2008 - £22 2m) from NGNH

14 Ultimate controlling party
Kentson Limited 1s the immediate parent company

Hongkong Electric Holdings Limited 1s the ultimate parent company and the largest and smallest group of which the
company 15 a member and for which group accounts are drawn up Copies of the accounts are availabie from the

registered address of this company as shewn in the Directors’ report
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Hongkong Electnc Moldings Limited (HEH) 1s the holding company of
The Hongkong Electnc Company, Limited (HEC}), Hongkong Electnic
International Limited (HEI) and Associated Techrical Services Lirnited (ATS)

HEC s the main operating company of HEH Founded in 1889,
HEC 15 responsible for the generation, transrrission and distribution
of power to Hong Kong Island and Lamma Island

HEI was established in 1997 as the international investment arm of HEH
HEI has interests in power-related businesses 1n Australia, Thalland, Canada,
the United Kingdom, New Zealand and mainland China

ATS 15 a wholly-owned subsidiary of HEH 1t was established in 1975
as an engineenng consultancy firm serving the electncrty supply industry

HEH 1s listed onThe Stock Exchange of Hong Kong and 15 one of the
constituent shares of the Hang Seng Index in Hong Kong
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With its fong heritage and strong foundation at home,
HK Electric has been actively pursuing investment

opportunities outside Hong Kong for the past decade.

It now has a wide range of energy-related businesses
across the continents, accounting for over 30% of the
Group's total profits in 2009, up from 3% the year before,
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Growing from our strengths

IN BUSINESS' BEYOND HoONG KONG

From our coal and gas-fired power stations in Canada to
gas-fired units in Thaifand, electncrty distnbution networks
in Australia to gas distnbution in the United Kingdom

and wand farms in manland China, HK Electric has been
leveraging the success in Hong Kong in ts operations
outstde Hong Konrg

New foray into mainland China

in 2009, we took a strategic step (n ganing access to

the electnaty generating business in mainland China by
acquiring 45% interests in two power plants in Guangdong
province and one In Jlin province Given Guangdong's
proximity to Hong Kong, we are well posrtioned for
greater entry into the manland market in the future

Increased shares in NGN

In the Unrted Kingdom, our investment in Northern Gas
Networks (NGN) increased from 35 (% to 41 3% 1n
November 2009 NGN 15 sharply focused on being the
most efficient network in the UK's gas industry

Stanley Power looking for acquisrtions

With operations across Canada, Stanley Power 15 locking
to expand tts current portfolio for even greater earnings

opportunrties A 50% stake in Stanley Power puts HK Electnc

1 a good position to see this matenahse

ETSA Utilitres’ proposal for 20102015
regulatory period

ETSA Utiliies, of which HK Electric holds a 27 9% interest,
has submitted a proposal for the 2010-2015 regulatory
price reset penod The Australian Energy Regulator's finat
deasion 1s due in Aprid 2010

Thailand full year operations

In Thaland, where HK Electnc holds a 25% stake in
the Ratchabun Power Company Limited, we expect

a promising future after seeing a full year operation of
the Ratchaburi Power Station Two gas-fired generation
units totalling 1, 400MW were commusstoned in 2008

Growth opportunities

Growing our earnings base from operations outside
Hong Kong remains a key strategy for HK Electnc
We expect these profit contnbutions to continue
increasing in the corming years as we keep looking
for investment opportunries outside Hong Kong and
aim to reduce reliance on our Hong Kong operation

Meeting local demand

In Hong Keng, our customers have the full assurance
that under the new Scheme of Control Agreement
effective [ st January 2009, provisions are 1n place to
encourage emissions reduction, energy efficiency,
operational performance, service quality, and the
use of renewable energy

Projects to increase the supply of electricity to the

MTR West Island Line and Sourth Island Line will begin

in 2010 Replacement and addition of transformers for
the two lines will be up for commissioning through 2016




Growing from our strengths

FOR THE ENVIRONMENT. PROVIDING GREEN POWER

HK Electnic 1s actively engaged n global efforts to deliver
cleaner, more efficient and relable electnarty Whether in
Hong Kong or outside, we do so with an acute awareness
that our customers’ needs for electricity are inseparable
from their respect for the planet we all share A number
of measures are in place to address therr concerns about
environmental challenges associated with the provision

of electricrty

Increasing the use of natural gas

MK Electric has been gradually increasing rts gas-fired
generation since 2006 with the commussioning of ts

first gas-fired unit. This now accounts for 20% of our total
electnaity sent out In 2009, and is expected to continue
rising to about 30% in 2010 when new gas supply 1s available

With our increased use of natural gas, we have significantly
reduced coal consumption for power generation

Retrofitting more FGDs

and Low NOx Burners

To help meet emission targets set by the Hong Kong SAR
Government for 2010, HK Electnc completed the

retrofitting of the 4th Flue Gas Desulphunsation (FGD)

plant and Low Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) Burner on an existing
coal-fired generating unit, LS, in Lamma Power Station in rud
2009 Two more FGD plants and one more Low NOx Burner
will be brought on line for L4 and L2 in 2010 When all these
emission reduction works are completed, the electricity
generated by Lamma Power Station 15 basically ¢lean

Developing wind farm in Hong Kong

HK Electric 1s in the planning stages for 2 proposed
100MW offshore wind farm in the Southwest Lamma
Channel The plan 1s to produce enough energy for
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about 50,000 farmilies in Hong Kong, representing 1-2%
of our total electricity output. An environmenial impact
assessment study was completed at the end of 2009, and,
subject to approval by the Government, a one-year wind
monitonng exercise will be conducted before tendering
and construction

Introducing solar energy

We are also embarking on the largest project to harness
solar energy in Hong Kong 5,500 modules using Thin Film
Photovottaic (TFPV) technology will be installed on the
roofs of the Main Station Buldings at the Lamma Power
Station This 550kW TFPV system 1s expected to generzte
773,000 kWh of electneity annually Erection work wall
begin in March 2010 and commisstoning of the project

15 scheduled for june 2010

Bulding wind farms in mainland China

In 2009, we saw the successful commissioning of our
two wind farms in Yunnan and Hebe,, totaling 37 SMW,
in partnership with the China Huaneng Group Following
these successes, we are watching for new investment
opportunrties i renewable resources

Support for electric vehicles

In December 2009, we opened the first electnc vehicle
(EV) charging station in our supply territery In support
of the Hong Kong Government's promotion of the
wider use of EVs to improve roadside air quality, we have
been working with car park operators and property
management companies to install charging infrastructure
Free charging 15 avalable to motonsts dunng the inttial
penod to familianse them with the procedures
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Financial Highlights

HK$ million 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Turnover 10,395 12,773 12524 12,181 11,622
Profit attnbutable to shareholders 6,697 8,029 7,448 6,842 8,562
Dnadends 4,503 4,503 4290 3948 4952
Fixed Assets 47,464 46,488 46,058 46,496 46,258
Shareholders' funds 52,144 47,327 48,104 44,085 41,685
HK$
Earnings per share 3.14 376 349 321 401
Dwmdends per share

Ordinary 2,11 24 201 185 159

Special - - - - 073

Profit attributable to shareholders
Turnover (HK$ million) {HK$ million)
12,773 8,562
nen 28l 2o 8.029
I I I |
05 06 o7 08 09 05 06 07 08 09
I Extraordinary Profit
Fixed assets (HK$ million) Dividends per share (HK$)
46258 46496 46058 46488 47,464 232
20 211 2.1
I 1 85
05 06 o7 08 a9 05 06 o7 08 09
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Chairman’s Statement

Resuits

The Group's audited profit for the year ended 315t
December 2009 was HK$6,697 millhon (2008 HK$8,029
million), a decrease of 17% Earmings from the Group's
Hong Kong operations were HK$4,646 milhon (2008
HK$7,008 millkion) The lower Hong Kong earmings were
prnmanly due to the lower Hongkong Electnc (HEC) rate
of permitted return and to lower cash deposit balances
and deposit interest rates Earmings from the Group’s
operations outside Hong Kong were HK$2,051 milkon
(2008 HK$1,021 milhon) The higher earmings from
operations outside Hong Kong were pnmarnily due to

the inclusion of earmings from the mainland Chma power
station projects, the increased interest in Northern Gas
Networks and higher revenue for the Australian businesses

The Group reported strong operating results from its
operations outside Hong Kong for 2009 with earmings

more than double that recorded for 2008 In Hong Kong,
the lower operating results for 2009 reflected the impact
of a full year of HEC's lower rate of permitted return under
the new Scheme of Control Agreement {(SCA) which
became effecuve st January 2009 It is pleasing to note that
the proportion of the Group's total earnings ansing from
activities outside Hong Kong increased from approximately
13% 1n 2008 to over 30% in 2009 reflecung the steady
progress in implementing the Group’s strategy of growing
its earnings base from actvities outside Hong Kong

The increased eamings from actvities outside Hong Kong
were a substantial offset to the impact of the lower earnings
from Hong Kong activities Overall the Group's earnings
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were | 7% lower in 2009 compared with those for 2008
notwithstanding the 34% drop in earmings from Hong Kong
activities in 2009

The year 2009 saw continued growth mn the Group's
operations outside Hong Kong with the acquisition of the
interests in the manland China power station projects in
April and the increase in the Group's interest in Northern
Gas Networks in November The Group now has interests
In 5,649MW of generating capacrty outside Hong Kong up
from 2,752MW at the end of 2008 In Hong Kong, 2009 was
the first year in which HEC operated under the new SCA
and | am pleased to be able to report that HEC was able to
meet the operational and environmental requirements under
the new SCA for the year The new SCA provides for a rate
of permitted return of 9 99% on average net fixed assets
with an | 1% rate of retumn on renewable energy assets

Final dvidend

The Directors will recommend a final dividend of

HK$ | 49 per share, payable on 7th May 2010 to those
persens registered as shareholders on 6th May 2010 This,
together with the interim ddend of HK$0 62 per share,
will give a total dwvidend of HK$2 || per share for the year
(2008 HK$2 1 | per share)
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Chairman’s Statement

Hong Kong operations

HEC untt sales of electnicity for 2009 were 0.5% higher
than that recorded for 2008 The higher untt sales were
primarily due to the impact of a warmer summer partally
offset by vanous energy saving intiatives The total number
of customers showed a shight increase which came from
both the domestic and commercial sectors with the
industral sector continuing its declining trend

In 2009, Lamma Power Station's gas-fired units generated
approximately 20% of the electnicrty sent out from the
power station up from 7% in 2008 with the remainder of
the electrcity sent out being generated by the Lamma
coal-fired units

While the coal-fired units at Lamma remained the main
generator of electnarty, a reduction in emission levels was
recorded in 2009 The lower emission levels were achieved
through the commissioring of an additional flue gas
desulphunsation (FGD) plant, the increased consumption
of natural gas and efficient operation and maintenance
activities The emission reducticn programme at the
Lamma Power Station progressed satisfactonly n 2009
with the FGD plant and low nitrogen oxide burner for
Unit 5 being commussioned and work on the FGD plants
for Units 4 and 2 and the low nitrogen oxde burner for
Unit 4 well underway Completion of these emission
reduction projects is scheduled for the first half of 2010
The focus of HEC over the last few years on emission
reduction at the Lamma Power Station has resulted in

a significant fali in erissions with the power station being
able to consistently meet the increasingly tighter emission
requirements set by the Government The reduction in
emisstons would not have been possible without the
required caprtal investment being made and the operational
and mantenance improvemenits achieved

The 800 kW wind turbine at Lamma operated satisfactorily
in 2009 with an increased capacity factor In early 2010,

we proposed the development of a |00MW offshore wind
farm in the south west Lamma channel An environmental
impact assessment study has been completed and made
avallable for public comment

Dunng 2009, suppty reliability was maintained at over

99 999% which surpassed HEC's pledged service standard
This world class supply reliability has the enviable record
of having been consistently maintaned over the last
decade Supporting the high reliability standards were the
improvement and maintenance works carned out on
HEC's transmission and distribution network in 2009

2009 saw continued participation in environmental and
community activities A new three-year Green Hong Kong
Green programme was estabhshed to develop new eco-
herttage tral routes on Hong Kong Island The HK Electric
Clean Energy Fund continued to promote renewable energy
through sponsorship of projects undertaken at schools and
tertiary institutions while the HK Electric Volunteers put in
more than 4,100 hours of voluntary service

In 2009, the Government released its Air Quality Cbjectives
Review Study Report which contains |19 phase one control
measures for public consultation HEC supports the
Government in rts efforts to improve air quality HEC wall

in 2010 increase the amount of electncity generated by
gas-fired units at Lamma to 30% of the electncrty sent

out from the power station This increase will be achieved
through the upgrading of existing gas-fired unrts and through
the importation of more gas

Operations outside Hong Kong

| am pleased to report that all of the Group's operations
outside Hong Kong performed satisfactonly in 2009
notwrthstanding the uncertain business environment.

In manland China, the power station interests acquired

in April 2009 performed ahead of our expectations

The interests comprise 45% interests in the coal-fired
1,400MW Zhuhai power plant and the 1,200MW Jinwan
power plant, both strategically located in Guangdong
province adjacent to Hong Kong and the 200MW Siping
cogeneration power plant in Jilin province The Zhuhai
power plant operated with high reliabiirty and efficiency in
2009 and with an excellent safety record Jinwan delivered
an outstanding performance benefiting from stable coal costs
and increased plant efficiency Both the Zhuhai and Jinwan
power plants are equipped with FGD plant to improve ther




environmental performance The Siping cogeneration power
plant as well as generating electricity provides steam for
heating in the Siping municipality FGD installation work at
the Siping cogeneration power plant (s nearing completion

The 4BMW wind project in Dali, Yunnan province and the
49 5MW wind project in Leting, Hebel province in which
we have 45% interests achieved commercial operation

In January and October 2009 respectively and are
operating satisfactonly

InThailand, the 25% owned Ratchabur Power Company
Limited which operates a |,400MW gas-fired power plant in
Ratchabun province achieved fuli commercial operation

in June 2008 and 1s perfarming satisfactonly The plant
output 1s sold to the Electncrty Generating Authority of
Thalland under a 25-year power purchase agreement and
gas 15 supplied to the power statron under a long term
supply contract

In the United Kingdom, the 41% owned Northern Gas
Networks (NGN) performed well in 2009 reporting
increased revenue NGN operates a 37,000 km gas
distmbution pipeline netwark in the north of England

In Austrahia, ETSA Utiities (ETSA) in which the group

has a 27 9% interest recorded a strong year with increased
revenue ETSA 15 the sole electnerty distmbutor in South
Australia in November 2009, the Australian Energy
Regulator issued rts draft decision in response to ETSA's
proposals for the 2010-2015 pnce reset penod A final
decision 1s due in April 2010 CHEDHA in which the

Group has a 27 9% interest reported higher distribution and
unregulated revenue in 2009 CHEDHA compnses Powercor
which operates an electricity distribution network in western
Victoria and CrsPower which distnbutes electrcrty to the
Melbourne central business distnct.

In Canada, the Group has a 50% interest in Stanley Power
Inc which holds 49 95% of TransAlta Cogen which has
interests in one coal-fired power plant and five gas-fired
power plants in Canada. Stanley Power performed
satisfactonty in 2009 with the Canadian operations
recording higher income for the year
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In New Zealand, the Group benefited from the first

full year of operations of the 50% owned Wellington
Electnarty Lines Limited, which owns and operates a
4,592 km electncrty distnbution network which supplies
electncrty to more than 160,000 customers in the arty of
Wellington and i the Porirua and Hutt Valley regions of
New Zealand The business performed well in 2009 with
higher distmbution revenue due to colder weather

Outlook

While there are signs that economic conditions in global
rmarkets have stabilised there remains uncertainty as to the
strength of any economic recovery in 2010 However, with
HEC operating in Hong Kong under the new SCA and with
the conservative nature of the Group's businesses outside
Hong Kong, the Group 1s expected to perform satisfactorily
in 2010 With its strong balance sheet and low gearing, the
Group has the capacrty to take advantage of any investment
opportuntties that may anse

In Hong Kong, the ermission reduction programme at the
Lamma Power Station which was commenced several years
ago 15 expected to be completed in 2010 and the focus will
move to reducing our relance on coal-fired generation at
the power station

The success of our investments outside Hong Kong has been
very encouraging and we are actively pursuing investment
opportunities to further increase our earnings base from
operations outside Hong Kong Going forward we expect to
see our investments outside Hong Kong becoming a much
more significant part of our overall operations

| would like to thank the board of directors and the
management and staff for thetr hard work and contrbutions
dunng the year

Fok Kin Ning, Canning
Chairman
Hong Kong, 3rd March 2010
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Group Managing Director’s Report

At HK Electric, 2009 was a year of consistency and stability.
Consistent with our past performance, the reliability of our

power supply remained at excellent levels. Coal prices, which

in the previous year experienced record volatility, stabilised in 2009.
Due to reliable gas supply and successful commissioning of the
Stage | Emission Control Project, we were able to reduce emissions
from the Lamma Power Station and out perform set targets.

While industries worldwide attempted to recover from a severe
economic downturn in 2009, HK Electric continued to venture out
and invest outside Hong Kong. Looking to neighbouring Guangdong,
our acquisition of interests in power stations gave us a strategic stake
in the electricity generating business in mainland China.

Consistency and stability remain hallmarks of our organisation.
For more than a century, we have been lighting up the streets,
homes and businesses of Hong Kong. In recent decades, we have
also taken that service outside of Hong Kong by investing in
energy companies throughout the world. Going forward, we are
doing our utmost to light the way for all of our customers in

an ever-greener marketplace.
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HoNG KONG OPERATIONS

Generation

With HK Electric’s power generation centred on Lamma
Island, the Lamma Power Station (LPS) and Lamma Winds
have a total installed capacity of 3,736MW, comprising
eight coal-fired units, five gas turbine unrts, two combined
cycle unnts and one wind turbine

Owang to the increased use of natural gas and optimal
operatons of our units, we saw our overall thermal efficiency
improve in 2009 to 36 2% while the reliability of these unnts
was the highest since 1994, with a forced outage rate far
below 1%

Through our efforts on several fronts in 2009, we were

able to meet the emission caps imposed by the HKSAR
Government A reduction in the ermission of sulphur dioxide,
nitrogen oxides, and respirable suspended particulates from
LPS meant that we outperformed emission allowances

set by the Government.

Qur improved performance was due to the successful
commissianing of the Unit 5 Flue Gas Desulphunisation

(FGD) Plant and Low Nitrogen Oxides (NOx} Burner System,
an increased consumption of natural gas, and a lower sulphur
content of the coal supply, as well as our prudent operations
and maintenance

FGD and Low NOx Burner

In July 2009, we marked the completion of the first of

a two-phase emission reduction programme at LPS with
the commussioning of an FGD plant and a Low NQx Burner
system for our coal-fired generating unit L5

Four of our coal-fired units are now equipped with FGD
plants and Low NOx Burners Retrofit works are in progress
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to install two more FGD plants and one more Low NOx
Burner; scheduled for completion in the first half of 2010

Natural gas and coal supply

Increased generation by natural gas helped us meet EPD
emission caps in 2009 in terms of units sent out, electnaty
from natural gas increased to 20% from 17% in 2008, and
it will increase further to 30% in 2010 In preparation for
this rse, additional gas was secured in August 2009

Coal-fired generation units remaned the pnmary source of
electnerty from LPS in 2009, but the quality of coal improved
due to our staff ensunng the quality control aspect of the coal
supply at the mines, loading ports, independent laboratones,
and in Hong Kong The sulphur content of the coal dropped
significantly because of coals that were sourced from Australia
and Russia

Lamma Winds

In 2009 we saw the annual generation of our 800 kW wind
turbine at Tar Ling of Lamma Island surpass one milion units
of electncrty for the first tme

Plant management

Prudent operations and mantenance of LPS have produced
exemplary safety and conservation records Since the
introduction of natural gas in 2006, the operations have
been satisfactory Moreover, teams and indwiduals fromn the
Generation Dmsion have won several local and regional
awards 1n 2009 for their safety knowledge and practice
Conservation of resources has also been a top priority
among management and staff Among other examples,

we collected 167,700 m? of wastewater and rainwater

for reuse, as well as using 20,792 MT of ash for reclamation
and land formation at cur Lamma Extension srite
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Transmission and distribution

2009 was another satisfactory year for our transmission
and distribution operations We achieved or surpassed
world-class service targets in both supply reliability and
power quality through well-planned mantenance of
equipment and careful monitoring of the operations

To cope with the steady growth in customer base,

we continue to upgrade and expand our supply network.

Outstanding reliability

In 2009, our supply reliability was over 99 999%,

a record which we have consistently mantained since
1997 and which surpassed the pledged service standard
of 99 998% Our power quality was also superor by
world-class standards

Asset management

Apart from pursuing a stingent maintenance programme

1n accordance with our PAS55-( certffied asset management
system, we Increasingly applied condition montonng
techniques to our strategic equipment such as the
transmusston swrtchgear and transformers More extensive
deployment of condition monitonng systems has been
planned in 2010 In addrbion, we will further apply the
technology to the | 1kV underground distnbution cables

to assess thewr condition We envision that with the more
intensive application of the condition monitonng technology,
we will be able to reduce further the forced outages and
improve our network performance
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Growth In customer base

Our total customer base rose from 562,717 to 563,956,
with modest growth in both the domestic and commercial
sectors in 2009 Likewise, electricity sales ncreased modestly
Overal! electricity sales were 10,921 milhon kwWh, or

an increase of 052% over 2008 Specifically, sales to the
residential sector grew by 3 26%, while sales to the industnal
sector fell by 6 69%, and sales to the commercial sector
rose just shghtly by 0 03% over last year

Investment In our supply network
Dunng 2009, 33 distnbution substations were commuissioned,

increasing the total number of substations in the terntory to
3,667 In additon, 145 9 km of distrbution cable was laid

Among our major projects completed were additional
transmission circutts for the Lamma Power Station
(Cyberport — Marsh Road 275kV Circuit No | &
re-configuration of Tin Wan — Kennedy Road 275kV cireurt
No 1}, the Central Zone Substation | 1kV Bus Section
Improvement, the Lamma Extension 275kV Shunt Reactor
No 2, and the Wang Chuk Hang 132kV Cable Diversion

Serving the needs of commuters, we will expand our supply
for the MTR West Island Line by commusstoning one new
132/33kV 50MVA gas transformer to be installed at the
MTR Admiralty Infeed Substation in 2013 For the new
supply to the MTR South Island Line, two 132/33kV 30MVA
gas transformers will be installed at Heung Yip Road Zone
Substation and are set for commussioning in 2013




Group Managing Director's Report

Customer service

HK Electnic’s continual focus on customer service has
brought about impressive results In 2009, all of our pledged
customer service standards were either achieved or
surpassed The number of commendations from customers
reached a record high of 1,463, reflecting a high level of
customer satisfaction with our services

New technology

In April 2009, we successfully launched the HK Electnc
Customer Information Systern (HECIS), a robust and
integrated [T system that not only manages all electnerty
account services more effactively, but also supports efficient
delivery of customer serwvices across multiple channels for
hugher customer satisfaction The new customer information
system operated smoaothly and all pledged service standards
were maintained during and after the migration

Instaling smart meters

We at HK Electric are pressing forward to upgrade old
nfrastructures to be more intelkgent and efficent To help
the business sector to dewise load management programmes
for hugher energy efficiency, HK Electric will progressively
install smart meters for commercial custormers to provide
them with more detalled consumption data

Emergency service

Should an emergency related to electrictty anise, customers
of HK Electric get immediate attention In 2009, the average
warting tirme for telephone calls to our Customer Emergency
Services Centre was | 84 seconds, whereas the average
armval time to the scene of the problem in urban areas

N response to emergency calls was 20 minutes, both of
which were better than our pledged serwvice standards of

9 seconds and 28 minutes respectively
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Customer relations

Through the Customer Liason Group, we maintain
close and regular relations with our customers. At the
annual meeting in January 2009, we updated members
on the latest developments of the Company, while a wvisit
to Marsh Road Station Bulding in Septerber 2009
Introduced them to the green measures adopted there

Pamphlets for local customers of minonty languages,
including Indonesian, Tagalog, and Urdu, were produced

in 2009 to offer information about our electricity account
services and advice on the efficient use of electnaty within
therr communities

Gur relationship with customers was recogrused again in
2009 for the fourth consecutive year HK Electne won the
Public Service of the Year award in the corporate category
and five awards in the indwidual category of the Customer
Relationship Excellence Awards that were organised by
the Asia Pacific Custorner Service Consortium
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Environment

HK Electric actwely participates in measures that show
respect for the earth by efficent energy use and promoting
clean technology

Energy efficiency

Supporting efforts by green groups, HK Electric switched
off external and decorative lighting at our bulldings dunng
‘Earth Hour 2009 and ‘Dim tt 6 21" in March and June
2009 respectively

We took addtional steps inside our office buldings and
implemented various energy efficiency and housekeeping
measures In doing so, we achieved very good energy
efficiency results at our vanous office bulldings, n excess of
the 2 5% reduction targets We also continued to recycle
used paper in our offices, collecting a total of 35,250kg

In line with the prowvisions under the Scheme of Controt
Agreement, 63 energy audits were completed for
commercial customers and non government organisations
in 2009 As well, an Energy Efficiency Loan Scheme was
launched in collaboration with banks to help eligible
customers implement energy efficency intiatives

Promoting the use of electric vehicles

To support the Government's drive to promote the use of
electnic vehides (EV), HK Electnc converted a hybnd car to
a plug-in hybnd electnc vehicle in May 2009, making it the
first of its kind on the streets of the terntory

We also collaborated with commeraal and government
car park operators to launch an EV charging infrastructure
pilot programme The first EV charging station opened for
motorists at the Peak in December 2009 and four more
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will be completed in stages by mid February 2010 In the
inmal period, free service was available to allow motorists to
become familiar with the charging procedures

Improving air qualtty

and combating global chmate change

HK Electric remains committed to combating climate change
In 2005, we carred out a carbon audit for HK Electric Centre
and the Electnc Tower with recommendations to reduce our
carbon footpnnt A carbon calculator on our website assists
customers in calculating therr carbon footpnnt And, continuing
parucipation in the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP),

we reported the annual greenhouse gas emissions, the
mitigation efforts, and the response to CDP's questionnaire
which are now accessible to the public via COP's website

On improving Hong Kong's air quality, we have made a
subrmussion to the Government in response to rts Air Quality
Objective Review consultation exercise and will work closely
and actively wath it to achieve future targets

Awards

In 2009, we recewved several environmental awards such

as the Class of Excellence IAQwi%e Label for HK Electric
Centre under the 2009 Hong Kong Award for Environmental
Excellence Scheme organised by the HKSAR Government.
We also took Outstanding Green Corporation Award

and Outstanding Green Performance Award organised by
CAPITAL Magazine and the Prime Award for Eco-Business
2009 organised by Prime Magazine
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Caring for our employees

HK Electnc regards ernployees as our most valuable assets
and invests a lot in training and employee wellness We also
stnve to excel in health and safety performance and achieve
acadent-free operations

Employee training

in 2009, we made a continuous effort to provide traning
for our staff A total of 70,190 training hours for our 2,000
employees were recorded for in-house and external traning
acuvrtres This represented an average of 35 hours of training
per employee

Employee weliness

With the introduction of our Employee Wellness Programme
in 2008 with focus on physical, emotional, intellectual and
social wellness, we continued to organise numerous activities
and events for employees and their famibes, including
eco-tours, outings, fitness courses, family day and an annual
spring dinner which were very popular, with an encouraging
Increase in participation rates

Workplace hygiene

In response to the outbreak of Human Swine Influenza
(HINI), we implemented additional health, cleaning and
hygiene measures Several major measures were taken to
reduce the effect of HINI in our workplace Included in
these measures were the hourly disinfection of the lift panels
and buttons, notices and posters to remind employees
about preventative personal hygiene, and body temperature
checking at LPS and all office buildings. As well, spiit office
arrangement was implemented for the essential operations
and cantingency plans were put in place for all departments

Hongkong Electnc Holdngs Limed Aanual Report 2009 °

Growing our talent base

To sustain our business growth and succession planning,

26 trainees were recrurted in 2009 An onentation
programme was arranged to enable them to quickly become
famibar with the Group Of the trainees recrutted in earler
years, 2} successfully completed their twofthree-year traning
programmes with a graduation camp in September to
consolidate and reflect on their leaming

in 2009, we piloted a vocational training scheme to
encourage secondary school graduates to consider
engineenng as their future profession and HK Electnc as
their preferred employer Seven candidates were chosen
to participate i a one-month traming programme from
{uty to August.

Awards

For the seventh consecutive year, HK Electnc was awarded
the Canng Company logo, and in May 2009 we won the
Silver Award and the 7thTop Fund-raiser Award, Employee
Contribution Programme

In addition, our health and safety efforts were recognised
with several awards We won the Gold Award in the
"Safety Management System Award — Others” category In
the 2009 Hong Kong Occupational Safety & Health Award
As well, we were the Cup and Plate Champions and Cup
2nd Runner-up in the 2009 Occupational Safety & Health
Quiz jointly organised by the Occupational Safety & Health
Counail and Labour Department.
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Community activities

At HK Electric, giving back to the community has always
been a meaningful part of our corporate cufture In 2009,
61 voluntary services were organised and over 4,100 hours
donated by the HK Electrnic Volunteers Team The total
membership in the volunteer team now accounts for
about 45% of our entire workforce

Smart power use

A record 30,000 people joined various activities under
the Smart Power Campagn 2009 that was launched in
early March to encourage the public to embrace energy
saving as a shared value and to conserve energy in their
daily lives Activities organised included a promo design
competrtion, roving exhibrtions at MTR stations, radio
praogrammes, and open days at the LPS

Green Hong Kong Green

A new three-year programme was launched jointly with

the Conservancy Association In September 2009 to develop
new eco-hentage routes on Hong Kong Island k was kicked off
with a competition inviting the public to name therr “favourite
eco-herrtage hotspots” in Lung Fu Shan, Aberdeen and Tai Tam
Country Parks About 400 submissions were recerved and
winning entries may be ncluded in the new eco routes

Education Fund

In 2009, a HK32 5 million Education Fund was set up to
support energy-efficiency-related education and promotional
activiies External stakeholders sit on the Fund's Advisory
committee and offer their views and suggestions

The HK Electnic Clean Energy Fund receved a record
51 applications for funding in 2009 Of those applications
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we chose |2, including one that harnesses solar energy to
power an organic farm of Chinese herbs, and awarded them
more than HK$1 milhon To encourage participation from
schools, an expenence sharing session was conducted

and attended by approximately 80 school representatives
As in the past, | 70 scholarships were provided to secondary
schoo! students under the HK Electric Centenary Trust

Caring for senior citizens

We launched a new community programme to encourage
the elderly to take inttiatve 1n seeking help when needed
and to bring them closer to the community, featuring
distnct-based carmivals and monthly home wisits by

our volunteers

In March 2009, we celebrated with twelve retired persons

as they were named "Qutstanding Third Age Citizens”

in an award presentation organised by HK Electnc and the
Hong Kong Counail of Sacal Service to recognise retirees
wrth outstanding performance in lifelong learning and
community service This was a continuation of the U3A
project which has now expanded to include 25 social service
agencies The programme has recently won the Asia-Pacific
Supenor Achievement in Branding and Reputation Award

in the corporate social responsibility category

Knowing your power station

QCur monthly wisit programme inviting HK Electric
shareholders to visrt LPS has been very well received
Hundreds of shareholders and friends had the opportunity

to see first hand how elecinarity is generated at LPS in 2009
In addrtion, a total of 56 other wisits to LPS, Larnrna Winds and
Marsh Road Station were organised for vanous stakeholder
groups throughout the vear
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QPerATIONS OUTSIDE HONG KONG

In 2009 we expanded and grew our operations outside
Hong Kong yielding a total of more than HK$6 billion
i new investments As a result, the profits from these
businesses Increased substantially to over 30% of the
total group profits for 2009

China

With our acquisition of Qutram in April 2009, we took our
first significant step towards a strategic stake in the electnerty
generation business in mainland China. Converniently located
in Guangdong province and adjacent to Hong Kong, the

core assets of Qutram compnse 45% equrty interests

in the 1,400MW Zhuhar Power Plant and the |,200MW
Jnwan Power Plant in Zhuhay, as well as the 200MW

Siping Cogeneration Power Plant located in Jdin province

United Kingdom

In 2009, we increased our stake by 62% in Northern

Gas Networks Holdings Limited (NGN), which owns the
regulated gas distnbution network serving a population

of 67 million people from the Scotush borders to South
Yorkshire Qur total interest in the company stands at 41 3%

Thailand

From our Thailand Independent Power Producer project,
Ratchabur Power Company Limited, i which we hold a 25%
stake, we recemved a full-year's earmings in 2009 Altthough the
project only achieved full commercial operation in June 2008,
the efficiency in 2009 by the two 700MW combined cycle
blocks exceeded our expectations

Australa

ETSA Utiies (ETSA) in South Australia, in which we have
a 27 9% siake, exceeded all key financial targets in 2009
Desptte the nsks inherent in the economic downturn,
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ETSA's regulated and unregulated businesses effectively
weathered an uncertain environment, and by the year's end
expenenced a much more stable operating environment.

With regard to Powercor and CtiPower in Victona,
in which we also have a 27 9% stake, an extensive
Smnart Meter Programme is being rolled out.

Canada

Our 50% interest In Stanley Power Inc provided solid and
stable returns i 2009 despite the challenges of lower energy
prices resulting from the economic downturn The year was
highlrghted by equipment upgrades in three of the power
generation stations in which Stanley Power holds an interest.
The upgrades resufted 1n annual reductions of 5% in fuel
consumption, 46,000 tonnes In greenhouse gas emissions,
and an mcrease of 18% in generating capacrty

New Zealand

Wellington Electricity, in which we hold a 50% stake, 1s the
sole electncity hines operator for New Zealand's Caprtal

City and surrounding region with a base of approximately
162,000 customers Wellington Electricity achieved modest
growth in revenue and met its financial and operating targets
for 2009, notwithstanding the adverse economic climate

Renewable energy

Qur keen interest in developing clean and renewable energy
is reflected n our two wind projects in mamnland China. In
partnership with China Huaneng Group, a 48MW wind farm
in Dali,Yunnan, and a 49 5MW wind farm in Letng, Hebae,,
achieved commercial operation 1n January and October
2009 respectvely
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The Board of Directors

FOK Kin Ning, Canning

Chairman

Aged 58 Appointed to the Board in 1985 and becarme Charman in

2005 He 15 also Chasman of The Hongkong Electrc Comparny, Limited
{"HEC"), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company Mr Fok 1s the

Group Managing Director of Hutchison Whampoa Limited (' Hutchison™)
the Deputy Chairman of Chaung Keng Infrastructure Holdings Limited

( CKI'"} a Non-executve Director of Cheung Kong (Holdingsy Limited
("Cheung Kong""} and a Director of Hutchison International Limrted
("HIL™), all beang substantial shareholders of the Company within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securtties and Futures Ordinance ("SFO )

He 15 also the Chairman of Hutchison Harbour Ring Limned, Hutchison
Telecommurucations International Limited, Hutchison Telecommunications
(Austraha) Limited and Hutchison Telecommunications Hong Kong Holdings
Lmited and the Co-Chairman of Husky Energy In¢ In addition, Mr Fok
was previously the Chairman of Partner Communications Company Ltd
(resigned on 28th October 2009) All the companies mentioned above,
except HEC and HIL, are listed comparies. Mr Fok holds a Bachelor of Arts
degree and a Diploma in Ffinanaal Management, and 15 2 member of the
Austrakzn Institute of Chartered Accountants

TSO Kai Sum

Group Managing Director

Aged 78 Appointed to the Board in 1985 and bacame Group Managing
Director m 1997 MrTso s also Managing Director of HEC and a Director
of most of the subsidiarias of the Company Mr Tso worked with the
Hongkong Electnc Group from 1946 to 1981, hoiding the positions of
Chief Project Engineer of HEC and Executve Director of Associated
Technical Services Limited In 1981, he joined Intermational City Holdings
Limited as an Executive Director in 1987, he joined the Hutchison
Whampoa Group as the Group Managing Director of Hutchison Whampoa
Properties. In 1997, he re-joined the Hongkong Electric Group as Group
Managng Ehrector He 15 also an Executive Director of CKl, a hsted compary
and a substantial shareholder of the Company Mr Tso holds a Bachelor of
Science degree in Chal Engineenng

CHOW WO O Mo Fong, Susan

Aged 56 Appointed to the Board in 1996 and re-designated from a
Non-executive Director to an Executive Director in May 2006 Mrs. Chow
1s Alternate Director to Mr Fok ¥0n Ning, Canning, the Chairman and

Mr Frank John Sixt, an Bascutve Director She 1s also a Director of HEC
and Hongkong Electric Fund Management Limited, both wholly ewned
subsidianes of the Company Mrs. Chow 1s the Deputy Group Managing
Director of Hutchison, an Becutive Director of CKI, a Director of Interman
Development Inc, Montor Equitres S.A, Univest Equity SA. Vennton
Development Inc HIL and Hutchuson Infrastructure Holdings Limited,

all being substantial shareholders of the Comparny within the mearung of
Part XV of the SFO Hutchison and CKI are listed comparues. Mrs. Chow is
an Executve Director of Hutchison Harbour Ring Dimited, a Non-executve
Director of Hutchison Telecommumications International Limited, Hutchison
Telecommunications Hong Kong Holdings bimited and TOM Group Limited,
and a Director of Hutchison Telecommurecations (Austraha) Lirmited, all
beng listed comnpanies. She is also an Altemnate Director of TOM Online
Inc 2 previously Iisted company In addition, Mrs. Chow was previously

a Director of Partner Commurucations Company Ltd. (resigned on 268th
October 2009) Mrs. Chow is a solicitor of the High Court of the Hong
Kong Specal Administrative Region and the Supreme Court of England

and Wales. She holds a Bachelor's degree in Business Admimistration

Andrew John HUNTER

Aged 51 Appointed to the Board in 1999, pror to which he was
Finance Director of the Hutchison Property Group. Mr Hunter was
Group Finance Director from 1999 to January 2006. He 1s also a
Director of HEC Mr Hunter 1s currently the Chief Financial Officer of
Cheung Kong and an Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer of
CXl, both substantial shareholders of the Company within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO, He 15 also a Non-executive Director of Spark
Infrastructure Group. All the comparies mentioned above, except HEC,
are histed companes. Mr Hunter holds a Master of Arts degree and a
Master's degree in Business Admunistration and s a member of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants of Scotland and of the Hong Kong Institute
of Cerufied Public Accountants He has over 27 years of experence n
accounting and financial management.

KAM Hing Lam

Aged 63 Appointed to the Board in 1993 Mr Kam 15 also a Director of
HEC He 15 Presdent and Chief Executive Officer of CK Life Saiences Intll,
{Holdings) Inc { CK Life ") the Deputy Managing Director of Cheung Kong,
an Executive Director of Hutchison, the Group Managing Dhrector of CKI
and a Non-executve Director of Spark Infrastructure Group All the
companies mentioned above, except HEC, are hsted compantes Mr Kam
acts as a Director of the substantial shareholders of the Company within
the mearung of Part XV of the $FO, namely Cheung Kong, Hutchison,

CKl, Hyford Limited, Interman Development inc, Mondor Equities S.A,
Unnvest Equity 5A. Venruton Development inc and HIL Mr Kam s a
member of the | |th Beyng Commttee of the Chinese People s Political
Consultative Conference of the People’s Republic of China, He holds a
Bachelor of Saence degree in Engineenng and a Master's degree in Business
Adrmimistration. Mr Kam s an uncle of MrLiTzar Kuol Victor; an Executve
Director of the Company

Li Tzar Kuoi, Victor

Aged 45 Appointed to the Board 1n 1994 Mr Li 15 also a Director of HEC
He 1s the Chairman of CKi and CK Life, the Managing Director and Deputy
Charman of Cheung Kong, Deputy Chairman of Hutdson, Co-Chairman
of Husky Energy Inc and a Director of The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited {"HSBC") All the comparues mentioned above, extept
HEC and HSBC, are listed companies. Mr L serves as a member of the
Standing Committee of the | Ith National Committee of the Chinese
People’s Poltical Consuttative Conference of the Pecple’s Republic of China.
He 15 also a member of the Commussion on Strategic Developrnent, the
Greater Pearl River Detta Business Counal and the Counail for Sustanable
Development of the Hong Kong Speaal Administrative Region, and Vice
Charrman of Hong Kong General Charmber of Commerce Mr Liis also the
Honorary Consul of Barbados in Hong Kong ™Mr L acts as a Director of the
substantial shareholders of the Company within the mearung of Part XV of
the SFO, namely Cheung Kong, Hutctuson, CKl Hyford Limited and HIL He
holds a Bachelor of Saence degree in Civl Engineenng, a Master of Saience
degree in Structural Engineening and an honorary degree Doctor of Laws,
honons causa (LLD.) Mr U i a nephew of Mr Kam Hing Lam, an Executve
Director of the Company.

Neil Douglas MCGEE

Group Anance Directar

Aged 58 Appairted to the Board i 2005 and became Group Finance
Director in 2006 Mr McGee s also a Director of all the subsidianes of the
Company induding HEC Mr McGee worked with the Hongkong Electne
Group and the Hutthison Whampoa Group from 1978 holding legal,
corporate finance and corporate secretanal pastions. He then joined Husky
Onl Led. in 1998 asVice President and Chief Finanaal Officer and from 2000




to October 2005, he served as Vice President and Chiel Finanaal Officer of
Husky Energy inc Mr McGee holds a Bachelor of Arts degree and
a Bachelor of Laws degree

Frank John SIXT

Aged 58 Appointed to the Board in 1998 Mr Sixt s also a Director of HEC
and certain subsidanes of the Company He s Group Finance Director of
Hutchison, the Non-executive Chairman of TOM Group Limnted and an
Executrve Director of CKlL He is also a Nonexecutve Director of Cheung
Kong, Hutchison Telecommunications International Limnited and Hutchison
Telecommunications Hong Kong Holdings Lirmited and a Director of
Hutchison Telecommunications (Austrakia) Lirmited and Husky Energy Inc
All the comparntes mentioned above, excapt HEC, are listed companies.

Mr Sixt acts as a Director of the substantial shareholders of the Company
within the mearung of Part XV of the SFO, namely Cheung Kong, Hutchison,
CK) L Ka-Shing Uity Trustcorp Limited, L Ka-Shing Uity Trustee Company
Limited, L Ka-Shing Unrty Trustee Corporation Limited HIL and Hutchison
Infrastructure Holdings Limted Mr Soct 15 also the Nom-executve Chairman
of TOM Criine Inc. 2 previously bisted company In addition Mr Sixt was
previously a Dwector of Partner Communications Company Ltd (resigned
on 28th October 2009) Mr St holds a Master's degree in Arts and

a Bachelor's degree in Civil Law, and 15 a member of the Bar and of the

Law Soctety of the Provinces of Quebec and Ontano, Canada

WAN Chia Ten

Durector of Engmeering (Planning & Development)

Aged 59 Appointed to the Board in 2005 MrwWan s also a Director of
HEC and certamn subsichanes of the Compary He has worked for the
Hongkong Electnc Group since 978 holding vanous positons Between
Septernber 2000 and June 2003 he served as Chiel Executive Officer of
Powercor Australia Limted and CruPower Pty, associate companies of
the Group in Australia He returmed to Hong Kong in July 2003 talang up
the role of General Manager {Corporate Development) Mrwan holds a
Bachelor of Science degree i Electncal Engineenng and is also a Chartered
Engineer He 15 an Honorary Fellow of the Energy instrtute, a Fellow of the
Instrtuon of Engineenng and Technology and a Fellow of the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers.

YUEN Sui See

Director of Operations

Aged 59 Appointed to the Board i 2008 MrYuen is also a Director
of HEC and certan subsidianes of the Company MrYuen joined the
Hongkong Electnc Group i 1986 and pror to his appointment as an
Executive Director, was General Manager {Transmission & Distnbution)
MrYuen has over 30 years of expenence in the electncrty industry

He holds a Bachelor of Scrence degree and a Master of Saence degree
in Engineening. He 1s a Chartered Engineer in the Urited Kingdom

a Repistered Professional Engineer in Hong Kong and a Fellow of the
Hong Kong Insttution of Engineers.

CHAN Lot Shun

{Altermnate Director)

Aged 47 Appointed Alternate Director to Mr Kam Hing Lam, an

Executive Drrector, in 2008 He s Chef Financal Officer of CKJ,

a substantial shareholder of the Company, a Director of Ervestra Limited
and an Alternate Dwrector of Spark Infrastructure Group, all being hsted
companies. Mr Chan 1s a Fellow of the Hong Kong Instrtute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certfied Accountants.

Executive
Director
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Ronald Joseph ARCULL!

Aged 71 Appoirted to the Board in {997 Mr Arculliis also a Director of
HEC He 15 a practising sohcrtor and a non-offiaal member of the Executve
Councll of the Government of the Hong Kong Special Adrninistrative
Region. Mr Arcuth also serves on the cammittees of vanous Government
and public service bodies Mr Arcullt 1s the independent Non-executive
Charman of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearng Limited, an Independent
Non-executive Director of Hang Lung Properties Limited and SCMP
Group Limited and a Non-executve Director of HKR International Limited,
Hutchison Harbour Reng Limited Sino Hotels {Holdings) Limited Sine Land
Company Limited and Tsirn ShaTen Properties Limited, all being hsted
companies, He has served on the Legislative Council from 988 to 2000
He was an independent Non-executrve Director of Shanghai Century
Acquisition Corporation from 2005 to 2008

LEE Lan Yee, Francis

Aged 69 Appomted to the Board in 1997 and re-designated from

an Executrve Director to a Non-executive Director in August 2008

Mr Lee 15 also a Director of HEC He has served the Group for over

40 years in vanous capacities ané while being Director & General
Manager (Engineenng) from 1957 10 2008, Mr Lee was responsible for
all the engineenng actrvities of the Group induding the development and
operation of power generation, transrission and distnbution systems.
He holds a Bachelor of Saience degree and a Master of Saence degree n
Engineenng. He 15 a Chartered Engneer and a Fellow of the Institute of
Mecharcal Engineers in Hong Kong and the United Kingdorn.

George Colin MAGNUS

Aged 74 Appointed to the Board in 1985 Mr Magnus s also a Director
of HEC He was Chawman from 1993 to October 2005 Mr Magnus 15

a Non-executive Director of Cheung Kong, Hutchison and CKI having
served earber as Deputy Chairman of each of these companies, all being
sted companies and substantial shareholders of the Company within the
meaning of Part XY of the SFO He holds 2 Master's degree in Economs.

Holger KLUGE

Aged 68 Appointed to the Board n 1999 Mr Kluge s also a Director

of HEC He was formerty President of Personal and Commeraal Bank,
CIBC, one of the largest financal services institubons in North Amenca,
He is an Independent Non-executive Director of Hutchison, a substantsal
shareholder of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO
and a Director of Shoppers Drug Mart, both being listed comparues He
was previously a Director of Husky Energy Inc. (ceased to hold office on
21t April 2009) He holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree and a Master’s
degree in Business Admirustration.

Ralph Raymond SHEA
Aged 76 Appointed to the Boardn 1985 Mr Shea s also a Director of
HEC He s 2 solictor of the Supreme Court of England and of Hong Kong

WONG Chung Hin

Aged 76 Appointed to the Board in 1985 MrWong is ako a Director of
HEC He 15 a solicitor He 15 an Independent Non-executve Director of
Hutchison, a listed company and a substantial shareholder of the Company
within the meanung of Part XV of the SFO.He 15 alse an Independent
Non-exacutive Director of The Bank of East Asia, Lirited, a histed company

Non-executive Independent Non-executive
Director Director
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Senior Management

T5O Kaj Sum

Group Managing Director

Aged 78 Appointed to the Board in {985 and became Group Managing
Director n 1997 MrTso 15 also Managing Director of The Hongkong
Eiectnc Company, Limited * HEC") and a Director of most of the
subsidianes of the Company Mr Tso worked with the Hongkong Electric
Group from 1966 to 1981, holding the postions of Chief Project Engineer
of HEC and Executve Director of Assoated Technical Services Limited
in 1981, he joined Imternational City Holdings Limited as an Executive
Director In 1987, he joned the Hutchison Whampoa Group as the
Group Managing Director of Hutchison Whampoa Propertres. In 1997,
he re-joined the Hongkong Electnic Group as Group Managing Director
He 15 also an Exacutve Director of Cheung Kong Infrastructure Holdings
Liminted, a hsted company and a substantial shareholder of the Company
MrTso holds a Bachelor of Saence degree in Chnl Engineening,

WAN ChiTin

Burector of Engineenng (Planming & Development)

Aged 59 Appomnted to the Board w 2005 MrWan s also a Director of
HMEC and certan subsidianes of the Cornpary He has worked for the
Henglkong Electne Group since 1978 holding vanous positions. Between
September 2000 and June 2003 he served as Chief Executive Officer of
Powercor Australia Limrted and CruPower Pty, associate companies of the
Group in Australia He returned to Hong Kong in july 2003 taking up the
role of General Manager {Corporate Development) MrWan holds

a Bachelor of Scence degree in Blectnical Engineenng and is also a
Chartered Engineer He 15 an Honorary Fellow of the Energy Institute,

a Fellow of the Institution of Engineenng and Technology and a Fellow

of the Hong Kong Institutran of Engineers.

Neil Douglas MCGEE

Group Finance Drrector

Aged 58 Appointed to the Board in 2005 and became Group Finance
Director in 2006, Mr McGee 1s alse a Director of all the subsidianes of the
Company including HEC Mr McGee worked with the Hongkong Electnc
Group and the Hutchison Whampoa Group from 1978 holding legal,
corporate finance and corporate secretanal postions, He then joined
Husky Ol td 1n 1998 asVice President and Chief Finanaal Officer and
from 2000 to October 2005, he served asVice President and Chief Financial
Officer of Husky Energy inc. Mr McGee holds a Bachelor of Arts degree
and a Bachelor of Laws degree

YUEN Sui See

Director of Operctions

Aged 59 Appointed to the Board in 2008 MrYuen s 2lso a Director
of HEC and certain subsidianes of the Company MrYuen jomed the
Hongkong Electnc Group in [986 and pror to his appointment as an
Executrve Director, was General Manager (Transriussion & Distnbution)
MrYuen has over 30 years of expenence in the electnaty industry

He holds a Bachelor of Science degree and a Master of Science degree in
Engineenng He 15 3 Chartered Engineer in the United Kingdom

a Registered Prufesstonal Engineer in Hong Kong and a Fellow of the
Hong Kong Institution of Engineers

CHAN LairYee, Trini

Aged 55, General Manager (Human Resources), has been with the Group
since December 2005 Ms. Chan has over 15 years of expenence in human
resources management and administration She holds a Bachelor's degree
in Palitics and Education




CHENG ChoYing, Francis

Aged 53, General Manager (Generation), has been wath the Group since
August 1979 Prior to hus promotion to the present position, Mr Cheng has
worked in the Technical Senvices, Operations and Maintenance Departrments
of the Generation Dmsion He holds a Bachelor's degree in Chermustry and s
a Fellow of the Royal Society of Chemustry in the United Kingdom He 1s also
a member of the Hong Kong Insttution of Engineers

CHU Wing Kmn

Aged 59, General Manager (Group Commercal) has been wath the
Group since July 1974 Dr Chu s a Chartered Enpineer and a Fellow of
the Hong Kong Insttution of Engineers and Institution of Engineening and
Technology in the United Kingdom He 15 also a Fellow of the Institution
of Engineers in Australia and holds a Master's and a Doctoral degree n
Business Administration

IP Pak Nin

Aged 58, General Manager (Transmission & Drstribution), has been with the
Group since Apnl 1976 Mr Ip has over 30 years of expenence in efectnerty
supply He holds a Bachelor of Science degree 1n Bectncal Engineenng and 2
Master's degree in Business Administration. He 15 a Chartered Engineer and
a Fellow of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers

LAU Fuk Hoi, Frank

Aged 37, General Manager (Projects), has been with the Group since
August 1977 Mr Lau 15 also General Manager of Associated Techrucal
Services Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company He has over
30 years of expenence in project management. He also particpated n the
Group's power plant development projects outside Hong Kong in recent
years. He holds a Bachelor's degree in Engineenng He 15 a Chartered
Engineer and 3 member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers and the
Institution of Mechanical Engineers in the United Kingdom,

p—
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TSAI Chao Chung, Charles

Aged 53, Director and General Mznager of Hongkong Electne International
Lirmited ("HEI"), a wholly ownad subsidiary of the Company Mr Tsa ts also

a Director or Alternate Direclor of most of the subsidiares of HEl He has
been with the Group since June 1987 and has been responsible for the
Group's imvestments outside Hong Kong since 1997 He holds a Bachelor

of Applied Saence Degree in Mechanical Engineering, and 1s a Registered
Professional Engineer and a Chartered Engineer He s also a member of tha
Hong Kong Institution of Engineers and the Institution of Mechanical Engineers
inthe Urited Kingdom

WONG LeeWah, Lillian

Aged 55 Company Secretary, has been with the Group since une 1997

Ms Wong has over 20 years of expenence in company secretamal practice
She 15 a Fellow of the Instrtute of Chartered Secretanes and Adminustrators

in the United Kingdom and The Hong Kong institute of Chartered Secretanes.

YEE Tak Chow

Aged 55, General Manager (Corporate Development), has been with

the Group since August 1976. MrYee had worked an a number of energy
infrastructure projects both in and outside Hong Kong, including stationng in
Saudi Arabta and Japan for three years Between 2005 and 2008, he worked
for the Group s energy investments cutside Hong Kong. He holds a Master's
degree in Information Technology He 1s a Chartered Engineer and Registered
Professional Engineer, and a2 member of The Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers, The instittion of Enginesrs in Austraha, and The Institution of
Engineenng and Technology in the United Kingdom.

YEUNG Yuk Chun, Mimt

Aged 46, Ganeral Manager (Public Affairs) has been with the Group since
July 2003 Ms Yeung has over 25 years of expenence in journalism and
corporate communications, She holds a Bachelor of Arts degree and

a Master’s degree in Public Admunistratron
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Corporate governance practices

The Company 1s committed to maintaning high standards
of corporate governance The Company recogrises that
sound and effectve corporate governance practices are
fundamental to the smooth, effective and transparent
operation of a company and rts abdity to attract
investment, protect the nghts of shareholders and
stakeholders, and enhance shareholder value

The Company has complied with the applicable code
provisions in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
("Code™} set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securtties on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Listing Rules™) throughout the year ended
315t December 2009




Board of Directors

The Board, led by the Chairman, is responsible for the
approval and monrtoring of Group-wide strategies and
pelicies, approval of annual budgets and business plans,
evaluating the performance of the Group, and oversight of
management Management i1s responsible for the day-to-day
operations of the Group under the leadership of the
Group Managing Director

As at 31 st December 2009, the Board compnised of the
following Dhrectors

Executive Directors
Mr Fok Kin Ning, Canning
(Chairman)
MrTso Kai Sum
(Group Managing Director)
Mrs Chow Woo Mo Fong, Susan
Mr Andrew John Hunter
Mr Kam Hing Lam & ®
Mr Ui Tzar Kuo, Victor @
Mr Neill Douglas McGee
{Group Finance Director}
Mr Frank John Sixt
Mrwan ChiTin
{Dwrector of Engineering (Planning & Development))
MrYuen Sur See
{Director of Operations)

Non-executive Directors
Mr Ronald Joseph Arcull

Mr Lee LanYee, Francis

Mr George Coln Magnus

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr Holger Kluge

Mr Ralph Raymond Shea

Mrwong Chung Hin

Ahlternate Director
Mr Chan Lo Shun @

Notes.

" Mrs. Chow Woo Mo Fong, Susan 1s also Alternate Director to
Mr Fok Kin Ning, Canning and Mr Frank john St

@ Mr Kam Hing Lam 1s an unde of Mr Li Tzar Xuow Victor
3) Mr Chan Lo Shun s Alternate Director to Mr Kam Hing Lam.
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Biographical information of the Directors are set out in
"The Board of Directors” section on pages 26 to 27 of
the Annual Report. An updated list of Directors containing
biographical information and identifying the Independent
Non-executive Directors s maintained on the website of
the Company

The Board meets at least four times a year Addittonal
board meetings will be held when warranted Regular
meetings of a year are scheduled during the last quarter

of the preceding year prowding Directors with adequate
ume to plan their schedules to attend The Directors may
attend meetings in person, by telephone or other electronic
means or by their alternate directors in accordance wath
the Company's articles of association Throughout the

year, Directors also participate in the consideration and
approval of matters of the Company by way of written
resolutions circulated to Directors together with supporting
explanatory write-up, coupled with briefings from the
Group Managing Director, the Group Finance Director or
the Company Secretary as required Directors are

required to declare therr interests, if any, in the matters

to be considered by them duning board meetings and

in the circular resolutions

Durectors at all times have full access to information

on the Group They have independent access to

senior management for information on the Group and
unrestricted access to the services of the Company
Secretary The Company Secretary advises the Board on
governance matters and Board procedures There 15 a
procedure for Directors to seek independent professional
adwvice whenever deemed necessary by them at the
Company's expense

Directors receive at least 14 days pnor wrrtten notice of
a regular meeting and may propose matters for discussion
to be included in the agenda. An agenda with supporting
board papers is sent to Directors no less than three days
prior to a regular meeting The Company Secretary assists
the Chairman in seeing that Directors receive adequate
information on each matter set out in the agenda and acts
as co-ordinator for management i providing clanfication
sought by Directors
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The Board held four meetings during the 2009 financal year The record of attendance of each Thrector 1s as follows

Number of meetings

Name of Director attended
Executive Directors Mr Fok Kin Ning, Canning (Chairman) 4
MrTso Kar Sum (Group Managing Director} 3
Mrs. Chow Woo Mo Fong, Susan 3
Mr Andrew John Hunter 4
Mr Kam Hing Lam 4
Mr LiTzar Kuo,Victor 4
Mr Neil Douglas McGee 4
Mr Frank John Smxt 4
Mrwan Chi Tin 4
MrYuen Sut See 4
Non-executive Directors Mr Ronald Joseph Arcull 2
Mr Lee Lan Yee, Francis 4
Mr George Coln Magnus 4
Independent Non-executive Directars Mr Holger Kluge 3
Mr Ralph Raymond Shea 4
MrwWong Chung Hin 4

The minutes of board meetings are prepared by the
Company Secretary with details of the decisions reached,
any concerns raised and dissenting views expressed The
draft minutes are sent to all Directors within a reasonable
time after each meeting for their comment before being
formally signed by the charman of the meeting Copies of
the final version of board minutes are sent to Directors for
their information and records The signed minutes are kept
in safe custody by the Company Secretary and are available
for inspection by Directors

Cuning the year, the Chairman and the Non-executrve
Directors held two meetings without the presence of
the Executive Directors

All Non-executrve Directors have been appointed on an
annual twelve-month basis All Directors are required to
retire from office by rotabon and are subject to re-election
by shareholders at the annual general meeting once every
three years pursuant to the articles of assocation of

the Company Directors retinng by rotation and offering
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting are Mr Lee Lan Yee, Franas and Mr Frank John Sixt,
Information required to be disclosed by the Listing Rules

on the said Directors 15 contained in the circular to
shareholders dated 7th Aprl 2010 None of the said
Directors has a service contract which I1s not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation)




Insurance coverage in respect of Directors’ hability has been
arranged by the Company

The Chairman and the Graup Managing Director may
recommend candidates for election to the Board

The principal consideration 1s to build an effective and
complementary board with the expertise, skills and
expernience relevant to the Group’s businesses Potential
candidates for Independent Non-executive Director

will also be reviewed to determine whether they are
independent according to the requirements of the
Listng Rules, and able to devote sufficient time to Board
and committee meetings Credentials of candidates are
put forward to the Board for consideration in respect of
any proposed appointment of a new Director; and the
appointment 15 subject to the approval of the Board

Newly appotnted Directors receive briefings and a package
of onentation materials on the operations and businesses of
the Group, together with information retating to duties and
responsibiliies of directors under statutory regulations and
the Listing Rules The Company Secretary updates Directors
on the latest developments and changes to the Listing

Rules and the applicable legal and regulatery requirements
regarding subjects necessary in the discharge of their

duties As part of the continuous professional development
exercise, Directors are invited to seminars on subjects
relating to corporate governance, directors’ duties and
other relevant areas

Directors’ securities transactions

The Board of Directors of the Company has adopted

the Model Code for Securtties Transactions by Directors
("Model Code") set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules as the Group's code of conduct regarding Directors’
securthes transactions All Directors have confirmed
followng speafic enquiry that they have complied with
the required standards set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31st December 2009
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Sentor managers who are kely to be in possession of
unpublished pnce sensitive information regarding the
Company and s securities are also required to comply
with the Model Code

Reminders are sent during each year to Directors and
senior managers that they should not deal in the secunities
of the Company duning the “black-out perod” specified in
the Model Code

Directors’ responsibility for

financial reporting and

publishing required disclosures

Annual and interm reports

and financial statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare
financial statements for each half and full financiat year
which give a true and farr vew of the state of affairs of the
Company and of the Group The annual and interim results
of the Company are published n a timely manner within
the bmits of three months and two months respectively
after the end of the relevant penods

Accounting policies

The Directors consider that in prepanng financal
statements, the Group ensures statutory requirements
are met and applies appropnate accounting policies

that are consistently adopted and makes judgments and
estimates that are reasonable and prudent in accordance
with the applicable accounting standards

Accounting records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring the Group
keeps proper accounting records which disclose at any
time the finanaial posrtion of the Group upon which
financial statements of the Group could be prepared in
accordance with statutory requirements and the Group's
accounting policies
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Safeguarding assets

The Directors are responsible for taking all reascnable and
necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and
to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularies within
the Group

Going concern

The Directors consider that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for

the foreseeable future and are not aware of matenal
uncertainties relating to events or condrtions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company's ability to contnue
as a going concern The Group's financial statements have
accordingly been prepared on a going concern basis

Disclosure

The Board i1s aware of the requirements under the
applicable Listing Rules and statutory regulations with
regard to the timely and proper disclosure of price sensttive
information, announcements and financial disclosures and
authonises their publication as and when required

Chairman and

Group Managing Director

The posrtions of the Chairman {Mr Fok Kin Ning, Canring)
and the Group Managing Director {MrTso Kai Sum) are
held by separate indmiduals The Charman s elected
among the Directors by the Board for a term of one

year until the conclusion of each annual general meeting
whereupon the Chairman 1s subject to re-election Both the
Chairman and the Group Managing Director are subject to
retirerent from their offices as Directors by rotation and
re-election by shareholders every three years at the annual
general meeting

The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership to,
and overseeng the functioning and effective running of,

the Board to ensure that the Board acts in the best
interests of the Group The Chairman approves Board
meeting agendas and ensures that Board meetings are
planned and conducted effecuvely and that all Directors

are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings

In addibon to Board meetings, the Chairman holds meetings

with Executive Directors and two meetings annually

with Non-executive Directors wrthout the presence

of Executive Directors The Charman also performs
functions as an Executive Director in the management of
the Group and acts in an advisory capacrty to the Group
Managing Director in all matters covering the mterests
and management of the Group He 1s charman of the
Remuneration Committee

The Group Managing Lirector, working with the executive
management team of each operating untt, 1s responsible
for managing the businesses of the Group, attending to

the formulation and successful implementation of Group
policies and assuming full accountabilty to the Board

for all Group operations The Group Managing Director
attends to developing strategic operating plans and

15 directly responsible for maintaining the operational
performance of the Group Working with the Group
Finance Director; other Executive Directors and the general
manager of each operational division, he ensures that

the funding requirements of the businesses are met and
closely monrtors the operating and financial resuits of the
businesses against plans and budgets, taking remedial action
when necessary He maintains an ongoing dialogue wrth the
Chairman and all other Directors to keep them informed
of all major business development and 1ssues He is also
responsible for building and mantarung an effective team
to suppert him 1n his role

Independent Non-executive Directors
The Board must satisfy rself that an Independent
Non-executve Director does not have any materal
relationship with the Group The Board 15 also guided by
the criteria of independence as set out in the Listing Rules
in determining the independence of Directors

Each of Messrs Holger Kluge, Ralph Raymond Shea and
Wong Chung Hin, Independent Non-executive Directors of
the Company, has prowded to the Company a confiration
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3 13 of the Lisung
Rules The Board continues to consider all the independent
Non-executive Directors to be independent.
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Interests of Directors in shares and underlying shares of the Company

At 31st December 2009, the interests of the Directors in the shares and underlying shares of the Company and ris associated
corporations (wrthin the meaning of Part XV of the Secunties and Futures Ordinance (*SF Ordinance™)) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SF Ordinance or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange') pursuant to the Model Code were as follows

Long posttions In shares of the Company

Nature of Number of Approximate %
Name of Director Capacity interests shares held Total of shareholding
Lee Lan*ee, Franais Beneficial owner  Personal 739 739 =0%
Yuen 5w See Beneficial owner Personal 1,500 1,500 =0%
Ronald joseph Arcull) Interest of controlled  Corporate 2011 2011 =0%
corporation
LiTzar Kuoy,Victor Interest of child or spouse  Family 151,000 )
)
) 829750612 =3887%
Beneficary of trusts  Cther 829,599,612 )

(Notes | and 2) )

Notes:
[O)]

@

These shares are held by subsidanes of Cheung Kong Infrastructure Holdings Limrted ¢ CKI)

The discretionary beneficianes of each of The Li Ka-Steng Unety Discretionary Trust ( DT1 ) and another discretionary trust [ DTL } are nter ahia, Mr Ui Tzar Kuoi Victor hrs wafe
and chuldren, and Mr U Tzar Kay, Richard Each of L Ka-Shing Unity Trustee Corporation Limited (“TDTF  which 15 the trustee of DT 1} and Li Ka Shing Unity Trusicorp Limaed
{TDT2 which is the trustee of DT2) hokdt uruts i The L Ka-Stung Unety Trust ("UT 1 ) but s not entitied to any srterest or share in any parbcular property compnsing the
trust assets of the saxd unit trust. L Ka-Shing Unity Trustee Company Limited ("TUTI ) as trustee of UT1 and s refated companes in which TUT | as trustee of UT1 is entitled
10 exercse or control the exercise of one-third or more of the voung power at thew general meetings (‘TUT | related companes ) hold more than one-third of the issued share
caprtal of Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited ( CKH ) Certan subsidanes of CKH i turn together hold more than ane-third of the issued share caprtal of Hutchison Whampoa
Lirnnted { HWL} A subsidiary of HWL in tuen holds more than one-third of the ssued share caprtal of CKJ

The entire 1ssued share caprtal of TUT| and of the trustees of DT and DT2 are owned by Lr Ka Shing Unty Holdings Linnted {'Uncty Holdeo ) Each of Mr L Ka-shing,

Mr L Tzar Kuot Victor and Mr bi Tzar Kai, Richand & interested in one-third of the entre msued share captal of Unty Holdca TUTI 1s only iterested n the shares of CKH by
reason only of its obligation and power to hold nterests in those shares in its ordinary course of business as trustee and when performung s funcbons as trustee exertises ns
pawer 10 hold erterests in the shares of CKH mdependently without any reference to Unity Holdco or any of Mr L Ka-shing, Mr Li Tzar Kuos Victor and Mr LT zar Kay, Ruchard 1<
a holder of the shares of Unty Holdco as aforesad

By wirtue of the zbove and as a discretionary beneficary of each of DT and DT2 and as a Director of CKH Mr L Tzar Kuor Victor s taken to have a duty of disclosure n
ralation 10 the shares of CKH held by TUT| as trustee of UTI and TUT| related companies the shares of HWL held by the subsidiznes of CKH the shares of CKI held by the
subsidiary of HWIL and the shares of the Comparty held by the subsidianes of CX) under the SF Ordinance as a Director of the Company Although Mr Li Tzar Kt Richard

s niterested n one-thind of the entne ssued share @pital of Unity Holdea and s a discretonary beneficiary of ¢ach of DT and DT2, he s not a director of CKH and has no
duty of dsclosure in refation to the shares of CKH held by TUT | as trustee of UT | and TUT 1 related companies under the SF Ordinance

Mr LiTzar Kuor Victor by virtue of his mnterests as described n Note (1) above and as a Director of the Company.is also deemed to be interested in the shares of subsidanes
and assocated corporatons {(withun the meaning of Part XV of the 5F Ordinance} of the Company held through the Company wder the SF Ordinance

Save as disclosed above, at 31 st December 2009, none of the Directors or chief executives of the Company had any interests
or short positions n the shares, undertying shares or debentures of the Company or any of rts associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SF Ordinance) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SF Ordinance, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
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Directors’ interests in competing business
During the year of 2009, the interests of Directors in businesses which may compete with the Group's business of

development, investment and operation of power generation, transmission and distnbution and other energy related
infrastructure facilities ('Business’) were as follows

Name of Director

Name of company

Nature of interests

Fok Kin Ning Canrung Hutchison Whampoa Limrted Group Managing Director
Cheung Kong Infrastructure Holdings Limited Deputy Chairman

Husky Energy Inc Co-Charman

Tso Ka Sum Cheung Kong Infrastructure Holdings Limited Executive Director

Chow Woo Mo Fong, Susan

Hutchison Whampoa Limited

Cheung Kong Infrastructure Holdings Limrted

Deputy Group
Managing Director
Executive Director

Andrew John Hunter

Cheung Kong Infrastructure Holdings Limited

Spark Infrastructure Group

Executive Director
{Chief Operating Officer)
Non-executive Director

Kam Hing Lam

Hutchison Whampoa Limited
Cheung Kong Infrastructure Holdings Limited
Spark Infrastructure Group

Executive Director
Group Managing Director
Non-executve Director

Li Tzar Kuoy Victor

Hutchison Whampoa Limned
Cheung Kong Infrastructure Holdings Limited

Deputy Chairman
Chairman

George Colin Magnus

Hutchison Whampoa Limited
Cheung Kong Infrastructure Holdings Limited

Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director

Frank John Sixt

Hutchison Whampoa Limited
Cheung Kong Infrastructure Holdings Limrted

Husky Energy Inc

Group Finance Director
Executive Director
Drrector

Chan Lot Shun (Altternate Drirector)

Spark Infrastructure Group

Alternate Director to
Mr Kam Hing Lam

The Board is of the view that the Group Is capable of carrying on the Business independent of, and at arm’s length from the
businesses of the above companes When making decisions on the Business, the above Directors, in the performance of ther
duties as Directors of the Company. have acted and will continue to act in the commenrcial best interest of the Group and

all its shareholders




Directors’ interests in

contracts of significance

No contracts of significance to which the Company or

any subsidianies was a party and in which a Director of the
Company had a matenal interest subsisted at the end of or
at any time during the year ended 3 st December 2009

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee 1s chaired by the Chairman,
Mr Fok Kin Ning, Canning with Mr Ralph Raymond Shea
and MrWong Chung Hin, both Independent Non-executive
Directors as members

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee include reviewing and considering the
Company's policy for remuneration of Executive
Directors and senior management, and determining their
remuneration packages The Remuneration Committee
reports its decisions and recommendations to the Board
at the next Board meeting after the meeting of the
Committee Committee members may seek independent
professional advice at the expense of the Company to
discharge their duties as members of the Committee
The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
are published on the Company's website

The Group's Human Resources Division assists the
Remuneration Committee by providing refevant
remuneration data and market condrtiens for the
Committee’s consideration The remuneration of

Executive Directors and senior management 1s determined
with reference to the Company’s performance and
profitability, as well as remuneration benchmarks in the
industry and the prevailing market condtions Remuneration
1s performance-based and coupled with an incentive system
1s competrtive to attract and retain talented employees

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting in 2009
which was attended by Mr Ralph Raymond Shea and
MrWong Chung Hin Duning the meeting, the Commttee
assessed the performance of the full time Executive
Directors and senior management of the Group and
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considered and determined the performance-based bonus
payable to them in respect of the 2009 financial year and
therr remuneration for the next year None of the Executive
Directors and semor management participated in the
deterrination of their own remuneration The Committee,
authonsed by the Board, also reviewed and approved the
2010 wage and salary review proposal at the meeting

The emoluments paid to each Director for the 2009
financial year are shown in note 10 to the financial
statements on page 77 of the Annual Report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises four members It is

chaired by MrWong Chung Hin (an Independent Non-

executive Director) and the other members are Mr Ronald

joseph Arculll {a Non-executive Director), Mr Holger Kiuge !

(an Independent Non-executive Director) and Mr Ralph

Raymond Shea (an Independent Non-executive Directer)

The Company Secretary acts as secretary to the Audrt

Committee None of the Committee members 15 a partner l

or former partner of KPMG, the Group's external auditors |
|
|

The Audrt Committee reports directly to the Board of
Directors and its pnincipal responsibilities include the
review and supervision of the Group's financial reporting
and nternal control systems and the review of the .
Company’s intenm and annual financial statements. The |
Committee also meets regularly with KPMG to discuss
the audit process and accounting 1ssues The charman of
the Committee summanses the subjects discussed and
deasions or recommendations made in a written report
to the Board after each meeting Committee members
may seek independent professional advice at the expense
of the Company to discharge their dunes as members

of the Commuttee The terms of reference of the Audnt
Committee were updated on | st January 2009 to include
the new requirements of the Code relating to the review
of the adequacy of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporung functbion and are published on the
Company's website
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The Audit Committee held three meetings 1in 2009
The record of attendance of its members s as follows

Number of

Name of member meetings attended

MrWong Chung Hin (Chairmany)

Mr Ronald Joseph Arcull

Mr Holger Kluge

W W ] W

Mr Ralph Raymond Shea

During those meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed and
considered matters including the Group financial statements
and Annual Report for the year ended 3 st Decernber 2008,
the audrt fee and audrtors engagement letter for the 2008
Group financial statermnents, the re-appantment of auditors,
the report of the auditors to the Audit Committee in
relation to the audit of the 2008 Group financial statements,
the internal control assessment declarations for the year
2008 and for the half year to 30th June 2009 in respect of
the effectiveness of the system of intemal controls of the
Group made by the Group Managing Director and Group
Finance Director, the Group's risk management report as of
December 2008, the non-audit services provided by KPMG
in the year 2008, the internal audrt plan for 2009, the 4-year
cycle nternal audit plan for 2009 to 2012, the financial
staternents for the six months ended 30th June 2009,
KPMG's audit plan for the 2009 Group results and all internal
audtt reports compiled duning the year Representatives from
KPMG were invited to attend two of the meetings and they
discussed the 2008 audited financial statements, the 2009
audrt plan and vanous accounting issues with the Committee

Internal control and risk management
Introduction

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group's system
of internal control and reviews rts effectiveness to ensure
that policies and procedures in place for the identfication
and management of nsks are adequate

The Audit Committee assists the Board in meeting s
responsibility for maintaining an effective system of internal
controls The Committee reviews all matenal controls,

including financial, operational and comphance controls
and risk management functions It reviews the process by
which the Group evaluates rts control environment and
its risk assessment process, and the way in which business
and control nisks are managed It also reviews the annual
work plans of the Group Manager, Internal Audt, and
considers the report of the Group Managing Director
and Group Finance Director to the Committee on the
effectiveness of internal controls in the Group's business
operations These reviews and reports are taken into
consideration by the Committee when it makes nts
recommendation to the Board for approval of the
annual consohdated financial statements

Internal control environment

The Company's management encourages a nsk aware

and control conscious environment throughout the

Group Management sets objectives, performance targets
and policies for the management of key risks including
strategic planning, business operations, acquismions,
investments, legal and regulatory compliance, expenditure
control, treasury, environment, health and safety, and
customer service The Company has a well established
organisational structure with defined levels of responsibility
and authortty and reporting procedures There are inherent
hmrtations in any systern of internal control and accordingly
the Group's internal control system 1s designed to provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss

Full-time Executive Directors review operationat and
financial reports and key operating statistics of each
dviston and hold regular meetings with the dmsion general
managers to review their reports

Full-time Executve Directors and senior executives are
appointed to the boards and board committees of all major
operating subsidiaries and associates for menrtoring the
operations of those companies There 1s a comprehensive
system for reporting information by those companies to
the Company’s management.

Budgets are prepared annualty by the management of the
operating units and are subject to review and approval
firstly by the Group Managing Director and then by the




Board Re-forecasts of operating results for the current year
are prepared on a quarterly basis, reviewed for differences
to the budget and for approval by the Executive Directors

The Group Finance Director has established gudelines and
procedures for the approval and contro! of expenditure
Operating expenditure 15 subject to overall budget control,
with approval levels being set by reference to the level of
authonty of each executive and officer Capital expenditure
i1s also subject to overall control within the approved budget
of individual projects with more specific control and approval
being required for overspending, unbudgeted expenditure
and matenal expenditure within the approved budget.
Monthly reports of actual versus budgeted and approved
expenditure are also reviewed

The Group Finance Director is in charge of the treasury
function overseeing the Group's investrment and borrowing
activities The Group Treasurer regularly reports on the
Group's cash and hquid investments, borrowangs and
movements thereto, outstanding contingent habilties and
financial dervatives commitments The Board has approved
and adopted a treasury policy to manage the financial nisks
of the Group and the operational nsks associated with such
risk managerment activities The treasury policy 1s reviewed
by the Audit Committee from time to time

The Group Manager, Internal Audst, reporting to the

Group Finance Director, provides independent assurance

as to the existence and effectiveness of the risk management
activiies and controls in the Group's business aperations
Using nisk assessment methodology and takang into account
the scope and nature of the Group's activities, Internal

Audrt prepares its yearly audrt plan which is reviewed

and approved by the Audit Committee Interma! Audit's
reports on the Group’s operations are also reviewed and
considered by the Audit Committee Internal Audrt follows
up on s reports to ensure that its recommendations are
implemented by the operating units The scope of work
performed by Internal Audtt includes financial and operations
review, recurring and unscheduled audits, fraud investigation
and productivity efficiency reviews With the assistance of
Internal Audst, the Group Managing Director and Group
Finance Director assess the Group's internal control system,
formulate an opinicn on the system and report therr findings
to the Audit Committee and the Board
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Each dwvision 1s required to undertake nsk identification,
mitigation and montonng by compiling and updating on

an ongoing basis a risk register taking Into account emerging
1ssues and new regulations A risk management report
highlighting the key risks updated as at the end of each year
and outhning the action plans to manage the nsks 1s then
reviewed and considered by the Audit Committee

An internal control self assessment has also been
established requinng division general managers and
department heads to half-yearty assess the effectiveness

of controls over the operations within their areas of
accountability and compliance wrth applicable laws and
regulations These assessments form part of the bases on
which the Group Managing Director and Group Finance
Director formulate their opinion on the Group's internal
control system

Reports from the external auditors on matenal
non-comphance with procedures and internal controf
weaknesses, if any, are presented to the Audit Committee
These reports are considered and reviewed and the
appropriate action Is taken if required

Established guidelines where new businesses are being
acquired including detaled appraisal and review procedures
and due diligence processes are in place

The Group Managing Director and Group Finance Director
have the responsibility of developing and implementing

risk mitigation strategies including the deployment of
nsurance to transfer the financial impact of nsk. The
Company Secretary, working with the operating units,

1s respansible for arranging appropnate insurance coverage
for the Group

Code of Conduct

The Group places great emphasis on employees’ ethical
standards and integrity in all aspects of its operations
Employees are required to adhere to the standards set out
in the Group's Code of Conduct.
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External auditors

Independence

KPMG, the external audntors, have confirmed that they
have been for the year ended 3|st December 2009
independent of the Group in accordance with the
independence requirements of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certfied Public Accountants

Rotation of engagement partner

KPMG adopts a policy of rotating every seven years

the engagement partner servicing their chent companies
The last rotation took place in the audit of the 2007
financial staternents

Reporting responsibiity

The reporting responsibiliies of KPMG are stated in
the Independent Auditor's Report on page 53 of the
Annual Report.

Remuneration

An analysis of the fees of KPMG and other external auditors
15 shown m note 8 to the finanaial statements on page 75
of the Annual Report.

Re-appointment

A resolution for re-appontment of KPMG as auditors of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. There has been no change in audrtors in
any of the preceding three years

Shareholders

The Company has established a range of communication
channels between rtself and its shareholders, investors

and other stakeholders These include the annual

general meeting, the annual and intenm reports, notices,
announcements and circulars, the Company's website at
www heh com and meetings with mnvestors and analysts

All shareholders have the opportunity to put questions to
the Board at the annual general meeting, and at other times
by e-mailing or writing to the Company

Shareholders may at any time change their choice of
language (Enghsh or Chinese or both) or means of receipt

{prnted copies or through the Company's website)
of corporate communications by writing or e-maifing
the Company

The Company handles share registration and related
matters for shareholders through Computershare
Hong Kang Investor Services Limited, the Company's
share registrar

2009 Annual General Meeting

The annual general meeting 15 a main channel of
communication between Directors and shareholders

The 2009 Annual General Meeting was held at Harbour
Plaza Hong Kong {now known as Harbour Grand Kowloon)
on |4th May 2009 The notice of meeting, the Company’s
annual repart and the arcular containing imformation on
the proposed resolutions were sent to shareholders on
14th April 2009 which was 20 clear business days (as
defined in the Listing Rules) and more than 21 clear days
(as required by the Company's articles of association)

prior to the meeting The chairman and members of the
Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee were
avatlable to answer guestions from the shareholders

At the meeting, a separate resolution was proposed by

the Chairman in respect of each substantially separate
1ssue, and votng on each resclution was conducted by

way of a poll The polt voting procedure was explained

fully to shareholders during the meeting Computershare
Hong Kang Investor Services Limtted, the Company's share
registrar, was appointed as scrutineer to montor and count
the poll votes cast at the meeting. The resolutions proposed
at the meeting and the percentage of votes cast in favour of
them are set out below-

- Statement of accounts and the reports of the
directors and auditors for the year ended
31st December 2008 (99 8%13%),

~  Dedlaration of a final dividend of HK$ | 4% per share
(100%),

- Election of Mr Neil Douglas McGee (98 0702%),
Mr Ralph Raymond Shea (98 2143%), MrWan Chi
Tin (86 0695%) and MrWong Chung Hin (98 8324%)
as Directors,




- Re-appointment of KPMG as auditors and
authonisation of Directors to fix ther remuneration
{997615%),

-  General mandates to Directors to 1ssue addrtional
shares of the Company (64 9826%) and to
repurchase shares of the Company (99 997 1%),
and extension of the general mandate to 1ssue shares
(69 1751%)

The results of the polf which included the number of shares
voted for and against each resclution were posted on the
Stock Exchange's and the Company's websrtes on the same
day of the meeting

Extracrdinary General Meeting

An Extraordinary General Meeting was held at Harbour
Plaza Hong Kong (now known as Harbour Grand Kewloon)
on |6th March 2009 for the purpose of approving the
acquisition of the entire 1ssued share caprtat of Cutram
Limited from Cheung Kong Infrastructure Holdings

Limited (“CKI") A circular containing information on the
proposed resolution, Including the respective adwice of

the independent board commuttee and the independent
financial adviser and notice of the meeting were sent to
shareholders on 26th February 2009, which was rmore than
10 clear bustness days (as defined in the Listing Rules} and
more than 14 clear days (as required by the Company's
articles of association) before the meeting At the meeting,
the independent board committee was available to answer
questions from shareholders, and voting was conducted

by way of a poll The poll voung procedure was explained
fully to shareholders dunng the meeting As the acquisiuon
constrituted a connected transaction under the Listing
Rules, CKl and 1ts associates had abstained from voting
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, the
Company’s share registrar, was appointed as scrutineer to
monitor and count the poll votes cast at the meeting
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The percentage of votes cast in favour of the resolution
was 99 8303% The poll results which included the number
of shares voted for and against the resolution were posted
on the Stock Exchange's and the Company’s websrtes

on the same day of the meeting and published in the
newspapers on the next day

Company’s website

The Company maintains a website at wwwheh com For
the dissermination of published information, the Company
uploads such information including press releases, results
announcements and other announcements onto its website

Memorandum and articles of association
No changes were made to the memorandum and articles

of associatron of the Company dunng the year ended
3ist December 2009

Key dates
Announcement of 2009

interim results 5th August 2009
Payment of 2009 interm dnidend

(62 cents per share) 15th Septerber 2009
Announcement of audrted results

for the year ended

31st December 2009 3rd March 2010
Last day to regster for

2009 final dwidend 28th Apnl 2010
Closure of register of members 25th Apnl 2010

to 6th May 2010

2010 annual general meeting éth May 2010

Payment of 2009 final dividend 7th May 2010
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Interests of substantial shareholders and other person in shares
and underlying shares of the Company
According to the register kept under Section 336 of the SF Ordinance and information received by the Company,

at 31st December 2009, shareholders (other than Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had interests
in the shares and underiying shares of the Company were as follows

Substantial shareholders - tong positions in shares of the Company

Number of

Approximate %

Name Capacity shares held of shareholding
Interman Development Inc Benefical owner 186,736,842 (Naote 1) 875%
Venntton Development Inc Beneficral owner 197,597,511 {Note I} 926%
Univest Equity SA Beneficial owner 272011.102 (Note 1) 1307%
Monrtor Equrties SA. Beneficial owner 8 interest of 287211674 (Note I} 13 46%
controlled corporation
Hyford Limrted Interest of controlled corporations 829599612 (Note 2) 3887%
Cheung Kong Infrastructure Interest of controlled corporatians 82959%612 (Note 2) 3887%
Holdings Limited
Hutchison Infrastructure Interest of controlled corporations 829599612 (Note 3} 3887%
Holdings Limrted
Hutchison Intermational Limrted Interest of controlied corporations 829599612 (Note 3) 3887%
Hutchison Whampoa Limited Interest of controlied corporations 829599612 (Note 3) 3887%
Cheung Kong (Holdingsy Limsted  interest of controlled corporations 829,599,612 (Note 4) 3887%
L1 Ka-Shuing Unrty Trustee Company  Trustee 829,599,612 (Note 5) 3887%
Limned as trustee of
The b1 Ka-Shing Unrty Trust
U Ka-5hung Unrty Trustee Trustee & beneficiary of a rust 829599612 (Note 6} 3887%
Corporation Limited as
trustee of The L1 Ka-Shing Unity
Discretionary Trust
U Ka-Shing Unity Trustcorp Limnied  Trustee & beneficiary of a trust 829,599,612 (Note 6) 3887%
as trustee of another
discretionary trust
Li Ka-shing Founder of discretionary trusts & 829,599,612 (Note 6) 3887%

interest of controlled corporations
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Other person — long posttion in shares of the Company

Number of Approximate %
Name Capacity shares held of shareholding
Caprtal Research and Investrnent Manager 170,284,000 798%

Management Company

Notes

[} These are direct or ndrect wholly-owned subsdianes of Hyford Uimited (“Hyford 7} and thewr interests are duphcated i the same 829,599 612 shares of the Company heid by
Hyford described in Nate (2) below

@) Cheung Kong Infrastructure Holdings bimited { CKI ) is deemed to be interested i the 822,599 612 shares of the Company as referred to in Note (1) above as #t holds more
than one-third of the issued share capital of Hyford indirectly s interests are duplicated in the interest of Hutehison Whampea Limited ( HWL ) in the Company descnbed n
Mate (3} below

) HWL 15 deemed to be miterested in the 829,599 612 shares of the Company as referred to in Nete (2) abeve as it holds more than one third of the issued share caprtal of
Hutehuson nternational Limitec which holds more than one-third of the rssued share caprtal of Hutctkson nfrastructure Holdngs Limited { HIH 7 HIH holds more than
one-third of the 1ssued share capital of CKI

[L)] Cheung Kong (Haldings) Limited {* CKH ) 1s deemed to be mterested in the B29.599 612 shares of the Company as referred to n Note (3) above as certan subsidanes of CI0H
hald more than one-third of the ssued share capital of HWL

{5) L Ka-Shing Unity Trustee Company Lmted (“TUT | ') as trustee of The U Ka Shing Unity Trust ("UT | ) 15 deemed 1o be interested in those shares of the Company descnbed
Note (4) above a8 TUT| as trustee of UT| and s related companies o which TUT| as trustee of UT| s entitled to exarrise o control the exercise of one third or more of the
voting power at their general meetings hold more than one-third of the 1ssued share capital of CKH

(€) By virtue of the SF Ondinance each of Mr Li Ka-shing, being the settior 2nd may being regarded as a founder of each of The L Ka-Shung Unity Discretionary Trust ( DT1 1) and
another discretionary trust ("DT2") for the purpose of the SF Ordnance Ui Ka-Shing Unity Trustee Corporation Limted ( TDT| ) as trustee of DTi and Li Ka-Shing Unity
Trustcorp Limited ("TDT2 ) as trustee of DT2 15 deemed to be nterested in the same block of shanes TUT T as trustee of UTI 1s deerned to be interested i as referred ton
Note (5) above as all issued and outstanding units in LT | are held by TOT! as trustee of DT and by TDTZ as trustee of DT2. More than one-third of the usued share capeal
of TUTF and of the trustees of the said discretionary trusts are owned by Li Ka-Shing Unity Holdings Lirnsted { Unty Haldco ) Mr Ly Ka-shing owns one-third of the ssued share
capral of Unity Holdco.

Save as disclosed above, at 31st December 2009, there was no other person {other than Directors or chief executives of
the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or undertying shares of the Comparny as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SF Ordinance
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Public float

According to information that s available to the Company,
the percentage of the Company's shares which are in the
hands of the public exceeds 25% of the Company's total
number of 1ssued shares

Connected transactions

Acquisition of Outram Limrted

The acquistion of Qutram Limited by the Company
from Cheung Kong Infrastructure Holdings Limited {"CKI"),
a connected person of the Company, was cormpleted on
2nd Apnl 2009 Particulars of this transaction have been
disclosed in an announcement posted on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company on
Sth February 2009, the arcular to shareholders dated
26th February 2009, and the last year's Corporate
Governance Report

Financial assistance provided to associates
On th July 2009, the Company entered into swap
guarantees (‘Swap Guarantees”) guaranteeing on a severat
basis to the extent of 50% of all habilties of Wellington
Electricity Distribution Network Limited ("WEDMNL")
under certain cross currency swap arrangements ("Swaps™)
which WEDNL entered into on the same day and the
related I5DA master agreements which WEDNL would
enter into as soon as practicable thereafter The Swaps and
ISDA master agreements were and to be entered into
respectively in connection with a two-year term loan in
US dollar which would be entered inte by WEDNL on
10th July 2009 On [(th July 2009, the Company executed
two guarantees (“'Loans Guarantees”) pursuant to which
the Company agreed to guarantee the two-year term loan
of 1J5$263,000,000 and the two-year revolving loan of up
to NZ$30,000,000 (collectrvely "Loans™), both entered
into by WEDNL on the same day, on a several basis to the
extent of 50% of all habilties and obligations of WEDNL
due under the Loans On 10th July 2009, Sigerson Business
Corp ("Sigerson™), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary

of the Company, in consideration of a support fee from
Wellington Electncrty Distnbution Network Holdings
Limited (“WEDNHL?), the rmmediate holding company

of WEDNL, entered into an undertaking ("‘Undertaking”)

pursuant to which Sigerson agreed to provide financial
support to WEDNHL limited to 50% of the obligations
of WEDNHL under a credrt facility agreement between
WEDNHL and WEDNL. Under the said credrt facility
agreement, WEDNHL agreed to provide WEDNL with

a standby facility of up to NZ$450,000,000 which could
only be drawn and applied by WEDNL towards payment
or repayment of the ndebtedness due by WEDNL under
the Loans The above transactions were entered into to
meet the finanaing requirement of WEDNL

WEDNL and WEDNHL were each indirectly owned as
to 50% by the Company and 50% by CKI which was a
substantizl shareholder holding approximately 38 87% of
the i1ssued share capital of the Company WEDNL and
WEDNHL were therefore connected persons of the
Company within the meaning of the Listing Rules and

the Swap Guarantees, the Loans Guarantees and the
Undertaking constituted connected transactions of the
Company The Swap Guarantees, the Loans Guarantees
and the Undertaking were provided on a pro rata basis
according to the Company's equity nterest m WEDNL
and WEDNHL as the case may be, and were on the same
terms as the corresponding documents entered into by CKI

Shareholders have been informed of the above transactions
in an announcement posted on the respective webstes of
the Stock Exchange and the Company on 10th July 2009,
and the particulars thereof are herein disclosed pursuant to
Rule 14A 45 of the Listing Rules

Acquisttion of addrtional interest

in Northern Gas Networks Holdings Limited
On |1 6th November 2009, Beta Central Profits Umited
("Beta""), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, which at the time held 35 [% shareholding in
Northern Gas Networks Holdings mited (“NGN'"),
entered mnto a deed ("Deed’) with United Utilibies Energy
& Contracting Services Holdings Limited {"UU"), another
shareholder of NGN and an independent third party of the
Company, pursuant to which Beta agreed to purchase from
UL 35,409,973 shares in NGN (“Sale Shares”) representing
6 19% of NGN's 1ssued share capital Upon completion of
the transaction, the Company (through Beta) would hold

a 41 29% interest In NGN NGN operates a gas distnbuicn




network m the North of England Pursuant to the Deed,

the consideration payable by Beta to United Utilities was
GBP 35,409,973 Beta would be entitled to one-twelfths of
all dwidends declared by NGN during the 2009 financial year
in respect of the Sale Shares, while UU would be entitled

to the remaining portion of such dwidends If UU did not
receive by the end of 2009 an amount equal to not less than
GBP 1,650,000 in respect of any dwvidend on the Sale Shares
declared and paid by NGN during the penod from the date
of the Deed to the end of 2009, Beta would pay to UU an
amount equal to approximately 46 74% of the difference
between the aggregate amount of dwvidends recerved by UU
by the end of 2009 and GBP 1,650,000 Completion of the
Deed took place on |8th November 2009

CKl was a substantial shareholder holding approximately

38 87% of the 1ssued share caprtal of the Company and was
therefore a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules The above transaction involved the Company’s
acquisition of shares in NGN where CK1, being a 40%
shareholder of NGN immediately pnior to the date of the
Deed, was a controller of the Company, and it therefore
constituted a connected transaction for the Company under
the Listing Rules

Shareholders have been informed of the above transaction
and the Deed in an announcement posted on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company on 16th
November 2009, and the particulars thereof are herein
disclosed pursuant to Rule 14A.45 of the Listing Rules

Continuing connected transactions
Operation and management contract n
respect of power plant investments n
mainland China

Pursuant to an agreement dated 2nd Apri! 2009
("Agreement”) entered into between Qutram Limited
("Outram'"), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, and Cheung Kong China Infrastructure Limrted
("CKCI"), CKCl agreed to provide Outram with seraces

in relation to the operation and management of Outram’s
power plant investments in mainfand China. The Agreement
ts for an inial term of three years and may, at Outram’s
option, be renewed for further term(s) of three years each
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on the same terms The fees payable to CKCl for the
services are equivalent to CKClI's costs for prowision of such
services and are paid in cash on a monthly basis subject to
a maxaimum of HK$35,000,000 per year CKCl 1s a wholly
owned subsidiary of CK|, a substantial shareholder of the
Company, and therefore CKCl's provision of the services

to Qutram constrtuted continuing connected transactions
(“Continuing Connected Transactions”) for the Company
under the Lisuing Rules

The aggregate amount pad for the year ended 3 st
December 2009 attrbutable to the Continuing Connected
Transactions subject to annual review requirements under
the Listing Rules was HK$23,244,099

All the Independent Nen-executive Directors have
reviewed the Continung Connected Transactions in the
2009 financial year and confirmed that the transactions
had been entered into (1) iIn the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group, (1) either on normal cormmercial
terms or; if there were not sufficent comparable
transactions to judge whether they were on normal
commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the
Group than terms available to or from (as appropnate)
independent third parties,and (i) in accordance with the
relevant agreement goverring themn on terms that are far
and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of
the Company as a whole

The auditors of the Company, KPMG have confirmed in

a letter to the Board that (2) the Continuing Connected
Transactions in the 2009 finanaizl year (1) had receved the
approval of the Beard of the Company and (u} did not
exceed the cap amount of HK$26,274,000 for the pertod
from 2nd Apni 2009 (the effective date of the Agreement)
to 31st December 2009 which 1s calculated on a pro rata
basis based on the annual cap amount of HK$35,000.000
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated

Sth February 2009 and in the arcular to shareholders dated
26th February 2009, and (b) an agreement governing the
Continuing Connected Transactions was in place
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Financial summary

Commentary on the consolidated income statement and balance sheet

Increase/
Consolidated 1009 2008 (decrease)
income statement HK$M HK$M HKS$M % Commentary
Turnover 10,395 12773 {2.378) -186 The decrease 1s manly due to lower basic tanff
Other revenue and 815 1,020 (205)  -201 The decrease is mamly due to lower interest
other net income ncome from cash deposits as a result of lower
interest rates and lower deposit balances in 2009
Direct and other 4616 4,723 (107) -23  The decrease s mainly due to lower rates
operating costs expenses as a result of lower rateable value in
2009 and lower retirement service costs
Finance costs 334 463 (129) -279  The decrease 1s mainly due to lower interest rates
on HK$ borrowings and lower average exchange
rate on foreign currency iInterest expenses
Share of profits less 898 732 166 227 Thencrease 1s manly due to increase in share of
losses of associates Northern Gas in 2009 and higher revenue eamed
by Australan associates.
Share of profits less 632 - 632 1000 New manfand China investments acquired
losses of jointly in April 2009
controlled entities
Income tax e F,000 (81) -8 The decrease 1s mamnly due te drop in profit as
a result of tanff cut.
Scheme of 174 310 {136) 439  Scheme of Control {"'SOC") Transfers are
Control transfers calculated In accordance with the SOC
Agreement.
Profit attributable to
equity shareholders
-~ Hong Kong 4,646 7,008 (1,362) -337 The decrease 1s mainly due to lower permitted
operations return and lower nterest ncome from
cash deposits
= Outside Hong Kong 2,051 1,021 1,030 1009  The increase 1s manly due to contnbutions from
operations new investments n mainland China and higher
revenue eamed by Australan associates.
i T % Ba R
Profit for the year F¢8697¢ 8,029 (1.332) -l686
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Increase/
Consolidated 2009 2008 (decrease)
balance sheet HK$M HK$M HK$M % Commentary
Fixed assets 47,464 46,488 976 21 The Group's capital expenditure for 200
amounted to HK$2,75 1 million, nvested principally
In generation, transmission and distnbution assets
Depreciation and amortisation charges for the
year were HK$ 1,724 million Total disposals of
fixed assets amounted to HK$51 million {net
book value)
Interest In associates 13472 9921 3,551 358 The increase 1s mainly due to stronger Australian
Dollar and other currencies and increase in share
of Northern Gas in 2009
Interest in jointly 5,793 159 5634 35434 The increase s manly due to new investments in
controlled entities manland China
Other assets 8,220 11,872 (3.652) -308 The decrease is mainly due to lower cash deposits
Bank loans and 12,247 10667 1,580 148 The increase i1s matnly due to more finanang
other borrowings requirernents for the Hong Kong electnaty
business and higher Hong Kong Dollar equivalent
for bank loans denorminated in Austraian Dollar
Current and 5,858 5667 121 34 The increase i1s manly due to lower prowvisional
deferred taxation tax pad
Other liabilities 4,201 4454 (253) -57  The decrease 1s mainly due to the lower employee
retirement benefit habilries.
Tariff Stabilisation 499 325 174 535 The balances are calculated in accordance with
Fund and Rate the SOC Agreement.
Reduction Reserve
:Net assets 52,144 47327 102
1
Dividends paid Previous year's final dvidend and current year's
intenm dwdend, which were approved and pad
| duning 2009 ‘
1
Other comprehensive Exchange gains ansng on translating foreign
| income operations and actuanal adustments to employee
| retirement schemes which were credrted directly
ll to reserves.
Profit for th 697 '
rofit for the year ;;&p 6%&,% AN J




? ® * & @ & & & & & ¢ & »

@ Hongrong lectric Holdings Limied Annual Report 2009

Financial review

Capital expenditure, liquidity

and financial resources

Caprtal expenditure during the year amounted to HK$2,751
million (2008 HK$2,084 million}, which was primanily
funded by cash from operations Total external borrowings
outstanding at the year end were HK$ 12,247 million (31st
December 2008 HK$ 10,667 million), comprising unsecured
bank loans and debt secunities in issue In addiion, the
Group had undrawn committed bank faciliies of HK$6,500
milion (315t December 2008 HK$7.450 mithon) and bank
deposits and cash of HK$5,093 milhion (3]st December
2008 HK$8,962 million)

Treasury policies, financing activities
and capital structure

The Group manages rts financial nsks in accordance with
guidelines lard down in s treasury pokcy, which 1s approved
by the Board The treasury policy 15 designed to manage the
Group’s currency, interest rate and counterparty risks The
Group aims to ensure that adequate financial resources are
avallable for refinancing and business growth

By currency

@ 466% Hong Kong dollars
® 34% Ausiralan dollars

By structure

@ 75% Bank loans
@ 25% Caprtal market instruments

s 8 B 8 & " 8 8 " 0 P N

The Group's financial profile remained strong during the
year In December 2009, Standard and Poor's affirmed the
A+ long term credit ratings of Hongkong Electnc Holdings
Limtted and The Hongkong Electnc Cempany, Limited with
a stable outlook. As at 3|st December 2009, the net debt
of the Group was HK$7,154 million (3 st December 2008
HK$1,705 miflion) with a net debt-to-equity ratio of [4%
(3 Ist December 2008 4%}

The profile of the Group's external borrowings, after taking
Into account terest rate swaps was as follows -

(1) 66% was in Hong Kong dollars and 34% in
Australian dollars,

(2) 75% was bank loans and 25% was capital market
nstruments,

(3) 0% was repayable within | year, 83% was repayable
between 2 and 5 years and 17% was repayable
beyond 5 years,

(4) 57% was at fixed interest rates and 43% was

at floating interest rates

By maturity

€ 0% Within | Year
@ B3% Between 2 and 5 Years
@ 7% Beyond 5 Years

By interest rate structure

@ 57% Fixed rate
@ 43% Foating rate

® 8 8 " 8 B 8 8 P s e
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Currency and interest rate risks are actively managed in
accordance with the Group's treasury policy Derwvative
financial instruments are used primanly for managing
interest rate and foreign currency risks and not for
speculative purposes Treasury transactions are only
executed with counterparties with acceptable credit
ratings to control credit nsk exposure

The Group's policy 1s to maintain a portion of its debt at
fixed interest rates Interest rate rnsk 15 managed by erther
secunng fixed or floating rate borrowings or by using
interest rate dervatives As at 3 ist December 2009,57%
of the Group's total borrowings were at fixed interest rates

The Group's principal foreign currency exposures anse
from ts investments outside Hong Kong and from the
import of fuel and caprtal equipment. Foreign currency
transaction exposure 1s managed manly through forward
contracts As at 31st December 2009, over 85% of the
Group's transaction exposure was either denominated i
US dollars or hedged inte Hong Kong or US dollars Where
considered appropriate, currency exposure ansing from
investments outside Hong Kong is mitigated by financing
those investments in loca! currency borrowings Foreign
currency fluctuations will affect the translated value of

the net assets of investments outside Hong Kong and the
resultant translation difference 1s ncluded in the Group's
reserve account. Income received from the Group's
investments outside Hong Kong which 1s not denominated
in Hong Kong dollars is, unless otherwise determined,
converted inte Hong Kong dollars on receipt

The contractual notional amounts of denvative financal
instruments outstanding at 3 st December 2009
amounted to HK$7,891 milion (31st December 2008
HK$7,763 miliion)

Charges on group assets

At 3]st December 2009, the Group’s interests in an
associate of HK$740 million (31st December 2008
HK$552 million) have been pledged as part of the security
1o secure bank borrowings granted to that associate

At 31st December 2009, the Group's interests in a

jointly controlled entity of HK$2,991 milhon (315t
December 2008 Nil) have been pledged as part of the
secunty to secure bank borrowings granted to that jointly
controfled entity
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Contingent liabilities

As at 31st December 2009, the Group had given guarantees
and indemnities totalling HK$ 1,642 million (31st December
2008 HK$1,262 million)

The Company had given guarantees and indemnities in

respect of bank and other borrowing facilibes made avalable

to and financial commitments of subsidianies totalling
HK$4,212 rmilhon (2008 HK$3,217 mithion) Qut of this
amount, HK$4,202 mullion (2008 HK$3.207 million), while

being a contingent habilty of the Company, is reflected in the

consolidated balance sheet of the Group

Employees

The Group continues nts policy of pay for performance and
market pay levels are monitored to ensure competitiveness
15 maintained The Group's total remuneration costs for

the year ended 3 |st December 2009, excluding directors’
emoluments, amounted to HK$798 mithion (2008 HK$877
milion) As at 31st December 2009, the Group employed
1,879 permanent staff (2008 |,864) No share option
scheme s (n operation

The Group provides trainng for employees in management
and functional skills, language skills, computer knowtedge
and technology relevant to the Group's industry by both

classroom traming and e-learming platforms Traiming schemes

for university graduates, tranee technicians and apprentices
and other job-related programmes are also available for
employees to develop and enhance their skills and abilites
In addrtion, talks are arranged to provide updates on
company developments and weliness information
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Report of the Directors

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars)

The Directors have pleasure in submitting ther Annual
Report together with the audited financial statements
for the year ended 31st December 2009

Principal activities

The princrpal actvity of the Company s investment
helding and the principal actmities of the subsidianes are
the generation and supply of electricity Particulars of the
Company's pnncipal subsidianes are set out in Appendix 2
on page |11 of the finanoal statements

Financial statements

The consolidated income statement for the year ended
31st December 2009 1s set out on page 54 and shows the
Group's profit after tax and Scheme of Control transfers,
of $6,697 million (2008 %8029 milion) The state of the
Company's and the Group's affairs as at 31st December
2009 are set out In the financial statements on pages 54
to 13

Dividends
An interim dividend of 62 cents (2008 62 cents) per

ordinary share was paid to shareholders on |5th Septerber

2009 and the Directors recommend a final dwdend of

$1 49 (2008 $! 49) per ordinary share payable on 7th May
2010 to shareholders who are registered on the register of
members on 6th May 2010

Reserves

Movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group

dunng the year are set out in note 27(a) to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes
n equrty on page 57 respectively

Charitable donations
Charitable donations made by the Group during the year
amounted to $3 million (2008 $3 milhon)

Fixed assets

Addrtions of fixed assets for the year amounted to
$2,751 milhon (2008 $2,084 milion) The movements in
fixed assets dunng the year are set out in note 13 to the
financial staterments

Subsidiaries

The names, principal activities, places of incorporation and
operation and particulars of the ssued share capital and
debt securties of the principal subsidianes are set out In
Appendix 2 on page | 1| of the financial statements

Summary of five-year

financial results

The summary of five-year financal results of the Group
1s set out on page | |4

Major customers and suppliers

The Group’s five largest customers combrned did not
exceed 30% of the Group's total tumover for each of the
years ended 31st December 2009 and 2008

The largest suppher of revenue tems for the year
represents |5 6% (2008 31 3%) of the Group's total
purchase of revenue rtems, and the combined total of the
largest five supphers accounts for 61 6% (2008 71 8%) for
the year ended 31st December 2009

At no time during the year have the Directors, their
associates or any shareholders of the Company {which

to the knowledge of the Directors own mare than 5% of
the Company's share capital) had any mterest in the above
major customers and suppliers




Directors

The Directors in office dunng the year were Mr Fok Kin
Ning, Canning, Mr Tso Kar Sum, Mr Ronald Joseph Arcull,
Mrs Chow Woo Mo Fong, Susan, Mr Andrew John Hunter,
Mr Kam Hing Lam, Mr Holger Kluge, Mr Lee Lan Yee,
Franacis, Mr Lt Tzar Kuon,Victor, Mr George Cohin Magnus,
Mr Neil Douglas McGee, Mr Ralph Raymond Shea, Mr
Frank john Sixt, MrWan Chi Tin, Mr Wong Chung Hin and
MrYuen Sw See

During the year, Mrs Chow Woo Mo Fong, Susan also
served as Alternate Director to Mr Fok Kin Ning, Canning
and Mr Frank John Sixt, and Mr Chan Loi Shun served as
Atternate Director to Mr Kam Hing Lam

Purchase, sale or
redemption of shares
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,

sold or redeemed any of the Company’s issued shares
dunng the year (2008 Nif)

Arrangement to purchase shares

or debentures

At no time duning the year was the Company or any of

its subsidianes a party to any arrangement that enable the
Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
or any other body corporate (2008 Nif)
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Report of the Directors

Disclosure under Rule 13.22 of Chapter |3 of the Listing Rules

In relation to the provision of financial assistance by the Group to certan affifiated companies, a combined balance sheet
of the affihated comparnies as at 3! st December 2009 required to be disclosed under Rule 13 22 of Chapter |3 of the
Listing Rules 15 set out below

Combined balance sheet of the affiliated companies

as at 31st December 2009 $ million
Non-current assets 77,601

Current assets 7423
Current habilihes (10416)
Non-current hiabilities (62.613)
Net assets 11,995
Share capital 6,356
Reserves 5639
Capital and reserves . 1,995

As at 315t December 2009, the consolidated attributable interest of the Group in these affihated companies amounted to
$9.538 milhon

By Order of the Board

Fok Kin Ning, Canning

Chairman
Hong Kong, 3rd March 2010
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of Hongkong Electric Holdings Limited

{Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited hability)

We have audited the consohdated financial statements of Hongkong Electric Holdings Limited (the “Company™)
set out on pages 54 to [13 which comprise the consohdated and company balance sheets as at 31st December
2009, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consohdated
statement of changes tn equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and farr presentauon of these

financial statements In accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporung Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Cerufied Public Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance This responsibility includes designing, implementing
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentaton of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, selecting and applying appropriate accounting
polictes, and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility 1s to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit This report 1s made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 141 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other
purpose We do not assume responsibility towards or accept hability to any other person for the contents of

this report

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing 1ssued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan

and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from
matenal misstatement

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error In making those risk assessments,
the auditor constders internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the arcumstances, but not for

the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting esumates made

by the Directors. as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinicn

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
and of the Group as at 3Jst December 2009 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended n
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance

KPMG

Certfied Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

3rd March 2010
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Consolidated Income Statement

For the year ended 3Ist December 2009
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2009 2008
Note $ mullion % mitlion
Turnover 4 10,395 12,773
Direct costs (3,820) (3.782)
6,575 8,991

Other revenue and other net income s 815 1,020
Qther operating costs (796) {(941)
Operating profit 6,594 9,070
Finance costs 7 {(334) {463)
Share of profits less losses of associates 898 732
Share of profits less losses of jointly controlled entities 632 -
Profit before taxation 8 7,790 9,339
Income tax 9

Current (776) (946)

Deferred (143) {54)

(9!9) {1.000)

Profit after taxation 6,871 8,339
Scheme of Control transfers to I

Tariff Stabilisation Fund (174) (297)

Rate Reduction Reserve - (13)

(174) (310)

Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
Hong Kong operations 4,646 7,008
Operations outside Hong Kong 2,051 1,024
Profit for the year 6,697 8,029
Earnings per share
Basic and diluted 12 $3.14 $376

The notes on pages 59 to I 13 form part of these financial statements Details of dividends payable to equity
shareholders of the Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out in note 27(b)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31st December 2009
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2009 2008
$ million $ million
Profit for the year 6,697 8,029
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year
Exchange differences on translating operations outside Hong Kong,
including associates and jointly controlled entities 1,163 {1.264)
Cash flow hedges
Effective portion of changes in fair value of hedging instruments recognised
during the year [ 39 (L15)
Reclassification adjustments for amounts transferred to the income statement
- finance costs 5 2
— other revenue and other net income - (5)
Amounts transferred to the mitial carrying amount of hedged items 4 (3)
Net deferred tax (charged}/credited to other comprehensive income L (9) 30
39 9
Defined benefit retirement schemes
Actuarial gains/(losses), net of nil tax 1,002 (2,087}
Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) of associates
Other comprehensive income/(loss) ( 589 (I.399W
Net deferred tax {charged)/credited to other comprehensive income {170) 410
419 {989)
2,623 (4,431)
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable
to equity shareholders of the Company 2,320 3,598

The notes on pages 59 to 13 form part of these financial statements
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Balance Sheets
At 3Ist December 2009
{Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

The Group The Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
Note $ million $ miilion $ mithon $ million
Non-current assets
Fixed assets
— Property, plant and equipment 42,715 41,711 - -
— Assets under construction 1,540 2510 - -
- Interests in leasehold land held for
own use under operating leases 2,209 2,267 - -
13 47,464 46,488 - -
Investments in subsidiaries 14 - - 40,195 34,709
Interest in associates 1S 13,472 9,921 - -
Interest in jointly controlled entities 16 5,793 159 - -
Other non-current financial assets 17 67 66 — -
Dervatuve financial instruments 24 n 19 - -
Deferred tax assets 26(b) 2 11 - -
Employee retirement benefit assets 25 484 - 24 -
67,315 56,674 40,219 34,709
Current assets
Inventories 18 930 659 - -
Trade and other recevables 19 1,059 1,147 5 33
Fuel Clause Recovery Account 20 552 998 - -
Bank deposits and cash 21(a) 5,093 8,962 4,995 B,219
1,634 11,766 5,000 8,952
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 22 (1,600) (1.173) (43) {43)
Current portion of bank loans and
other borrowings 23 - (1,687} - -
Current taxation 26(a) (236) (188) - {9
(1,836) (3,048) (43) (52)
Net current assets 5,798 8,718 4,957 8,900
Total assets less current liabilities 73,113 65,392 45,176 43,609
Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings 23 (12,247) (8,980) - -
Derivative financtal tnstruments 24 26 (110) - -
Customers’ deposits (I,676; (1.634) - -
Deferred tax labilities 26(b) (5,622 (5.:479) - -
Employee retirement benefit habilities 5 {899) (1.537) (175) (264)
{20,470) (47,740) (175) (264)
Rate Reduction Reserve L1{b) {14) (14) - -
Tariff Stabilisation Fund 11(a) (485) (31 - -
Net assets 52,144 47,327 45,001 43,345
Capital and reserves
Share capatal 27(c} 2,134 2,134 2,134 2,134
Reserves 50,010 45,193 42,867 41211
Total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company 52,144 47,327 45,001 43,345

Approved and authorised for 1ssue by the Board of Directors on 3rd March 2010

Fok Kin Ning, Canning Tso Kai Sum
Chairman Group Managing Director

The notes on pages 59 to |13 form part of these financial statements
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 3fst December 2009
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Proposed/
Share Share Exchange Hedging Revenue declared
capital premium  reserve reserve reserve dividend Total
(note {note {note {note (note
$ million () 20 () 27 (m)y  27{d}v))
Balance at Ist January 2008 2,134 4476 655 32 37,555 3,082 48,104

Changes in equity for 2008
Final dividend in respect of the previous year
approved and paid (see note 27{b){n)) - - - - - (3.052) (3,052}

Interim dividend pard (see note 27(b)(1)} - - - - (1,323} - (1,323}
Proposed final diadend {see note 27(bj(i)) - - - - (3,180} 3,180 -
Total comprehensive (Joss)/income for the year - - (1.264) (743} 5,575 - 3,598

Balance at 315t December 2008 and

Ist January 2009 1,134 4,474 (609) (481) 38,627 3,180 47,327
Changes in equity for 2009

Final dividend in respect of the previous year

approved and paid (see note 27(b)(n)} - - - - - 3,180  (3,180)
Interim dwidend paid {see note 27(b}{(1)) - - - - (1,323) - {1,323)
Proposed final dividend (see note 27(b}{1)} - - - - (3,180) 3,180 -
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 1,163 365 7,192 - 9,320
Balance at 31st December 2009 1,134 4,476 554 (118} 41,916 3,180 52,144

The notes on pages 59 to 113 form part of these financial statements
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31st December 2009
{Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2009 2008

Note $ million $ milhon
Qperating activities
Cash generated from operations 21(b) 7,884 8,887
Interest paid (337) {541)
Interest received 669 {,198
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid {755%) (1,190)
Tax paid for operations outside Hong Kong 4) (4)
Tax refunded for operations outside Hong Kong 31 12
Net cash generated from operating activities 7,488 8,362
Investing activities
Purchase of fixed assets and capital stock (2,427) (1,770)
Decrease in bank deposits maturing in over three months when placed 1,827 2,275
Capitahsed interest paid (40) (95)
Receipts from sale of fixed assets 3 !
Investments in associates (468) {2.371)
nvestments in jointly controlled enuties (5,686) (141)
Investments in available-for-sale equity securities ) -
New loans to associates ) (1,822)
Loans repaid by associates - 106
Repayment of amounts due from jointly controlled entities 689 -
Dividends received from associates 471 584
Dividends received from available-for-sale equity securities 22 7
Net cash used in Investing activities (5,615) (3.226)
Financing activities
New bank leans and other borrowings 4,033 3,789
Repayment of bank loans and other borrowings (3,440) (5,533)
New customers’ deposits 283 256
Repayment of customers’ deposits (241) (207)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders of the Company {4,503) (4.375)
Net cash used in financing activities {3,868) (6,070)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents {1,995) (934)
Cash and cash equivalents at st January 21(a) 7,135 8,078
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (47) 9
Cash and cash equivalents at 3Ist December 21(a) 5,093 7,135

The notes on pages 59 to | |3 form part of these financial statements




Hangkong Etectric Holdngs Limited Annual Report 2609 o

Notes to the Financial Statements

{Expressed in Hong Kong Doliars}

l.

General information

Hongkong Electric Holdings Limited (the “Company™) is a imited company incorporated and domiciled
in Hong Kong The address of its registered office 1s 44 Kennedy Road, Hong Kong

Significant accounting policies

(@)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all apphcable individual Heng Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“"HKASs") and Interpretations 1ssued

by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted In Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance These financial
statements also comply with the apphcable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Lisung of
Secunuies on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group s set out below

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effecuve or available for early
adoption for the current accounting pericd of the Group and the Company Note 3 provides informatton
onh any changes in accounting policies resulting from nitial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the turrent andprior accounting periods reflected in
these financial statements

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 3 |1st December 2009 comprise the Company
and 1ts subsidiaries {together referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interests in associates and
jointly controlled entities

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements 1s the historical cost basis
except as explained in the accounting polictes set out below

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources Actual results may differ from these estimates

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the reviston and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the
financial statements and major sources of estmation uncertainty are discussed in note 35




e Hongkong Electnc Holdings Limited Arnual Repore 2009

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Expressed in Hong Kong Dellars)

2. Significant accounting policies oninued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of Hongkong Electric Holdings
Limited and all its subsidiaries made up to 31st December each year, together with the Group's share

of the results for the year and the net assets at the balance sheet date of its associates and jointly
controlled entities

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group Control exists when the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities

In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently are exercisable are taken into account

Investments in subsidiaries are consoltdated into the consolidated financial statements from the date

that control commences until the date that control ceases Intra-group balances and transactions and any
unrealised profits arising from ntra-group transactions are elrminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same
way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there 15 no evidence of impairment

In the Company’s balance sheet, an investment in a subsidiary i1s stated at cost less impairment losses
(see note 2(I))

Associates and jointly controlied entiues
An associate I1s an entity In which the Group or Company has significant influence, but not control or
jont control, over its management, including participation in the financial and operating policy decisions

A jointly controlled entity 1s an entity which operates under a contractual arrangement between the

Group or Company and other parties, where the contractual arrangement establishes that the Group
or Company and one or more of the other parties share joint control over the economic activity of

the entity

An ivestment in an associate or a jointly controlled entity is accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements under the equity method, unless 1t 1s classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale) Under the equity method, the investment 1s imiially recorded

at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition change in the Group’s share of the investee’s net
assets and any impairment loss relating to the investment (see notes 2(f) and 2(l)) The Group’s share

of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and any impairment losses for the year are
recognised in the consohdated iIncome statement, whereas the Group’s share of the post-acquisition
post-tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive income 1s recognised in the consohdated statement
of comprehensive income

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest In an associate or a jointly controlled entity, the
Group's interest is reduced to mil and recognition of further losses 15 discontinued except to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligattons or made payments on behalf of the investee
For this purpose, the Group's interest is the carrytng amount of the investment under the equity method
together with the Group’s long-term interests that in substance form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate or the jointly controlled entity
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Unrealised profits and lasses resulting from transactions between the Group and Its associates and jointly
controlled entities are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they are
recognised immediately in profit or loss

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business combination or an tnvestment 1n an associate
or a Jointly controlled entity over the Group's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent habilities

Goodwill 1s stated at cost less accumulated impatrment losses Goodwill arising on a business
combination Is allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash-generating units, that 1s expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination and is tested annually for impairment (see note 2(l}))

In respect of associates or jointly controlled entities, the carrying amount of goodwill i1s included in

the carrying amount of the interest in the associate or jointly controlled entity and the investrent

as a whole 15 tested for impairment whenever there i1s objective evidence of impairment {see note 2{l})

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, habilites and
contingent habifities over the cost of a business combination or an investment i an associate or a jointly
controlled entity 15 recognised immediately in profic or loss

On disposal of a cash-generating unit, an associate or a |ointly controlled entity during the year,
any attributable amount of goodwill 1s included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal

Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group's and the Company’s policies for investments in debt and equity securities, other than
investments in substdiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities, are as follows

Investments in debt and equity securities are imtially stated at fair value, which 15 their transaction price
unless fair value can be more reliably estimated using valuation techniques whose variables include

only data from observable markets Cost includes attributable transaction costs These investments are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their classification

Dated debt securities that the Group andfor the Company have the positive ability and intention to hold
to maturity are classified as held-to-matunity securities Held-to-maturity securities are stated in the
balance sheet at amortised cost less impairment losses (see note 2(l))

Investments in equity securities that do not have a quoted market price in an actuive market and whose
fair value cannot be reliably measured are recognised in the balance sheet at cost less impairment losses
{see note 2(l))

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date the Group commuts to purchase/sell the
investments or they expire
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Notes to the Financial Statements
{Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars)

2. Significant accounting policies (onnes

(h) Denivatve financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are recognised imtially at fair value At each balance sheet date the fair
value i1s remeasured The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value 1s recognised immediately in profit
or loss, except where the derivatives qualify for cash flow hedge accounting, in which case recognition of
any resultant gain or {oss depends on the nature of the item being hedged (see note 2(1))

() Hedging
(1) Fair value hedges
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are
recogmised in profit or loss, along with any changes in the fair value of the hedged assets or
habilities that are attributable to the hedged risk

() Cash flow hedges
Where a derivative financial instrument 1s designated as a hedge of the varability in cash flows of
a recognised asset or hability or a highly probable forecast transacuon or the foreign currency risk
of a commtted future transaction, the effective portion of any gains or losses on remeasurement of
the derivative financial mstrument to fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the hedging reserve The ineffective portien of any gain or loss
1s recognised immediately in profit or loss

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset
or non-financial liability, the associated gain or loss 1s reclassified from equity and included in the
inetial cost or other carrying amount of the non-financial asset or habihty

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a financial asset or
a financial hability, the associated gain or loss is reclassified from equity to profit or loss I1n the
same peniod or periods during which the asset acquired or habiity assumed affects profit or loss
(such as when interest income or expense I1s recognised)

For cash flow hedges, other than those covered by the preceding two policy statements, the
associated gain or loss 1s reclassified from equity to profit or loss in the same period or pericds
during which the hedged forecast transacton affects profit or loss

When a hedging instrument expires or 1s sold, terminated or exercised, or the Group revokes
designation of the hedge relationship but the hedged forecast transaction is still expected to
occur, the cumulative gain or loss at that point remains in equity until the transaction occurs

and 1t 1s recogmised in accordance with the above policy If the hedged transaction 1s no longer
expected co take place, the cumulative unrealised gain or loss is reclassified from equity to profit
or loss immediately

(1) Fixed assets, depreciation and amortisation

()  Fixed assets are stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated depreciation (see note 2(j)(vi)),
amortisation (see note 2(k)) and impairment losses (see note 2{I})
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The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and equipment includes the cost of materials,
direct labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing the items
and restoring the site on which they are located and an appropniate proportion of production
overheads and borrowing costs (see note 2{w})

Where parts of a fixed asset have different useful lives, the cost of the fixed asset 1s allocated

on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part 1s depreciated separately Subsequent
expenditure to replace a component of a fixed asset that 1s accounted for separately, or to improve
its operational performance 15 included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset as appropriate when it 15 probable that future economic benefits in excess of the originally
assessed standard of performance of the existing asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably All other subsequent expenditure 1s recognised as an expense n the
period in which it is incurred

Gains or losses anising from the reurement or disposal of an item of fixed asset are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 1tem and are
recogmsed n profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal

Leasehold land held for own use under operating leases is stated in the balance sheet at cost less
accumulated amortsation (see note 2(k)} and impairment losses (see note 2(1})

Depreciation 1s calculated to write off the cost of fixed assets less their estimated residual value,
if any, using the straight-line method over their esumated useful lives as follows

Years
Cable tunnels 100
Buildings 60
Ash lagoon and gas pipehine 60
Transmission and distribution equipment, overhead lines
and cables 60
Generating plant and machinery 35
Gas turbines and gas turbine combined cycle 30
Mechanical meters 30
Wind turbines 20
Electrontc meters, microwave and optical fibre equipment
and trunk radio system 15
Furniture and fixtures, sundry plant and equipment 10
Computers S5to IO
Motor vehicles and marine craft S5toé
Workshop tools and office equipment 5

Immovable assets are amortised on a straght-ine basis over the unexpired lease terms of the land
on which the immovable assets are situated if the unexpired lease terms of the land are shorter
than the esumated useful lives of the immovable assets

Both the useful hife of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually




@ Hongkang Blectrc Holdings Limited Annual Repore 2009

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars)

2. Significant accounting policies (onnue

(k) Leased assets and operating lease charges

(1)

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions,1s or contains a lease if the Group
determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use a speciic asset or assets for an agreed penod
of ume in return for a payment or a series of payments Such a determination 1s made based on

an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of whether the arrangement takes
the legal form of a lease

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating leases, payments made under the leases
are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods covered by the lease term,
except where an alternative basis 1s more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from
the leased asset

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease 1s amortised on a straight-ltne basis over the
period of the lease term

Impairment of assets

{1} Impawment of mvestments i debt and equuty securities and other receivables
Investments in debt and equity securities {(other than mvestments in subsidiaries see note 2{1)(n))
and other current and non-current receivables that are stated at cost or amorused cost
are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there 1s objecuve evidence of
tmpairment Objective evidence of impairment includes observable data that comes to the attenuon
of the Group about one or more of the following loss events

—  significant financial difficulty of the debtor,
—  a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency In interest or principal payments,
— 1t becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisauon,

- significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have
an adverse effect on the debtor, and

- asignificant or prolonged dechine in the far value of an investment in an equity instrument
below its cost

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss 1s determined and recognised as follows

- For investments in associates and jointly controlled entities recognised using the equity
method (see note 2(e)), the impairment loss 1s measured by comparing the recoverable
amount of the investment as a whole with its carrying amount in accordance with note 2{1){ii)
The impairment loss 1s reversed if there has been a favourable change n the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount in accordance with note 2{l)(u).
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For unquoted equity securities and other financial assets carried at cost, the impairment loss
1s measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset where the effect of discounung 1s material. Impairment losses for equity
securities carried at cost are not reversed

For trade and other current receivables and other financial assets carried at amortised cost,
the impairment loss 1s measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (1 e the effective interest rate computed at intual recognition of the
assets), where the effect of discounting i1s material This assessment 1s made collectively where
financial assets carried at amorused cost share similar risk characterisuces, such as similar past
due status and have not been individually assessed as impaired Future cash flows for financial
assets which are assessed for impairment collectively are based on historical loss experience
for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to the collective group

If In a subsequent period the amount of an Impairment loss decreases and the decrease

can be inked objectively to an event occurring after the iImpairment loss was recognised,
the impasrment loss is reversed through profit or loss A reversal of an impatrment loss shall
not result In the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that which would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised i prior years

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding assets directly

Impatrment of other assets

Internal and external sources of informatron are reviewed at each bzlance sheet date to identify
indications that the following assets may be wnpaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previcusly recognised no longer exists or may have decreased

fixed assets,
pre-paid interests in leasehold land classified as being held under an operatung lease,
investments in subsidiaries, and

goodwill.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount 1s estimated In addition, for goodwill,

the recoverable amount 1s estimated annuzlly whether or not there 1s any indication of impairment

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of is fair value less costs to sell and value
in use in assessing value 1n use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. YWhere an asset does not generate
cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows independently

(» e a cash-generating unit)
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2. Significant accounting policies (onnues)

"

Impairment of assets (contnueg)

(m) Impairment of other assets (continued)
= Recogmition of impairment losses
An impairment loss 1s recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount Impairment losses
recogmised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit {or group of units) and then, to
reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit {or group of units) on a pro rata
basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs to sell, or value in use, if determinable
- Reversals of mpairment losses
In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss i1s reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount An iImpairment
loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed
A reversal of an impairment loss 1s hmited to the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in which the reversals
are recognised
(m) Interim financial reporung and imparment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,
the Group 1s required to prepare an interim financial report in comphiance with HKAS 34, Interim
finanaal repartng, in respect of the first six months of the financial year At the end of the intenim
period, the Group applies the same impairment testung, recogmtion and reversal criteria as 1t would
at the end of the financial year (see notes 2(1){1) and 2(1)(n))

{mpairment losses recognised 1n an interun period in respect of goodwill and available-for-sale
equity secunities carried at cost are not reversed in a subsequent period This 1s the case even If
no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been recogmised had the impairment been assessed only at
the end of the financial year to which the interim pericd relates Consequently, if the fair value of
an available-for-sale equity security increases in the remainder of the annual period, or in any other
period subsequently, the increase Is recognised in other comprehensive income and not profit

or loss

(m) Inventories

(n)

Coal, stores, fuel o1l and hquefied natural gas are valued at cost on a weighted average basis

Cost compnises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the

inventories to their present location and condition Cost of mventories recognised as an expense includes

the write-off and all losses of inventories

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised

cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see note 2(l)}, except where the receivables are
interest-free loans made to related parties without any fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting
would be immaterial In such cases, the recevables are stated at cost less aliowance for impairment of

doubtful debts
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(o) Interest-bearing borrowings

(q)

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs
Subsequent to initial recognition, with the exception of fixed interest borrowings that are designated as
hedged items in fair value hedges (see note 2(1)(1}}, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amorused
cost with any difference between the amount initially recognised and redemption value being recogmised
in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings, together with any nterest and fees payable, using
the effective interest method

For interest-bearing borrowings that are destgnated as hedged items in farr value hedges, fair value
changes that are attributable to the hedged risk are recogmised in profit or loss (see note 2(1)(1))

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value Except for financial guarantee lhabilities
measured in accordance with note 2(t){1), trade and other payables are subsequently stated at amortsed
cost uniess the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial insttutions, and short-term, highly iquid investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes i value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition

Employee benefits

{1} Short term employee benefits
Safaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are rendered by employees Where payment or settlement
1s deferred and the effect would be material, these amounts are stated at their present values

(1)  Defined benefit retirement scheme obhgations
The Group's net obligation in respect of defined benefit reurement schemes 1s calculated separately
for each scheme by esumating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return
for their service in the current and prior periods, that benefit 1s discounted to determine the
present value and the fair value of any scheme assets is deducted The discount rate is the yield
at the balance sheet date on high quality corporate bonds that have maturity dates approximating
the terms of the Group's obligatons The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the
“Projected Unit Credit Method”

Where the calculation of the Group’s net obligation results in a negative amount, the asset
recognised is limited to the total of any cumulative unrecognised past service costs and the
present value of any future refunds from or reductions in future contributions ta the defined
benefit retirement schemes

Any cumulative unrecognised actuarial gains or losses in respect of the defined benefit retirement
schemes are recognised in full in the period in which they occur, outside profit or loss, in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
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2. Significant accounting policies oninueq

(r)

(s)

()

Employee benefits (continueq

(m) Ceontributions to defined contribution reurement schemes
Obhgations for contnbutions to defined contribution retirement schemes, including contributions
payable under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, are recognised
as an expense in profit or loss as incurred

Income tax

income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
Current tax and movements In deferred tax assets and habilities are recogmised in profit or loss except
to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised 1n other comprehensive income or directly

in equity, respectively

Current tax 1s the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years

Deferred tax assets and habihities arise from deductble and taxable temporary differences respectively,
being the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and habilittes for financial reporung
purposes and their tax bases Deferred tax assets also artse from unused tax losses and unused

tax credits

All deferred tax habiiues and all deferred tax assets, to the extent that it 1s probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be uulised, are recognised

The amount of deferred tax recognised 1s measured based on the expected manner of realisation or
sertlement of the carrying amount of the assets and habilities, using tax rates enacted or substanuvely

enacted at the balance sheet date Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset I1s reviewed at each balance sheet date and 1s reduced to

the extent that it 15 no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be avaifable to allow the related

tax benefit to be utilised Any such reduction 1s reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that
sufficrient taxable profits will be available

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset

Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent hiabilities

()  Fmancial guarantees issued
Financial guarantees are contracts that require the 1ssuer (1 e the guarantor) to make specified
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms
of a debt instrument
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Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of the guarantee (being the transaction
price, unless the fair value can otherwise be rehably estimated) is ininally recognised as deferred
income wrthin trade and other payables VWhere constderation 1s recewed or recewvable for the !
issuance of the guarantee, the consideration 1s recognised in accordance with the Group's policies ‘
applicable to that category of asset Where no such consideration is recerved or receivable, an |
immediate expense 1s recognised 0 profit or loss on nitial recognition of any deferred income
|
|

The amount of the guarantee mitially recognised as deferred income is amorused in profit or loss
over the term of the guarantee as income from financial guarantees issued In addition, provisions
are recognised in accordance with note 2(c}(n) if and when (1) 1t becomes probable that the holder
of the guarantee will call upon the Group under the guarantee, and (1) the amount of that claim
on the Group I1s expected to exceed the amount currently carried in trade and other payables

in respect of that guarantee 1 ¢ the amount intially recognised, less accumulated amortisation

Other prowistons and contingent habiities

Provisions are recognised for other habtlities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group or the
Company has a legal or constructive obhgation arising as a result of a past event, it 1s probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a relrable estimate can
be made Where the ume value of money 1s material, provisions are stated at the present value of
the expenditure expected to settle the obligation

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation i1s disclosed as a contingent labthty, unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits 1s remote Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed
as contingent habilites unless the probabity of outflow of economic benefits 1s remote

(u) Revenue recognition

{

Regulation of eornings under the Scheme of Control

The earnings of a subsidiary, The Hongkong Electric Company, Limisted ("HEC") are regulated by

the Hong Kong SAR Government (“the Government”) under a Scheme of Control (“SOC”) which
provides for a permitted level of earnings based principally on a return on HEC's capital investment
in electricity generation, transmission and distribution assets (the *Permitted Return™) The SOC ,
also provides for performance based incentives and penalties which encourage emission reduction,
customer service qualicy, energy efficiency and the use of renewable energy The Net Return of HEC
under the SOC 1s determined by deducting from the Permitted Return interest and excess capacity
adjustments, if any, and adjusung for the abovementioned incenuves and penalties HEC 15 required
to submit detailed Development Plans for approval by the Government which project the key
determinants of the Net Return to which HEC will be entitled over the Development Plan period

The Government has approved the Development Plan covering the period from 2009 to 2013 No
further Government approval is required during this period unless a need for significant Basic Tarsff
increases, over and above those set out in the Development Plan, i1s identified during the Annual
Tariff Review conducted with the Government under the terms of the SOC
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(u) Revenue recogmition (conunued)
{n)  Fuel Clause Recovery Account
Under the SOC, any difference between the standard cost of fuel, as agreed with the Government,

and the actual cost of fuel consumed s transferred to the Fuel Clause Recovery Account (“Fuel
Cost Account Adjustment”}

Fuel Clause Charges (or Rebates) are charged (or given) to customers by adding to (or deductng
from) the Basic Tanff to produce a Net Tariff payable by customers and are credited (or debited)
to the Fuel Clause Recovery Account

The balance on the Fuel Clause Recovery Account at the end of a financial year represents the
difference between Fuel Clause Charges (or Rebates) and Fuel Cost Account Adjustment during the
year, together with any balance brought forward from the prior year and interest thereon based on
prevailing market interest rates Any debit balance 15 carried forward as a deferred receivable to be
recovered from Fuel Clause Charges andfor Fuel Cost Account Adjustment and any credit balance
1s carried forward as a deferred payable to be cleared by Fuel Clause Rebates and/or Fuel Cost
Account Adjustment

Fuel Clause Charges or Rebates are utilised to smooth increases in Net Tariffs paid by customers
The impact of tariff smoothing 1s to reduce the Net Tariffs payable by customers in certain years
and increase the Net Tariffs in other years However, the tariff smoothing has no impact on HEC's
total earnings and the related balance on the Fuel Clause Recovery Account 1s expected to be
recovered by Fuel Clause Charges and/or Fuel Cost Account Adjusement

(i) Income recogmtion
Electricity income i1s recognised based on units of electricity consumed by customers during the
year at the Basic Tanff, which 1s the umit charge agreed with the Government during the Annual
Tariff Review for each financial year

Electricuty-related income and technical service fees are recognised when the related services
are rendered

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment s established

Interest income is recognised on a time apporuoned basis using the effective interest method

(v) Translation of foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars ac the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates, or at contract rates if foreign currencies are hedged by
forward foreign exchange contracts Monetary assets and liabihities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date

Exchange gains and losses n respect of fixed assets under construction are, up to the date of
commissioning, incorporated in the cost of the assets All other exchange differences are dealt with
in profit or loss
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Non-monetary assets and habilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are transhated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates Non-monetary assets and
liabiliwes denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling ac the dates the fair value was determined

The results of operations outside Hong Kong are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the average
exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions Balance
sheet items are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign exchange rates at the balance
sheet date The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve

On disposal of an operation cutside Hong Kong, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences
relaung to that operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal
Is recognised

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly auributable to the acquisition, construction or production of

an asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of ume to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being sncurred, borrowing costs are being ncurred and activities that are
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress Capitahsation of borrowing
tosts 15 suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the quahfying asset
for its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete

Related parties
For the purposes of these financial statements, a party i1s considered to be related to the Group if

(1) the party has the ability, directly or indirectly through one or more mtermediaries, to control the
Group or exercise significant influence over the Group 1n making financial and operating policy
decisions, or has joint control over the Group,

{n) the Group and the party are subject to common control,

{m} the party 1s an associate of the Group or a joint venture in which the Group Is a venturer,

(iv) the party 1s a member of key management personne! of the Group or the Group’s parent, or a ¢lose
family member of such an indvidual, or 1s an entrty under the control, joint control or significant

influence of such indmiduals,

{(v) the party is a close family member of a party referred to in (i) or is an entity under the control,
joint control or significant influence of such individuals, or

(v1)) the party is a post-employment benefit plan which is for the benefit of employees of the Group
or of any entity that 15 a related party of the Group

Close family members of an individual are those family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the entity
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2.

3‘

Significant accounting policies omunuey

(y) Segment reporung
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment izem reported in the financial statements,
are identfied from the financial information provided regularly to the Group's most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical {ocations

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economtc characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products

and services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services and the nature of the regulatory environment Operating
segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has i1ssued one new HKFRS, a number of amendments to HKFRSs and new Interpretations that
are first effective for the current accounting period of the Group and the Company Of these, the following
developments are relevant to the Group’s financial statements

- HKFRS 8, Operating segments

- HKAS | (revised 2007), Presentation of financial statements

~  Amendments to HKFRS 7, Financial mstruments Disclosures — improving disclosures about financial instruments
—  Improvements to HKFRSs (2008)

= Amendments to HKAS 27, Consolidated and separate financial statements — cost of an investment n
a subsidiary, jointly controfled entity or asseciate

- HKAS 23 (revised 2007), Berrowing costs

The “Improvements to HKFRSs (2008)" comprise a number of minor amendments to a range of HKFRSs
These, together with the amendments to HKAS 23 have had no material impact on the Group's financial
statements as the amendments were consistent with pohcies already adopted by the Group The impact

of the remainder of these developments is as follows

—  HKFRS 8 requires segment disclosure to be based on the measures reported to the Group's chief
operating decision maker for the purposes of assessing segment performance and making decisions about
operating matters The adoption of HKFRS 8 has resulted in the presentation of segment information
in 3 manner that 1s more consistent with internal reporting provided to the Group's chief operating
decision maker Corresponding amounts have been provided on a basis consistent with the revised
segment information
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—  As a result of the adoption of HKAS | (revised 2007), details of changes in equity during the year arising
from transactions with equity shareholders in their capacity as such have been presented separately from
all other income and expenses In a revised consohidated statement of changes in equity All other items of
income and expense are presented in the consohdated income statement, if they are recognised as part
of profit or loss for the period, or otherwise in a new primary statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income Corresponding amounts have been restated to conform to the new presentation
This change in presentation has no effect on reported profit or loss, total ncome and expense or net
assets for any period presented

—  As aresult of the adoption of the amendments to HKFRS 7, the Group's financial statements include
expanded disclosures in note 28(f) about the fair value measurement of the Group’s financial instruments,
categorising these fair value measurements into a three-tevel fatr value hierarchy according to the extent
to which they are based on observable market data The Group has taken advantage of the transitional
provisions set out in the amendments to HKFRS 7, under which comparatve informauon for the newly
required disclosures about the fair value measurements of financial instruments has not been provided

—  The amendments to MKAS 27 have removed the requirement that dividends out of pre-acquisition profits
should be recogmised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment n the investee, rather
than as income As a result, as from st January 2009, all dividends receivable from subsidiaries, associates
and jorntly controlled entities, whether out of pre- or post-acquisition profits, will be recognised in the
Company’s profit or loss and the carrying amount of the investment in the investee will not be reduced
uniess that carrying amount 1s assessed to be impaired as a result of the investee declaring the dividend
In such cases, in addition to recognising dividend income in profit or loss, the Company would recognise
an impairment loss In accordance with the transitional provisions in the amendment, this new policy
will be applied prospectively to any dividends receivable in the current or future periods and previous
periods have not been restated

Turnover
The principal activities of the Group are the generatton and supply of electricity

Group turnover represents the sales of electricity, other electricity-refated income and engineering and
consulting services fees The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised i turnover during
the year 1s as follows.

2009 2008

$ million $ milhen

Sales of electricity 10,331 12,704
Concesstonary discount on sales of electricity (6) (6)
Electricity-related income 42 33
Technical service fees 8 12

10,395 12,773
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5.

Other revenue and other net income

2009 2008

$ million $ million

Interest income from financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss 756 959
Dividend income from unlisted available-for-sale equity securities 22 7
Curtailment loss on defined benefit retirement scheme (see note 25) - (24)
Foretgn exchange gain on foans and receivables 3 35
Net profit on sale of fixed assets !
Sundry income 32 42
815 1,020

Segment information

In a manner consistent with the way in which mformation 1s reported internally to the Group's most senior
executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group has
aggregated operating segments with similar characteristics to present the following reportable segments

Sales of electricity this segment supphes electricity in Hong Kong

Infrastructure investments this segment invests in electricity and other infrastructure projects

All other activities this segment represents other activities carried out by the Group

The basis of accounting for the Group’s segment information 1s the same as that for the Group’s financial
statements The financial informauon about the Group’s segments 15 set out in Appendix | on pages 109

to 110

Finance costs

2009 2008

$ million $ million

Interest on overdrafts, bank loans and other borrowings repayable within 5 years 319 482

Interest on other borrowings repayable over 5 years 71 82

Less Interest capitalised to fixed assets {43) (89)

Interest transferred to fuel cost {13) (12)
Total interest expense on financial habiities not at fair value through

profit or loss 334 463

Interest expenses have been capitalised at an average rate of approximately | 7% per annum (2008 3 % per

annum) for assets under construction
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8. Profit before taxation

2009 2008
$ million $ million
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting)
Depreciation 1,564 1,456
Amortisation of leasehold land 58 58
Costs of inventories 4,093 3,609
Write down of Inventories 13 5
Staff costs 462 509
Operaung lease charges
— hire of equipment 34 62
Fixed assets written off 35 25
Net (gain)/loss on cash flow hedging instruments reclassified from equity
- Interest rate swaps 5 (2)
~ forward foreign exchange contracts - 5
Auditors’ remuneration
~ audit and audit related work
- KPMG 5 5
— other audrtors 1 |
— non-audit work
- KPMG 2
- other auditors 3 5

The consohidated profit ateributable to equity shareholders of the Company includes a profit of $6,055 milhon
(2008 $6,987 milion) which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company
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9. Income tax in the consolidated income statement

(a)

(b)

Taxation in the consolidated income statement represents

2009 2008
$ million $ million
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax
Provision for the year 853 963
Over-provision n respect of prior years {50) -
803 963
Current tax — operations outside Hong Kong
Provision for the year 4 2
Tax credit for the year 31) (19)
27) (7
776 946
Deferred tax (see note 26(b)(1)}
Oniginavion and reversal of temporary differences 143 364
Effect on deferred tax balances at fst Januvary resultng
from a change tn tax rate - 310)
143 54
219 1,000

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2009 is calculated at 16 5% (2008 16 5%) of the estimated

assessable profits for the year

Taxation for operations outside Hong Kong is charged at the appropriate current rates of taxation ruling

in the relevant countries

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at applicable tax rates.

2009 2008
$ miflion $ mullion
Profit before taxation 1,790 9,339
Notional tax on profit before taxation, calculated at the rates
applicable to profits in the tax jurisdictions concerned 1,034 1,423
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 18 34
Tax effect of non-taxable income (zn (+47)
Tax effect of recognition of previously unrecognised temporary differences k1] -
Over-provision in respect of prior years (50) -
Effect on deferred tax balances at Ist January resulting
from a change in tax rate - 310}
Actual tax expense 219 1,000




Hangkang Electrie Holdngs Limited Annual Report 2009 o

10. Directors’ emoluments and senior management emoluments

(a) Directors’ emoluments
Directors’ emoluments comprise payments to Directors by the Company and i1ts subsidiaries in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries The emoluments
of each of the Directors of the Company are as follows

Basic
salaries,
allowances  Retirement 1009 2008
and other scheme Total Totaé
Fees benefits contributions Bonuses emoluments  emoluments
Name of Directors $ million $ million $ milhon $ million $ million $ million
Executive Directors
Fok Kin Ning, Canning ¥ 012 075 - - 087 on
Chairman
Tso Kai Sum 007 636 - 902 15 45 1332
Group Managing Director
Chow Woo Mo Fang, Susan 007 009 - - 016 0l
Andrew John Hunter 007 008 - - 015 0ls
Kam Hing Lam 007 005 - - 012 013
L1 Tzar Kuol,Victor 007 053 - - 0460 068
Neil Douglas McGee O 007 397 028 239 6.71 671
Group Finance Director
Frank John Sixt 007 006 - - 0.13 0ll
Wan Chi Tin 007 421 08l 367 876 804
Drrector of Engineering
{Planning and Development)
Yuen Sur See 007 327 o 143 548 486
Drrector of Gperatrons
HNon-executive Directors
Ronald Joseph Arculli @ 014 005 - - 0.19 020
Lee Lan Yee, Francis ® 007 002 - - 009 515
George Colin Magnus 007 003 - - 0.10 010
Holger Kluge @@ 014 - - - 014 014
Ralph Raymond Shea ® @16 016 004 - - 0.20 020
Wong Chung Hin @& 016 009 - - 0.25 025
Total for the year 2009 1 49 19.60 1.80 16.51 3%.40 4295
Total for the year 2008 1 48 2197 114 1836 4195
Notes

(U] During the year Mr Neil Douglat McGee received director's fees of THBE425 000 from Ratchaburi Power Company, Limited, an astociate
of the Group The diractors faes were then pald back to the Company

{2) Independent non-executive director

{3y Membar of the Audit Carmmittes

) Member of the Remuneration Committes

{5) Appotnted as a director with effect from March 2008

(6) Re-designated from an Executive Direceor to 3 Non-executive Dirgctor in August 2008
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10. Directors’ emoluments and senior management emoluments (comnue)

(b) Senior management emoluments
The five highest paid individuals of the Group included four directors (2008 five) whose total
emoluments are shown above The emoluments of the other one individual (2008 Nil) who comprises
the five highest paid individuals of the Group are set out below

2009 2008
$ million $ million
Salary and other benefits 3.45 -
Retirement scheme contrtbutions 0.56 -
4.01 -

The total emoluments of the individual (2008 Nil} are within the following band
2009 2008
Number Number

$4,000,001 to $4,500,000 | -

[1. Scheme of Control transfers

The financial operations of HEC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, are governed by the SOC agreed
with the Government which provides for HEC to earn a Permitted Return (see note 2{u){1)) Any excess

or deficiency of the gross tariff revenue over the sum of total operating costs, SOC Net Return and 50OC
taxation charges 1s transferred to/(from) a Tanifl Stabilisation Fund from/{to) the income statement of HEC
When transfer from the Tanff Stabilisation Fund to the income statement 1s required, the amount transferred
shall not exceed the balance of the Taniff Stabilisation Fund In addition, a charge calculated by applying the
average one-month Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate on the average balance of the Tanff Stabilisation Fund
1s transferred from the income statement of HEC to a Rate Reduction Reserve, which amount 15 subsequently
rebated to customers Movements in the Tariff Stabilisation Fund and Rate Reduction Reserve are as follows

() Tariff Stabilisacion Fund

2009 2008

$ mithion $ mufhon

At |Ist January 31 14
Transfer from the income statement 174 297

At 31st December 485 311

(b) Rate Reduction Reserve

2009 2008

$ mithon % mallion

At st January L4 |
Transfer from the income statement - 13

At 31st December 14 14




12. Earnings per share

13.

The calculation of earnings per share 1s based on the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of
the Company of $6.697 million (2008 $8,029 mullion) and 2,134,261,654 ordinary shares (2008 2,134,261,654
ordinary shares) in 1ssue throughout the year

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in existence during the years ended 31st December 2009

and 2008
Fixed assets
Interests in
leasehold
land held
Site Plant, for own
formation machinery Assets use under Total
and and under operating fixed
$ million buildings equipment construction  Sub-total leases assets
Cost:
At Ist January 2008 13,429 52,728 2,623 68,780 2813 71,593
Additons 8 2l 1,753 2,082 2 2,084
Transfers between categories 218 1,651 (1,866) - - -
Disposals - (167} - (167} - (167)
At 31st December 2008 13,652 54,533 2,510 70,695 2,815 73,510
At st January 2009 13,652 54,533 2,510 70,695 1,815 73,510
Additions [ 767 1,978 2,751 - 1,751
Transfers between categories 46 1,902 (1.,948) - - -
Disposals - (223) - (123) - (223)
At 31st December 2009 13,704 56,979 2,540 73,223 1,815 76,038
Accumulated amortisation
and depreciation:
At st January 2008 4,193 20,852 - 25,045 4%0 25,535
Written back on disposals - {130) - {130) - (130)
Charge for the year 234 1,325 - 1,559 58 1,617
At 31st December 2008 4,427 22,047 - 26,474 548 27,022
At |st January 2009 4,427 12,047 - 26,474 548 27,021
Written back on disposals - (172) - (172) - (172
Charge for the year 237 1,429 - 1,668 58 1,724
At 315t December 2009 4,664 13,304 - 27,958 606 28,574
Net book value:
At 3ist December 2009 9,040 33,675 2,540 45,255 1,209 47,464
At 31st December 2008 9,225 32,486 2,510 44,22) 2,267 46,488

The above are mainly electricity-related fixed assets in respect of which financing costs capitalised during
the year amounted to $43 milion (2008 $89 milhion)
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!3- Fixed assets (contnued)

The Group's leasehold land at 3 1st December 2009 1s held in Hong Kong and comprises long term and
medium term leasehold land with carrying values of $42 million {2008 $45 million) and $2,167 milhon

14

15

-

(2008 $2,222 milhon) respectively

Depreciation charges for the year included $102 million (2008 $103 million), relating to assets utilised in

development acuvities which has been capitahsed

Investments in subsidiaries

The Company

2009 2008
$ million $ mibion
Unhsted shares, at cost 2,776 2,776
Loan capital (see note below) 8,845 21,845
Amounts due from subsidiaries 28,574 10,088
40,195 34,709
Loan capital represents an investment of funds in HEC as permanent shareholders’ imvestment
The amounts due from substdiaries are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed repayment terms
Partuiculars of the principal substdiaries are set out in Appendix 2 an page 11
Interest in associates
The Group
2009 2008
$ million $ million
Share of net assets 5,616 4,600
Loans to unlisted associates (see note below) 6,600 5,165
Amounts due from unlisted associates {see note below) 256 156
13,472 9.921

The loans to unlisted associates are unsecured, mterest bearing at rates ranging from 1085% per annum
to 13 79% per annum (2008 6 28% per annum to 13 79% per annum) and are not due within five years

Included tn the loans to unlisted associates are subordinated loans totalling $5,810 million (2008 $4,542
milhon} The rights In respect of these loans are subordinated to the rights of any other lenders to the

associates and they are treated as part of the investment in the associates

The amounts due from unlisted associates are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed repayment terms

Neither the loans to unlisted associates nor the amounts due from unlisted associates are past due

or impaired
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At 315t December 2009, the Group's interests in an associate of $740 milhon (2008 $552 mitlion) have been
pledged as part of the security to secure bank borrowings granted to that associate

The financial guarantees 1ssued by the Company in respect of banking facilities available to associates have
been disclosed in note 31

Paruculars of the principal associates are set out in Appendix 3 on page |12

Summarised financial informatton based on the unaudited management accounts of the associates 1s as folows

2009 2008

$ million § mulhon

Assets 112,143 87,333

Liabilities (94,101) (74,513)

Equity 18,042 12,820

Revenues 24,519 18,107

Profit 2,826 1,503
Interest in jointly controlled entities

The Group

2009 2008

$ million $ million

Share of net assets 5,742 159

Amounts due from unlisted jointly controlled entities (see note below) 51 -

5,793 159

During the year ended 315t December 2009, the Group acquired equity interests in certain jointfy controlled
entities from a shareholder of the Company, at 2 purchase consideration, before direct costs, of $5,680 milhon
(see note 32(a))

The amounts due from unlisted jointly controlled entities are unsecured, mterest free and have no fixed
repayment terms They are neither past due nor impaired

At 3ist December 2009, the Group’s interests 1n a jotntly controlled entity of $2,921 million (2008 Nil) have
been pledged as part of the security to secure bank borrowings granted to that jointly controlled entity

The financial guarantees i1ssued by the Group in respect of banking facihtes available to jointly controlled
enuities have been disclosed in note 3!

Particulars of the principal jointly controlled entities are set out 1n Appendix 4 on page |13
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6. Interest in jointly controlled entities (onimes

Summanised financial information based on the unaudited management accounts of the |ointly controlled

18.

entities Is as follows

2009 2008
$ million $ mullion
Assets 16,887 1,053
Liabilities (7,626) (706)
Equity 9,251 47
Revenues 8,586 -
Profit 1,794 -
Other non-current financial assets
The Group
2009 2008
$ million $ million
Unlisted available-for-sale equity securittes, at cost &7 66
Inventories
The Group
2009 2008
$ million % milhon
Work in progress - I
Coal, fuel o1l and liquefied natural gas 629 375
Stores and materials (see note below) 301 283
930 659

Included in stores and materials 1s capital stock of $189 million (2008 $190 million) which was purchased for

future capital projects

Trade and other receivables

The Group The Company

2009 2008 2009 2008
$ million $ million $ miilion $ million
Trade debtors (see note below) 616 670 - -
Other receivables 402 444 2 30
1,018 1,114 2 30

Dervative financial instruments

— held as cash flow/fair value hedging

instruments 13 2 - —
Deposits and prepayments 28 31 3 3
1,05¢ 1,147 5 33

All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered within one year
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Other receivables of the Group include unbilled electricity charges of $375 milion (2008 $390 million) to be
received from electmcity customers

The ageing analysis of trade debtors, which are neither individually nor collectively considered to be impaired,
are as follows

The Group
2009 2008
$ million $ million
Current 569 625
| to 3 months past due 35 31
More than 3 months past due but less than 12 months past due 12 14
Total trade debtors 616 670

Electricity bills 1ssued to domestic, small industrial, commercial and miscellaneous customers for electricity
supplies are due upon presentation whereas maximum demand customers are allowed a credit period of 16
working days If settlements by maximum demand customers are received after the credit period, a surcharge
of 5% can be added to the electricity bills

Trade debtors for electricity charges that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a wide range of
customers for whom there was no recent history of default

Trade debtors for electnicity charges that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent
customers HEC, a wholly-owned subsidiary, obtains sufficient collateral in the form of security deposits from
customers (see note 28(a)) and the balances are considered to be fully recoverable

The Group's trade debtors are individually assessed for impairment Any impairment losses are written off
against the trade debtors directly No separate account 1s maintained for imparrment losses

Fuel Clause Recovery Account
The Fuel Clause Charges per unit for electricity sales was 25 4 cents from st January 2009 (2008 105 cents}
Movements on the Fuel Clause Recovery Account were as follows

The Group
2009 2008
$ million $ mullion
At Ist January 998 336
Transfer to profit or loss 2,329 1,802
Fuel Clause Charges during the year (2,775) (1,140)
At 31st December 552 998

This account, inclusive of interest, has been and will continue to be used to stabilise electricity tariffs
(see note 2(u)(n))

The outstanding amount of Fuel Clause Recovery Account is nerther past due nor impaired (see note 2{u)(n))
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21. Bank deposits and cash

(a)

Bank deposits and cash comprise

The Group The Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
% mllion $ million $ mithon $ million

Deposits with banks and other financial

instieutions with 3 months or less to

maturity when placed 4,993 7,104 4,993 7.086
Cash at bank and in hand 100 3 2 6
Cash and cash equivalents for the

purpose of the cash flow statement 5,093 7,135
Deposits with banks and other financial

institutions with more than 3 months to

maturity when placed - 1,827 - 1,827
Bank deposits and cash for the purpose of

the balance sheet 5,093 8,962 4,995 8919
Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash generated from operations

2009 2008
Note $ million $ million

Profit before taxation 7.790 9,339
Adjustments for

Share of profits less losses of associates (898) (732}

Share of profits less losses of jointly controlled entities (632) -

Interest income S (156) (959)

Diwidend income from unlisted available-for-sale

equity securities 5 {22) N

Finance costs 7 347 475

Depreciation 8 1,564 1,456

Amorusation of leasehold lznd 8 58 58

Fixed assets written off 8 35 25

Net profit on sale of fixed assets 5 {2) )

Exchange losses/(gains) 36 (35)

Financial instrument revaluation (gamn)/loss {2) 3
Changes in working capital

Increase 1n inventories {(x71) {107}

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other recevables 57 {29)

Decrease/(increase} in Fuel Clause Recovery Account 446 (662)

Increase in trade and other payables 256 37

(Decrease)/increase in net employee retirement

benefit habilities (121) 26

Cash generated from operations 7,884 8,887
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Trade and other payables

The Group The Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
$ million $ million $ million $ million

Creditors measured at amortised cost
(see note below) 1,597 1,161 43 4]
Dervative financial instruments
= held as cash flow/fair value
hedging instruments 3 12 - 2

1,600 1,173 43 43

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled within one year

Creditors’ ageing 15 analysed as follows

The Group
2009 2008
$ millilon $ mullien
Due within | month or on demand 709 572
Oue after |1 month but within 3 months 315 247
Due after 3 months but within 12 manths 563 342
1,597 1,161
Non-current interest-bearing borrowings
The Group
200% 2008
$ million $ milion
Bank loans 9,192 8,24}
Current portion - (1,687)
2,192 6,554
Hong Kong dollar notes (see note below) 3,055 2,426
Total 12,247 8,980

Hong Kong dollar fixed rate notes bear interest at rates between 3 28% to 4 55% per annum (2008 4 {3%
to 4 55% per annum), while interest on floaung rate notes 1s determined with reference to the Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate Details of the issuer of Hong Kong dollar notes are set out in Appendix 2 on
page |11 None of the non-current interest-bearing borrowings 1s expected to be settled within one year
All the above borrowings are unsecured

Same banking facilities of the Group are subject to the fulfilment of covenants relating to certain of the
Group's balance sheet rauos, as are commonly found in lending arrangements with financial institutions If the
Group were to breach the covenants, the drawn down facilities would become payable on demand The Group
regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants Further details of the Group’s management of quidity
risk are set out in note 28(b) As at 315t Decernber 2009 and 2008, none of the covenants relating to drawn
down facilities had been breached
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23. Non-current interest-bearing borrowings (onined

These borrowings have final maturities extending up to 2016 and are repayable as follows

Hong Kong
Bank loans dollar notes Total
$ million 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
Within | year - 1,687 - - - 1,687
After | year but within 2 years 4,200 - - - 4,200 -
After 2 years but within 5 years 4,992 6,554 1,03} 529 6,023 7,083
After 5 years - - 2,024 1,897 1,024 1,897
2.192 8,241 3,058 2,426 12,247 10,667
24. Derivative financial instruments
The Group The Company

2009 2008 2009 2008
% mullion $ millon $ mullion $ mulhion

Dervauve financial instruments used for hedging
- Interest rate swaps 5 (85) _ -
— Foreign exchange forward contracts 10 (6) - (2)
Total 15 (91 - (2)

Current portion of derivative financial instruments
(see notes 19 and 22) (10) to - 2
5 (81) - -

Represented by

Derwvative financial instruments assets 34 29 - -
Derivative financial instruments labilitres (26) (110} - -
5 (81) - -

25. Employee retirement benefits

The Group offers three retirement schemes which together cover all permanent staff

One of the schemes (“the Pension Scheme”) provides pension benefits based on the employee’s final basic
salary and length of service This scheme 1s accounted for as a defined benefit retirement scheme

Another scheme is defined contribution in nature and offers its members chotces to invest 1n various
investment funds In respect of one mvestment fund on which the Group provides a guaranteed return,
the scheme 15 accounted for as a defined benefit retirement scheme In respect of the other investment

funds which do not offer a guaranteed return, the scheme 1s accounted for as a defined contribution

retirement scheme

Both these schemes are established under trust and are registered under the Hong Kong Occupational
Retrement Schemes Ordinance The assets of the schemes are held independently of the Group’s assets

in separate trustee administered funds
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Since the introducuon of the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the MPF Scheme™) in
December 2000, the Group has also participated in a master trust MPF Scheme operated by an independent
service provider Since December 2000, all new recruits are enrolled in the MPF Scheme

The MPF Scheme 1s a defined contribution retirement scheme with the employer and its employees each
contributing to the plan in accordance with the relevant scheme rules The MPF Scheme rules provide
for voluntary contributions to be made by the employer calculated as a percentage of the employees’

basic salaries

(a) Defined benefit retrement schemes (“the Schemes™)

The funding policy in respect of the Pension Scheme 15 based on valuations prepared periodically by
independent professionally qualified actuaries at Towers Watson Hong Kong Limited The policy for
employer's contributions 1s to fund the scheme in accordance with the actuary’s recommendations on an
on-going basis The principal actuarial assumptions used include a long term yield gap, which 15 the long
term expected rate of investment return net of salary increases of 2 2% per annum, pension increases of
2 5% per annum, together with appropriate provisions for mortality rates, turnover and adjustments to
reflect the short-term market expectation of salary increases The most recent actuarial valuation of the
Pension Scheme was carried out by the appointed actuary, represented by Mr A Wong, FSA, FCIA as at
Ist January 2008 The valuation revealed that the assets of the Pension Scheme were sufficient to cover
the aggregate vested liabilities as at the valuation date

The retrement scheme expense/income recognised In profit or loss for the year ended 31st December
2009 was determined in accordance with HKAS 19, Employee benefits

() The amounts recognised in the balance sheets are as follows

The Group The Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
$ million $ millhion $ milhon $ mullion
Present value of funded obligations (4,976} (5.995) (529) (613)
Fair value of assets of the Schemes 4,563 4,458 378 349
(413) (1,537) {151) (264)
Represented by

Employee retirement benefit assets 486 - 24 -

Employee retirement benefit
habilities (899) (1,537) (175) {264)
(413) (1.537) {151) {264)

The assets of the Schemes did not mclude ordinary shares 1ssued by the Company for the years
ended 31st December 2009 and 2008

A portion of the above asset/liability 1s expected to be realised/settled after more than one year
However, it 1s not practicable to segregate this amount from the amounts payable in the next twelve
moaths, as future contributions will also relate to future services rendered and future changes in
actuarial assumptions and market conditions
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25. Employee retirement benefits oninceq

(a) Defined benefit retirement schemes (“the Schemes”) (eontinued)
(n) Changes in present value of funded obligations are as follows

The Group The Company ‘

2009 2008 2009 2008

$ million $ milhon $ million $ million ‘
At Ist January 5,99% 4510 613 464 ‘
Current service cost 149 129 10 2 :
Interest cost 72 155 7 16
Employee contributions paid to

the Schemes 25 28 p 2

Actuarial {gains)flosses (834) 1,401 (85) 145
Benefits paid (431) (252) (18) (24)
Curtailment loss - 24 - I
At 31Ist December 4,976 5,995 519 613

{m) Changes in far value of assets of the Schemes are as follows

The Group The Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
$ million $ mulhon % million $ miliion

At Ist january 4,458 5,086 349 421
Expected return on assets of

the Schemes 250 225 0 22
Actuarial gains/{losses) 168 (686) 19 (76)
Employer contributions paid to

the Schemes 93 57 6 4
Employee contributions paid to

the Schemes 25 28 2 2
Benefits paid (434) {252) (18) (24)
At 31st December 4,563 4,458 378 349

The Group expects to contribute $93 million to 1ts defined benefit retirement schemes in 2010

(v) The expense/(income) recognised in the consolidated income statement, prior to any capitalisation
of employment costs attributable to fixed assets additions, 1s as follows

2009 2008

$ millton $ milion

Current service cost 149 129
Interest cost 72 155
Expected return on assets of the Schemes (250} (225)
Curtaitment loss - 24

(29} 83
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The expense/(income) 1s recognised in the following line wems in the consohdated income

statement
2009 2008
% million $ milhon
Direct costs (2%) 36
Other operating costs (4) 23
Other revenue and other net income - 24
(19) 83

The actual return on assets of the Schemes (taking into account all changes in the fair value of the
assets of the Schemes excluding contributions patd and received) was a net profit of $418 mullion
(2008 net loss of $461 milhon)

(v) The cumulatrve amount of actuarial gains and losses recognised in the consohdated statement of
comprehensive income 1s as follows

2009 2008

% million $ million

At st January 2,238 151
Actuarial (gains)/losses recognised in the consaolidated statement of

comprehensive iIncome during the year (1,002) 2,087

At 31st December 1,236 2,238

(vi) The major categortes of assets of the Schemes as a percentage of total assets of the Schemes
are as follows

The Group and
the Company

2009 2008
Hong Kong equities 50% 37%
Europe equities 6.0% 6 6%
North America equities 6.3% 52%
Other Asia Pacific equities 3.0% 39%
Global bonds 75.4% 78 1%
Deposits, cash and others 4.3% 25%

100% 100%
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25. Employee retirement benefits ontinen

(a) Defined benefit retirement schemes (“the Schemes™) (continued)

(vi}  The principal actuarial assumptions used as at 31st December (expressed as a weighted average)

are as follows

The Group and
the Company

2009 2008
Discount rate 2.6% 1 2%
Expected rate of return on assets of the Schemes 5.1%-63% 53%-72%
Long term salary increase rate 5.0% 50%
Future pension wncrease rate 25% 25%

The expected long-term rate of return on assets of the Schemes 1s based on the portfolio as
a whole and not on the sum of the returns on individual asset categories

(ven) The amounts recognised in respect of defined benefit retirement schemes for the current and

previous years are as follows

The Group The Company
$ mullron 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Present value of
funded obligauions (4,976} (5,995} (4.510) (4.410) (4.151) (529) (613) (4e4) (438) (393)
Fair value of assers of
the Schemes 4,563 4,458 5086 4599 3986 378 349 42} 391 i37
(Deficityfsurplus (413) (1.537) 576 189 (165)  (151) {284) (43) 47 (56)
Expertence
adjustments on
Scheme liabilities 107 21 {26) {(45) (8) 9 {4) {8) (26) (10)
Scheme assets 148 {686) g7 47 67 19 (76) 23 49 13
(b) Defined contribution retirement scheme
2009 2008
$ million $ million
Expenses recognised in the consolidated income statement 6 4

No forfeited contribution has been received during the year (2008 $0 2 mdlion)
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26. Income tax in the balance sheet
(a) Current taxation in the balance sheet represents

The Group The Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
$ milhon $ million $ million $ milhon
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax
for the year 853 963 - -
Provisional Profits Tax paid (617) (781) - -
236 182 - -
Balance of Profits Tax provision
relating to prior years - é - 9
236 188 - 9

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised
{) The components of deferred tax (assets)/labilities recogmsed in the consolidated balance sheet
and the movements during the year are as follows

The Group
Depreciation

allowances Fuel

in excess of Clause

the related Recovery
depreciation Account Others Total
$ milhen $ mihion $ mullion $ million
At st January 2008 5373 59 12 5,444
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss (53) 105 2 54
Credited to other comprehensive income - - (30) (30)
At 3Ist December 2008 5,320 164 (16) 5,468
At ist January 2009 5,320 164 (16) 5,468
Charged/{credited) to profit or loss 218 (13) (1) 143
Charged to other comprehensive income - - 9 9
At 3ist December 2009 5,518 91 {?) 5,620

(1) Recconcihation to the balance sheet
The Group

2009 2008
% million $ million
tNet deferred tax assets recognised on the balance sheet (2) (n
Net deferred tax babiities recognised on the balance sheet 5,622 5,479
5,620 5,468

The Group had no material unprovided deferred tax assets or habilities as at 31st December 2009
and 2008
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27. Capital, reserves and dividends

(a) Movements In components of equity
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each component of the Group’s

consolidated equity 15 set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity Details of the changes
in the Company's individual components of equity between the beginning and the end of the year are

set out below

The Company

Proposed/
Share Share Hedging Revenue declared
capital premium reserve reserve  dividend Total
(note {note {note (note
$ mill:on 27(c)) 27(d)))  27{(d)(w))  27(d)(av))
Balance at Ist fanuary 2008 2,134 4,476 5 31,292 3,052 40,959
Changes in equity for 2008
Final dividend in respect of
the previous year approved
and paid (see note 27(b)(n)) - - - - (3.052) (3.052)
Interim dwidend paid
(see nore 27{b){1)) - - - (1.323) - (1.323)
Proposed final dividend
(see note 27(b)(1)) - - - (3.180) 3,180 -
Total comprehensive (loss)/
income for the year - - (5) 6,766 - 6761
Balance at 3)st December 2008
and Ist January 2009 7,134 4,476 - 33,555 3,180 43,345
Changes in equity for 2009
Final dividend in respect of
the previous year approved
and paid (see note 27(b)(n)) - - - - (3,180) (3,180}
Interim dividend paid
{see note 27{b)(1}) - - - {1,323 - (1,113}
Proposed final dividend
(see note 27(b){1}) - - - (3,180) 3,180 -
Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - 6,159 - 6,159
Balance at
31st December 2009 2,134 4,476 - 35,211 3,180 45,001

All of the Company’s revenue reserve is available for distribution to equity shareholders After the
balance sheet date, the Directors proposed a final dividend of $1 49 (2008 $1 49) per ordinary share,
amounting to $3,180 milion (2008 $3,180 milhion)
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(b) Diwvidends
{1 Dwmidends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the year

2009 2008
$ million $ mullion
Interim dividend declared and paid of 62 cents per ordinary share
(2008 62 cents per ordinary share) 1,323 1,323
Final dividend proposed after the balance sheet date of $1 49
per ordinary share (2008 $1 49 per ordinary share) 3,180 3,180
4,503 4,503

The final dividend proposed after the balance sheet date s based on 2,134,261,654 ordinary shares
(2008 2,134,261,654 ordinary shares), being the total number of issued shares at the year end The
final dividend proposed after the balance sheet date has not been recognised as a hability at the

balance sheet date

(1)  Dmdends payable to equrty shareholders of the Company attnbutable to the previous financial yeor,

approved ond paid during the yeor

2009 2008
$ million $ mallion
Final diidend 1n respect of the previous financial year, approved
and paid during the year of 31 49 per ordinary share
{2008 $1 43 per ordinary share} 3,180 3,052

(c) Share capital

The Company

2009 2008
Number of shares % mullion $ million
Authorised:
Ordimary shares of $1 each 3,300,000,000 3,300 3,300
Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of $1 each 2,134,261,654 2,134 2,134

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from tme to ume and are
enttled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company All ordinary shares rank equally with regard

to the Company’s residual assets
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27. Capital, reserves and dividends (conunueq

(d)

()

Nature and purpose of reserves

() Share prermum
The application of the share premium account 1s governed by Section 48B of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance

{1}  Exchange reserve
The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of operations outside Hong Kong The reserve 1s dealt with in accordance with
the accounting pohcies set out in note 2(v}

(ni) Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumutative net change 1n the fair value
of hedging instruments used 1n cash flow hedges (net of any deferred tax effect) pending subsequent
recogmtion of the hedged cash flow 1n accordance with the accounting policy adopted for cash flow
hedges in note 2(1){n)

{tv) Revenuc reserve
The revenue reserve comprises the accumuiated profits retained by che Company and its
subsidiaries and includes the Group's share of the retained profits of its asscaates and jontly
controlled entrties

Capital management
The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are

—  to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a gotng concern, so that i1t can continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders,

—  to provide returns to shareholders by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost,
- to support the Group's stability and future growth, and
- to provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the Group’s nsk management capability

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure, taking into consideration the
future capital requirements of the Group and capital efficiency, forecast profitability, forecast operating
cash flows, forecast capital expenditure and projected investment opportunities

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monstors its capital structure on the basis of a net debt-to-
equity ratio For this purpose the Group defines net debt as interest-bearing borrowings (as shown in
the consolidated balance sheet) less bank deposits and cash Equity comprises all components of equity
(as shown in the consoltdated balance sheet)

During 2009, the Group's strategy, which was unchanged from 2008, was to control tts net debt-to-equity
ratuoc in order to secure access to finance at a reasonable cost In order to maintain or adjust the ratio,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 1ssue new shares, return capital to
shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt
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The net debt-to-equity ratio at 31st December 2009 and 2008 was as follows

The Group

2009 2008

$ million $ million

Interest-bearing borrowings 12,247 10,667
Less Bank deposits and cash (5,093) (8,962)
Net debt 7,154 1,705
Total equity 52,144 47.327
Net debt-to-equity ratio 14% 4%

During the current year, the Company acted as the guarantor i respect of certain loan facilities granted
to 1ts subsidiaries and associates and fully complhed wizh the capital requirements under the loan faciity
agreements

28. Financial risk management and fair values
The Group 1s exposed to credit, iquidity, interest rate and currency risks in the normal course of its
businesses The Group 1s also exposed to equity price risk arising from its equity investments in other
entities In accordance with the Group’s treasury policy, derivative financial instruments are only used to
hedge 1ts exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate risks arising from operanonal, financing and
mvestment activities The Group does not hold or 1ssue derivative financial instruments for trading or
speculative purposes

(a) Credit nsk

The Group's credit risk 1s primarily attributable to trade and other recewvables relating to electricity
customers, bank deposits and over-the-counter derivative financial instruments entered into for hedging
purposes The Group has a credit pohcy in place and the exposures to these credit rnisks are monitored
on an ongomg basis

In respect of trade and cther receivables relating to electricity customers, HEC, a wholly-owned
subsidiary, obtains collateral in the form of security deposits from customers 1n accordance with the
Supply Rules The outstanding amount of deposits received from customers at 31st December 2009
was $1,676 million (2008 $1,634 million) The credit policy 15 set out in note 19

The Group has defined minimum credit rating requirements and transacuon himits for counterparties
when dealing in financial derivatives or placing deposits to minimise credit exposure The Group does not
expect any counterparty to faill to meet its obligations

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk in respect of trade and other receivables
relating to electricity customers, as the five largest customers combined did not exceed 30% of the
Group’s total turnover

The maximum exposure to credit risk 1s represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset,
including derivative financial instruments, in the balance sheet Except for the financial guarantees given by
the Group as set out In note 31, the Group has not provided any other guarantee which would expose
the Group or the Company to credit risk. The maxmmum exposure to credit risk in respect of these
financial guarantees at the balance sheet date 1s disclosed in note 31

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group's exposure to credit risk arising from trade and
other receivables are set out in note [9
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28. Financial risk management and fair values onuneq)

(b} Liquidity risk

The Group operates a central cash management system for all its subsidiaries 1n order to achieve a
better control of risk and minimise the costs of funds The Group’s policy 1s to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements and its comphance with loan covenants, to ensure that it mantains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate commuitted hnes of funding to meet 1ts liquidity requirements in
the short and longer term The Group had undrawn committed bank facihities of $6,500 mullion at

3Ist December 2009 (2008 $7,450 million)

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at the balance sheet date of the Group’s
and the Company’s non-derivative financial habilittes and derivative financial habities, which are based on

contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed using contractual rates or,
if floating, based on rates current at the balance sheet date) and the ezrliest date the Group and the
Caompany can be required to pay

The Group
2009
Contractual undiscounted cash ocutflow
Within  More than  More than Balance
| year I year but 2 years but More sheet
or on less than less than than carrying
$ miliion demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount
Bank loans and other
borrewings and interest
accruals 320 4,380 6,348 2,183 13,331 12,294
Trade and other payables
(excluding interest
accruals) 1,538 - - -~ 1,535 1,535
Interest rate swaps
(net settled) and related
interest accruals 12 an 3 - 2) 6
1,867 4,369 6,345 1,283 14,864 13,835
Denivatives settled gross
Foreign exchange
forward contracts held
as cash flow hedging
instruments
{note 28(d)()) £)]
- outflow 2,307 39 14 - 2,640
- inflow {2311 {320) (14) - (2,645)
Other foreign exchange
forward contrzcts
(note 28(d}{n})) 1))
- outflow 301 - - - 301
— inflow (102) - - - {302)
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2008
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
Within More than More than Balance
| year | year but 2 years but More sheet
or on less than less than than carrying
$ million demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount
Bank loans and other
borrowings and
interest accruals 1,999 304 7.405 2,072 11,780 10,708
Trade and other payables
(excluding interest
accruals} L6 - - - 1,116 L1l
Interest rate swaps
(net settled) and
refated mnterest accruals 27 19 (7) - 39 87
3142 323 7.398 2,0mn 12,935 11,911
Derivatives settled gross
Foreign exchange
forward contracts held
as cash flow hedging
instruments
(note 28(d)(1)) 4
— outilow 2,464 - - - 2,464
— inflow {2,460) - - - {2,460)
Other foreign exchange
forward contracts
(note 28(d)(1)} 1
- outflow 1,044 - - - 1,044
- inflow {1.046) - - - {1.046)
The Company
2009
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
Within More than More than Balance
| year | year but 12 years but More sheet
or on less than fess than than carrying
§ million demand 2 years S years 5 years Total amount
Trade and other payables 43 - - - 43 43
Derivatives settled gross
Other foreign exchange
forward contracts
(note 28(d)(n)) -
- outflow - - - - -

~ inflow - - - - -
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28. Financial risk management and fair values (omineq

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

2008
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
Wizhin Mare than More than Balance
| year | year but 2 years but More sheet
or on less than less than than carrying
$ million demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount
Trade and other payables 4| - - - 4| 41
Derivauives settled gross
Qther foresgn exchange
forward contracts
{note 28(d)}(n)) 2
— outflow 1,019 - - - 1,019
- inflow {1.020) - - - {1.020)

Interest rate risk

The Group 1s exposed to cash flow interest rate risk on i1ts interest-bearing assets and habihities

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates

) Hedging
The Group’s policy 1s to maintain a balanced combination of fixed and varable rate debt to reduce
its interest rate exposure The Group also uses interest rate derivatives to manage the exposure
in accordance with its treasury policy At 31st December 2009, the Group had interest rate swaps
with a total notional amount of $4,949 million (2008 $4,255 mihon).

The Group classifies interest rate swaps as cash flow or fair value hedges and states them at far
value in accordance with the policy set out In note 2{1)

The fair values of swaps entered into by the Group at 31st December 2009 were recogmsed as
derivatve financal instrument assets and habiliies amounting to $31 mullion (2008 $29 million)
and $26 mullion (2008 $114 million) respectively
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The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group's and the Company’s net interest-
bearing assets and liabifiues at the balance sheet date, after taking into account the effect of interest
rate swaps designated as cash flow or fair value hedging mstruments (see (1) above}

The Group
2009 2008
Weighted Weighted
average average
mterest interest
rate % $ million rate % $ mullion
Net fixed rate assets/(liabilities)
Loans to associates 14 6,600 14 5,165
Bank loans and other borrowings £3 (6,971) 52 (5.649)
{371) (484)
Net variable rate assets/(liabilities)
Cash at bank and in hand < 0.1 100 <0t 31
Deposits with banks and
other financial institutions 0.4 4,993 24 8,931
Bank loans and other borrowings 0.3 (5.276) 09 {5,018)
Customers’ deposits < 0.1 (1.676) <0l {1.634)
(1,859) 2,310

The Company

| 2009 2008
Weighted Weighted
average average
interest interest
rate % $ million rate % $ milhion
Variable rate assets
Cash at bank and in hand < 0.1 2 <0l é
Deposits with banks and
other financial institutions 0.4 4,993 24 8,913

4,995 8,919
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28. Financial risk management and fair values (onmeq
(c} Interest rate risk onunued)

{w) Sensitwity analysrs

At 31st December 2009, it 1s estimated that a general increase/decrease of 100 basis points in
interest rates, with all other variables held constant, would have increased/decreased the Group's
profit for the year and revenue reserve by approximately $5 million (2008 increased/decreased
by approximately $48 million} Other components of consolidated equity would have increased/
decreased by approximately $6 million (2008 increased/decreased by approximately $15 million)
In response to the general increase/decrease in interest rates

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the balance sheet date and had been apphed to the exposure to interest rate risk for
both derivative and non-derivative financial instruments in existence at that date The analysis has
been performed on the same basis as for 2008

(d} Currency risk

(1

1)

{m)

Commutted and forecast transactions

The Group ts exposed to currency risk primarily through sales and purchases which give nise

to receivables, payables and cash balances that are denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the ocperations to which the transactions relate The currencies giving rise to
this risk are primarily United States dollars, Sterling pounds, Japanese yen, Canadian dollars and
New Zealand dollars

The Group uses forward exchange contracts to manage 1ts foreign currency risk and classifies these
as cash flow hedges At 3!st December 2009, the Group had forward exchange contracts hedging
committed and forecast transactiohs with a net fair asset value of $9 million (2008 $4 mellion
liabibty) recognised as derwative financial instruments

Recogrused assets and habilives

The net fair value of forward exchange contracts used by the Group as economic hedges of
monetary assets and liabiities in foreign currencies at 31st December 2009 was a net asset of
%1 nullion (2008 a net liabidity of $2 million) recognised as derivative financial instruments

Except for borrowings designated to hedge investments outside Hong Kong (see note 28(d)(in}), the
Group's borrowings are denominated 1n Hong Kong dollars Given this, the management does not
expect that there would be any significant currency risk associated with the Group’s borrowings

Investments outstde Hong Kong

Currency exposure arising from investments outside Hong Kong 1s mitigated in part by funding
a portion of the tnvestment through external borrowings in the same currency as the underlying
investment The fair value of these borrowings at 31st Decernber 2009 was $4,202 million (2008
$3,207 mullion)
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{rv) Exposure to currency risk
The following table details the Group's and the Company's exposure at the balance sheet date to
currency risk arising from highly probable forecast transactions or recognised assets or habilities
denominated in a currency other than the funcuonal currency of the entity to which they relate

The Group
Exposure to foreign currencies
2009
‘mithion ushD IPY GBP CAD NZD
Trade and other recervables - i - - -
Bank deposits and cash 644 10 - - -
Trade and other payables a9 (373) () - -

Gross exposure arising from

recognised assets and habilitres 565 (362) () - -
Neouonal amounts of forward

exchange contracts used as

economic hedges 36 127 - - -

Net exposure arising from recognised
assets and habilities 601 (135) g - -

Estimated forecast purchases
(see note below) (531) (4,850} - - -

Gross exposure arising
from forecast transactions (531) (4,850) - - -
Notional amounts of forward

exchange contracts used as

cash flow hedging instruments 293 4,387 - - -
Net exposure ansing from forecast

transactions {238) (463) - - -
Overall net exposure 363 (598) ) - ~

Note Included in estmated forecast purchases are forecast purchases of fuel which are far one years cammitment only
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28. Financial risk management and fair values (onuneq
(d) Currency nsk (conunued)

fiv) Exposure to currency risk (sontinued)

Exposure to foreign currencies

2008

'mithon usD JPY GBP CAD NZD
Trade and other recetvables 3 2 - - -
Bank deposits and cash 1,013 9 - | -
Trade and other payables {46) (285) {n n (n
Gross exposure arising from

recognised assets and habilities 970 274) (1) - (1
Notional amounts of forward

exchange contracts used as

economic hedges 132 122 - - -
Net exposure arising from

recognised assets and habilities 1,102 (152) nH - (1)
Estimated forecast purchases

(see note below) 6l1) (Lot - - -
Gross exposure arising from

forecast transactions (611) (Lol - - -
Nouonzal amounts of forward

exchange contracts used as

cash flow hedging instruments 316 19 - - -
Net exposure arising from forecast

transactions (295) (892) - - -
Overall net exposure 807 (1,044) (n - (N

Note included in estimated forecast purchases are forecast purchases of fuel which are for one year s commiment only

The Company
Exposure to foreign currencies

2009 2008
'milhion usD CAD usD CAD
Trade and other receivables - - 3 -
Bank deposits and cash 644 - 1,013 n

Gross exposure arising from recognised assets

and liabiftties 444 - 1,016 n
Notional amounts of forward exchange

contracts used as economic hedges - - 13t -

Net exposure arising from recognised assets
and habilities 444 - 1,147 (N
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(v}  Senstwvity analysis
The following table indicates that a 10 percent strengthening in the following currencies against
Hong Kong dollars at the balance sheet date would have increased/(decreased) the Group's profit
for the year (and revenue reserve) and other components of consolidated equity

The Group
200% 2008

Effect on Effect on
profit Effect profit Effect on
for the year on other  for the year other
and revenue components and revenue components
reserve of equity reserve of equity
increase/ increase/ Increase/ increase/
$ milhon {decrease) (decrease) {decrease) (decrease)
japanese yen 1)) 38 - |
Pounds sterling ()] - - -
Canadian dollars - - 1) -
New Zeatand dollars - - - -

A 10 percent weakening in the above currencies against Hong Kong dollars at the balance sheet
date would have had an equal but opposite effect on the Group's profit for the year (and revenue
reserve) and other components of consolidated equity

This sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange rates had been applied to
re-measure those financial instruments held by the Group which expose the Group to currency nisk
at the balance sheet date, and that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant

In this respect, it i1s assumed that the pegged rate between the Hong Kong dollar and the United
States dollar would be materially unaffected by any changes in movement in value of the United
States dollar against other currencies Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the effects on each of the Group entities’ profit for the year and other
components of equity measured in their respective functional currencies, translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date for presentation purposes The analysis
has been performed on the same basis as for 2008

{e) Equity price risk
The Group 15 exposed to equity price changes arising from unlisted available-for-sale equity securities
which are held for strategic purposes (see note 17)

All of the Group's unlisted investments are held for long term strategic purposes Their performance
1s reviewed regularly based on information available to the Group

These unlisted investments do not have a quoted market price in an active market and are stated at cost
Any increase or decrease in impasrment losses in respect of these investments would affect the Group's
net profit As at the balance sheet date, none of these unhisted investments was considered to be
impaired. The review has been performed on the same basis as for 2008
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28. Financial risk management and fair values (oninued

(f) Fair value

(1

(u)

Financia! struments carried ot fair volue

The following table presents the carrying value of financial mstruments measured at fair value at the
bafance sheet date across the three levels of the fair value hierarchy defined n HKFRS 7, Financial
instruments Disclosures, with the fair value of each financial instrument categorised in its entirety
based on the lowest level of input that 1s significant to that fair value measurement The levels are
defined as follows

- Level I (highest level) fair values measured using quoted prices {(unadjusted) In active markets
for idenucal financial instruments

—  Level 2 fair values measured using quoted prices in active markets for similar financsal
istruments, or using valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or
indirectly based on observable market data

—  Level 3 (lowest level) fair values measured using valuation techniques in which any sigmificant
input is not based on observable market data

2009
The Group The Company
Level 2
$ milhon $ million
Assets
Derivative financial instruments
~ Interest rate swaps 31 -
— Forward exchange contracts 13 -
44 -
Liabilities
Derivauve financial instruments
— Interest rate swaps (26) -
— Forward exchange contracts (3) -
Bank loans subject to fair value hedges {531) -
{(560) -

Fair values of financral instruments carried at other than farr value

Certain of the Group's and the Company's amounts due from subsidiaries and associates are
interest free and have no fixed repayment terms Given these terms, it 1s not meaningful to disclose
the fair value The Group’s unhsted available-for-sale equity securities do not have a quoted market
price in an active market and are stated at cost Other than these financial instruments, the carrying
amounts of the Group's and the Company’s financial instruments are esumated to approximate their
fair value
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(g) Esumation of fair values

The following summarises the major methods and assumptions used 1n estimating the fair values of
financial instruments

(1} Securties
Far value 1s based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date without any deduction for
transaction costs Unquoted equity investments do not have a quoted market price In an active
market and are measured at cost as their fair value cannot be measured rebably

(1) Derwatives
The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts Is determined using forward exchange market
rates at the balance sheet date The fair value of interest rate swaps 1s determined by discounting
the future cash flows of the contracts at the current market interest rate

(m) Interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings
The fair value 1s estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at current market
interest rates for similar financial instruments

(v}  Financial guarantees
The fair value of financial guarantees issued ts determined by reference to fees charged i an
arm’s length transactton for similar services, when such information i1s obtainable, or is otherwise
estimated by reference to interest rate differenuals, by comparing the actual rates charged by
lenders when the guarantee 1s made available with the estimated rates that lenders would have
charged, had the guarantees not been available, where reliable estimates of such information
can be made

29. Operating lease commitment

As at 3|st December 2009, the total future minimum lease payments by the Group under a non-cancellable
equipment operating lease are payable as follows

The Group
2009 2008
$ million $ million
Within | year - 46

During the year ended 31st December 2009, the Group exercised an option to purchase all of the equipment
subject to the operating lease at its fair market value as at the end of the lease term under the terms of the
non-cancellable equipment lease
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30. Capital commitments

The Group’s capitaf commitments outstanding at 31st December and not provided for in the financial

statements were as follows

The Group
2009 2008
$ mithon $ million
Contracted for

Capital expenditure £,367 1,263
Investment 1n jointly controlled entities 37 37
Others - t
1,404 1.300

Authorised but not contracted for
Capital expenditure 10,303 11,821

31. Contingent liabilities

The Group The Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
$ muliion $ million $ miflion $ million
Financial guarantees issued in respect of banking
facilities available to (see note below)
— Subsidiaries - - 4,202 3,207
- Associates 1,229 836 1,229 836
— Jointly controlled entities 403 206 - -
Other guarantees given in respect of
— Subsidiaries 10 10 10 10
- Others - 210 - -
i,642 1,262 5,441 4,053

As at the balance sheet date, the Group and the Company have issued guarantees to banks in respect of
banking facilities granted to wholly-owned subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities The Directors
do not consider 1t probable that a claim will be made against the Group and the Company under any of the
guarantees The maxamum liabihty of the Group and the Company at the balance sheet date under the 1ssued
guarantees is disclosed above The Group and the Company have not recognised any deferred income 1n
respect of the guarantees as their fair value cannot be reliably measured using observable market data
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32. Material related party transactions
The Group had the following material transactrons with related parties during the year

(2)

(b)

(d)

Shareholder

On 5th February 2009, the Company entered into an agreement with Cheung Kong Infrastructure
Holdings Limited (“CKI"), a substantial shareholder holding approximately 38 87% of the issued shares of
the Company, to purchase the entire 1ssued share capital of Qutram Limited ("Outram”), which held

a 45% equity interest In certain joint ventures owning power plants in the People’s Republic of China
The consideration for the transaction was $5,680 millon The transaction constituted a connected
transacuon for the Company The acquisition was completed on 2nd April 2009

Upon the acquesition, Qutram entered into a three-year renewable contract with CKI under which CKI
provides operation and management services to Qutram and its subsidiaries Qutram retmbursed CKI|
$23 million 1n 2009 being the actual costs incurred for providing the services

Subsidiaries

Management fees and services fees recharged by the Company to subsidiaries amounted to $133 million
{2008 $139 million) for the year The outstanding balances with subsidiaries at 3|st December 2009 are
disclosed in note |14 The transactions and balances with subsidiaries are eliminated on consolidation

Associates

Interest income received/receivable from associates in respect of the joans to associates amounted to
$698 million (2008 $603 million) for the year At 31st December 2009, the total outstanding interest

bearing loan balances due from associates were $6,600 milhon (2008 $5,165 millton) The outstanding
balances with associates are disclosed in note |5

Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel, including amounts paid to the Company’s Directors as
disclosed in note 10(a) and the highest paid employees as disclosed in note 10(b), is as follows

The Group The Company
2009 2008 200% 2008
% million $ million $ million $ millon
Short-term employee benefits 60 63 37 37
Post-employment benefits 5 3 2 !
65 66 39 38

Total remuneration 1s included in “staff costs™ (see note B) At 3ist December 2009 and 2008, there was
no amount due from the key management personnel

33. Substantial shareholder of the Company
The Company 15 a Hong Kong listed company and its shares are widely held by the public Cheung Kong
Infrastructure Holdings Limited currently holds approximately 38 87% of the issued share capital of the
Company and 15 a substantial shareholder of the Company
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34.

35.

36.

Comparative figures

As a result of the application of HKAS | {revised 2007), Presentation of financial statements, and HKFRS

8, Operating segments, certain comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to the current year's
presentation and to provide comparative amounts in respect of items disclosed for the first tme n 2009
Further details of these developments are disclosed in note 3

Critical accounting judgements and estimates

The methods, estimates and judgements the Directors used in applying the Group’s accounting policies have
a significant impact on the Group's financial positton and operatng results Some of the accounung policies
require the Group to apply estimates and judgements on matters that are imherently uncertain In addition to
notes 25 and 28 which contamn information about the assumptions and their nisk factors relaung to valuation
of defined benefit retirement scheme assets and habilities and financial instruments, certain critical accounting
judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies are described below

(a) Depreciation and amortisation
Fixed assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated usefu! lives, after taking into
account the estimated residual value The Group reviews annually the useful life of an asset and 1ts
residual value, If any Interests in leasehold land held for own use under operating leases are amortised on
a straight-ine basis over the shorter of the estimated useful hives of the leased assets and the lease term
Both the period and methods of amortisation are reviewed annually The depreciation and amortisation
expenses for future periods are adjusted If there are significant changes from previous estimates

(b) Impairment
In considering the impairment losses that may be required for the Group’s assets which include unhisted
avallable-for-sale securities and fixed assets, the recoverable amount of the asset needs to be determmned
The recoverable amount s the greater of the fair value less costs to sell and the value 1n use It 1s difficult
to precisely estimate the fair value less costs to sell because quoted market prices for these assets
may not be readily available In determining the value in use, expected cash flows generated by the
assets are discounted to their present value, which requires significant judgement. The Group uses all
readily available information in determining an amount that is a reasonable approximation of the
recoverable amount

Any increase or decrease in impairment losses, recognised as set out above, would affect the net profit
in future years

Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued
but not yet effective for the year ended 31st December 2009

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has 1ssued a number of amendments,

new standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year ended 3 [st December 2009 and
which have not been adopted In these financial statements

The Group 1s 1n the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments, new standards
and interpretations is expected to be in the peried of initial applicatton 5o far 1t has concluded that the
following developments are relevant to the Group's financial statements but the adoption of them 1s unlikely
to have a significant impact on the Group’s results of operations and financial position

Effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after

HKFRS 3 (Revised), Business combinations ist July 2009

Amendments to HKAS 27, Consohdated and separate financial statements Ist July 2009

Amendments to HKAS 39, Financial instruments ist July 2009
Recogrution and measurement — Eligible hedged rtems

Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 Ist july 2009 or Ist January 2010

Revised HKAS 24, Related party disclosures Ist January 2011

Amendments to HK(IFRIC) 14, The hmit on a defined benefit asset, Ist January 2011

mmimum funding requirements and thew mteractron
HKFRS 9, Financial instruments Ist January 2013
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2009
Sales of Infrastructure All other

$ million electricity  investments activities Total
For the year ended 31st December
Revenue
Group turnover 10,3867 - 28 10,395
Other revenue and net income 23 22 14 59
Reportable segment revenue 10,390 22 42 10,454
Result
Segment earnings 7,456 3 I 7,440
Depreciation and amorusation (1,622) - - (1,622)
Interest income - 698 58 756
Operatung profit 5,834 701 59 6,594
Finance costs (92) (242) - (334)
Share of profits less losses of associates

and jointly controlled entities - i,529 | 1,530
Profit before taxation 5,742 1,988 60 7,790
Income tax (952) 27 6 (?19)
Profit after taxation 4,790 2,015 1) 6,871
Scheme of Control transfers (174) - - (174)
Reportable segment profit 4,616 2,015 66 6,697
At 31st December
Assets
Fixed assets 47,463 - | 47,464
Other assets 3,008 69 53 3,127
Interest in associates and jointly

controlled entities - 19,257 8 19,265
Bank deposits and cash 92 - 5,061 5,093
Reportable segment assets 50,560 19,326 5,063 74,949
Liabilities
Segment habilities (3.900) {56) (245) (4,201)
Current and deferred taxation (5,858) - - (5,858}
Interest-bearing borrowings (8,047} (4,200) - (12,247}
Rate Reducuon Reserve (14) - - (14)
Tanff Stabilisation Fund (485) - - (485)
Reportable segment labilities (18,304) {4,256) (245) (22,80%)
For the year ended 31st December
Other information
Capital expenditure 2,751 - - 2,751
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Appendix ] (conunued)
Segment information (contne)

2008
Sales of Infrastructure All other

$ million electnaity Investments activities Total
For the year ended 3 Ist December
Revenue
Group turnover 12,731 - 42 12,773
Other revenue and net income 3l 43 15 6!
Reportable segment revenue 12,734 43 57 12,834
Result
Segment earnings 9.654 42 (71) 9,625
Depreciation and amortisation (1,514) - - (1,514)
Interest iIncome - 603 356 959
Operating profit 8,140 645 285 9,070
Finance costs (166) (297) - (463)
Share of profits less losses of associates and

jointly controlled entities - 731 I 732
Profit before taxation 7,974 1,079 286 9,339
Income tax (1.016) i7 (1) (1,000)
Profit after taxation 6,958 1,096 285 8,339
Scheme of Control transfers (310) - - (310}
Reportable segment profit 6,648 1,096 285 8,029
At 31st December
Assets
Fixed assets 46,488 - - 46,488
Other assets 2,788 77 45 2,910
Interest in associates and jointly

controlled entities - 10,071 9 10,080
Bank depasits and cash - - 8,962 8,962
Reportable segment assets 49,276 10,148 9,016 68,440
Liabilities
Segment liabiliues (3,922) (138) (394) (4.454)
Current and deferred taxation (5.667) 9 (9 (5,667)
Interest-bearing borrowings (7.463) (3.204) - (10,667)
Rate Reduction Reserve (14) - - {14)
Tarff Stabiisation Fund 311 - - 31
Reportable segment habilities (17.377) {(3.333) (403) (21,113)
For the year ended 31st December
Other information
Capital expenditure 2,084 - - 2,084
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Appendix 2
Principal subsidiaries

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries as at 31st December 2009 which principally affected
the results, assets or hiabilities of the Group The class of shares held 1s ordinary unless otherwise stated

Percentage of Place of
Issued share capital equity held by incorporation/

Name of company and debt securities the Company operation Principal activity
The Hongkong Electric Company, Limited HK$2.411,600,000 100 Hong Kong Electricity generation

and supply
Associated Technical Services Limited HK$1,000,000 100 Hong Keng Consulting
Fortress Adverusing Company Limited HK$2 100 Hong Kong Adverusing
Hengkong Electric (Natural Gas) Limited uss| 100 British Virgin [slands/ Investment holding

Hong Kong

Hengkong Electric International Limited US$50,900 100 Britsh Virgin Islands  Investment holding
Heongkong Electric Finance Limited US$1 and 100%  Britsh Virgin Uslands/ Financing

HK$3,030 mill:on
Hong Kong dollar notes
(see note 23)

HE! Investment Holdings Limsted HK$2 100*
Sigerson Business Corp Uss10t 100*
HE! Utihitres (Malaysian) Limited A%$637510 100*
HE! Power (Malaysian) Limited A$52,510 100*
Hong Keng Electric Internationaf AS| 100*
Finance (Austraha) Pty Lim:ted
HE{ Transmission Finance As12 100*
(Australia) Pry Limited
HEI Distribution Finance {Austraha) A$100 100*
Pty Limited
Riverland Investment Limited Uss! 100*
Hongkong Electric International Power uss2 100*
(Maunitius) Limited
Kentson Limited uss| 100*
Beta Central Profits Limited GBP 63,772,525 100*
HEI China Limited Ussli 100*
Hongkong Electric Yunnan Dah Wing HKS$ | 100*
Power Company Limited
Dako Internattonal Limited US$I and C$53,550,000 100*
More Advance Development Limited HK$200,010,000 lag*
HEI Tap Limited S A €$53,550,000 100*
Kongwell Development Limited HKS$1 100*
Kindmax Enterprises Limited HK$1 100*
Goldteam Resources Limited US$1 and NZ$58,500,000 100+
HEI Letng Limited HK$1 100*
Qutram Limited uss! 100*

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

British Virgin Islands
Britssh Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
Australia

Australia
Austraha

8riush Virgin Islands
Maunitius

Briush Yirgin Islands
United Kingdom
British Virgn Islands
Hong Kong

British Virgin Islands
Hong Kong

Belgium

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

Brinsh Virgin Islands
Hong Kong

Britssh Virgin Islands

Investment holding
Investment holding
Investment holding
Investment holding

Financng
Financing
Financing

Investment holding

Investment holding

Investment holding
Investment holding
Investment holding
Investment holding

Investment holding
tnvestment holding
Investment holding
Financing

Financing

Investment holding
Investment holding
Investment holding

* indirectly held
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Appendix 3
Principal associates

The following list contains only the particulars of associates as at 3|st December 2009 which principally affected

the results or assets of the Group

Percentage of

the Group’s Place of
Issued effective incorporation/
Name of associate share capital interest operation Principal activity
Secan Limited HK$I10 20% Hong Kong Property
development

CKI Spark Holdings No One Limited A$250,818,796 5476% Bahamas/Australia  Electricity

(see note (3) below) distribution
CKI Spark Holdings No Two Limited A%$498,038 537 5476% Bahamas/Austraha  Electricity

(see note (b) below) distribution
Ratchaburi Power Company, Limited THB 7,325,000,000 15% Thailand Electricity

(see note (c) below) generation and

supply

Northern Gas Networks Holdings GBP 571,670,980 4129% United Kingdom  Gas distribution

Limited {see note {(d) below)
Stanley Power Inc (see note (e) below) Ordinary shares 50% Canada Electricity

Cs$107,000,000 generation
Preference shares
C$45,666,800

Wellington Electriaity Distribution NZ$117,000,100 50% New Zealand Electricity

Network Holdings Limited distribution

(see note (f) below)

Notes

{a) CKI Spark Holdings No. One Limited halds a 51% antnbutable interest in CKIZHE) Elecerseity Distributions Holdings {Auseraia) Py Limited {"CHEDHAH™)
CHEDHAH 15 the holding company of Pawercor Australia Limited ("Powercor™) and CitPower | Pty Limited (“CittPower”™) Powercor aperates and manages
an electriciry distribution business in the State of Victorts, Australla CluPower, which Is similar to Powercor is one of five electricry distrnibutars (n the State of
Victoria, Australia The Group holds 54 76% of CKI Spark Haldings No One Limited but the Group does not have effective control over it and therefore it has

been accounted for as an assocate

b} CKI Spark Holdings No. Two Limited holds a 51% attributable Inzerest in ETSA Utilicies Partnership ("ETSA™) ETSA is an unlncorporated body and operates
and manages the electnicity distribution business in the State of South Australia The Group holds 54 76% of CKI Spark Holdings Na Two Limited but the Group
does not have effactive control over it and, therefore it has been accounted for as an associate

{c) Ratchaburl Power Company Limited is incorporatad in Thail

a power generating station in Thailand

d and 13 pr

he

gaged in the develop

P

{d} MNarthern Gas Natworks Holdings Limited operates 1 gas distribution network in the NMorth of England

financing cperauon and mainrenance of

{0) Stanley Fower inc indirectly holds a 49 99% partnership interast In TransAlta Cogeneration LP TraniAlta Cogeneration LP owns intereses in five gas-fired
cogeneration facilities in Alberta Ontario and Saskatchewan and in a coal-fired mine-mouth generavon facihty In Alberta, Canada

{f ‘Wellington Electricity Distnbution Network Holdings Limited owns interests in the Wellington electricity distribution network, which supplies elecericizy
to the city of Wellington, the capital of New Zealand, and extends to the Porirua and Hute Valley regions of Naw Zealand
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Appendix 4

Principal jointly controlled entities

The following hst contains only the particulars of jontly controlled entitias as at 31st December 2009 which
principally affected the results or assets of the Group

Percentage of

Issued or the Group’s Place of
registered effective incorporation/ Principal

Name of joint venture share capital interest operation activity

Huaneng Hongkong Electric Dal RMB 126,048,280 45% People’s Republic Electricity
Wind Power Company Limited of China generation
(see note (a) below)

Huaneng Laoting Wind Power RMBI80,427,511 45% People’s Republic Electricity
Company Limited of China generation
(see note (b) below)

Guangdong Zhuhat Power Station RMB{,765,000,000 45% People's Repubhc  Electricity
Company Limited and US$166,000,000 of China generation
(see note (c) below)

Guangdong Zhuha Jinwan Power RMBB822,250,000 45% People’s Republic Electricity
Company Limited and US$83,340,993 of China generation
(see note {d} below)

Notes

(a) Huaneng Hongkang Electric Dali Wind Power Company Limited is angaged in wind power development, operation management and supply of electricity in the

Prople's Repubhic of China

{b} Huzneng Laoting Wind Power Company Limited is engaged in wind power d p operabon manig and supply of electricity in the People’s Republic
of China
{c) Guangdong Zhuhai Power Station Company timited owns and operates power plants in the People s Republic of China

{d) Guangdong Zhuhal jinwan Power Company Limited owns and operates power plants in the People s Republic of China
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Five-Year Group Profit Summary and

Group Balance Sheet

Five-Year Group Profit Summary

HK$ million 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Turnover 10,395 12,773 12,524 12,181 11,622
Operating profit 6,594 9,070 8,869 8,334 7,755
Finance costs {334) (463) (634) (420) (588)
Profit on disposal of interest

In associates - - - - 1,560
Share of profits less losses

of associates and jointly

controlled entities 1,530 732 524 229 1,050
Profit before taxation 7,790 9,339 8,759 8,143 9,777
Income tax (919) {1,000) (1,296) (1.301) (1,215)
Profit after taxation 6,871 8,339 7.463 6,842 8,562
Scheme of Control transfers (174) (310) (15) - -
Profit attributable to equity

shareholders of the Company 6,697 8,029 7,448 6,842 8,562
Five-Year Group Balance Sheet
HK$ million 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Fixed assets 47,464 46,488 46,058 46,496 46,258
Interest 1n associates and jointly

controlled entinies 19,265 10,080 9,071 6,339 5,780
Other non-current financial assets 67 66 66 1,687 1,682
Other non-current assets 519 40 1,228 626 213
Net current assets 5,798 8,718 10,566 9,892 5525
Total assets less current habiliues 73,113 65,392 66,989 65,040 59,458
Non-current habilities (20,470) (17.740) (18,870) {(20,955) (17.773)
Rate Reduction Reserve (14) {14) (1) - -
Tanff Stabilisatilon Fund (485) (3t (14) - -
Net assets 52,144 47327 48,104 44,085 41,685
Share capaital 2,134 2,134 2,134 2,134 2,134
Reserves 50,010 45,193 45,970 41,951 39,551
Capital and reserves 52,144 47,327 48,104 44,085 41,685
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Ten-Year Scheme of Control Statement

The Hongkong Electric Company, Limited

(a) Scheme of Control
The acuvities of The Hongkong Electric Company, Linuted (“HEC™), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
are subject to a Scheme of Control (“SOC") agreed with the Hong Kong SAR Government with a term of
10 years commencing |st January 2009 and a Government option to extend the agreement for a further term
of 5 years

The agreement provides for HEC to earn a Permitted Return of 9 99% of average net fixed assets other than
for renewable energy fixed assets for which the permitted return 1s 11% (2008 13 5% of average net fixed
assets pfus | 5% of average net fixed assets acquired after Ist January 1979 from additional shareholders’
investment) The Permitted Return is determined after any excess capacity adjustment, in accordance with

the Annex to the SOC An excess capacity adjustment of $33 million was made in 2009 (2008 $43 million)
Any excess or deficiency of the gross tariff revenue over the sum of total aperating costs, SOC Net Return
and SOC taxation charges 1s transferred to/{from) a Tariff Stabilisation Fund (formerly named Development
Fund) from/(to) the income statement of HEC When transfer from the Tariff Stabiisation Fund to the income
staterment rs required, the amount transferred shall not exceed the balance of the Taniff Stabihsation Fund

In calculating the SOC net revenue, interest relaung to the acquisimon of fixed assets (whether it has been
charged to revenue or capitahised) up to 8% per annum, s added to, and a tax adjustment 1s made against, profit
after taxation In addition, each year a charge calculated by applying the average of one-month Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rates (2008 fixed 8%) on the average balance of the Tariff Stabilisation Fund 1s transferred
from the income statement of HEC to a Rate Reduction Reserve, the purpose of which is to rebate electricity
charges to customers

(b) Ten-Year Scheme of Control statement for the year ended 3ist December

HK$ million 2609 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Sales of electricity 10,331 12,704 12,452 12,326 12310 11442 1,263 11,522 16911 10543
Transfer from/{to) Fuel Clause

Recovery Account 2,329 1862 413 15 e (443)  (T26)  (F4)  (740)  (801)
Other Scheme of Control revenue 63 k[ 455 2 56 51 66 56 59 54
Gross rnff revenue 12,723 14542 13320 12,383 12,485 11,050 10,603 10,854 10230  9,7%
Fuel costs {4,104) (3597) (216Ty (1780} (1.887Ty {l30ly 983y (97 (%7} (823
Operating costs (1,158) (1.283) (1,260) (1,155} (1.190) (1.105) (9!8)  (833)  (848)  (B45)
Interest (91)  (168)  (369)  (186)  (128) {83) {195  (1%6) (359}  (590)

Depreciauon znd amorusation (1.623) (1.516) (2,025) (1,8%2) (1,831) (1.B1O) (1,782) (1,671} (1.572) (1.448)
Profit on disposal of fixed zssets - - - - - - n7 - - -

Net revenue before taxation 5,747 7,980 7499 7.370 7.448 675 7042 7,82 6,534 6,090

Scheme of Control taxation (1,625) (1.218) (1.331) (1,453) (1.314) (1.167) (1,193) (1.134) (1010} (862)
Net revenue after taxation 47122 6762 6168 5917 6,134 5584 5849 6048 554 5228
interest on borrowed capital 103 154 307 285 181 128 218 329 524 1]
Interest on incremental

customers’ deposits - I 9 9 3 - - - k) ]

Scheme of Control net revenue 4,835  49[7 6484  6.21) 6318 5762 6067 6377 6,05l 6,006
Transfer {to)/from Tanff

Stabibisation Fund (174) (297 (14) - - - 139 )] 1] (160)
Shortfall i Tariff Stabilisation Fund - - - 487 288 869 128 - - -

Permstted return 4651 6520 6470 6698 6,606 6581 6434 6376 61610  5B4b
Shortfall in Tanff Stabilisation Fund - - - (487)  (288)  (B69)  (228) - - -
interest on borrowed capital {403) (154  (307)  (285)  (I8l) (l128) (218}  (329) (524} (V7%
Interest on incremental

customers’ deposits - {1) (%) ) (3) - - - (3} {3)
Transfer to Rate Reducton Reserve - (13) n - - - {6} () {15) {14)

Net return 4548 6452 6,153 5917 6134 5584 5982 6036 5,620 5,044
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Ten-Year Balance Sheet

As at 31st December

The Hongkong Electric Company, Limited

HK$ million 2009 2008 2007 2006 2008 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Non-current assets

Fixed assets 47,523 46550 46,123 46,565 46,331 45353 45,104 45287 44,045 4(,688
Employee retirement benefit assets 456 - 1,033 519 159 m 0 212 - -
Dervative financial instruments 3 29 8 | 2% - - - - -

48,010 45579 47,164 47,105 46519 45630 45324 45499 44,045 41688

Current assets

Coal, fuel o1l and liquefied natural gas 619 375 255 204 164 189 B6 120 138 a0
Stores and materials 301 283 281 278 181 275 281 292 301 299
Fuel Clause Recovery Account 551 998 336 566 1,079 1,197 L147 1235 1,216 981
Trade and other receivables 1,035 1,104 1,071 1,056 1,013 1,049 1,08 1,039 664 633
Bank deposit and cash 92 I 4 2 2 7 3 2 5 2

1608 2771 1,947 2125 2532 2717 2535 2688 1324 2005

Current habilities
Bank loans and other borrowings

(1.687) {1.405) (3.735) (4398) (7.535) (B.269) (9.266) (7.944) (6,573

Trade and other payables (1,487) (1,009 (860}  (898) (842} (1.010) {1011} (1,242) {1.858) (1.511)
Current taxation (238) (187) (410} (540) (220} (2%) (301} (419) (792  (209)

(1,723) (2883) (2675) (5173} (5460) (8,774) (9581} (10927) (10594) (8.293)
Net current assets/(liabilities) 885 (112) (728) (3048) (2921) (6057) (7.046) (8.23%) (8270) (6.268)

Total assets less current liabilities 48,895 46,467 46,436 44057 43598 39573 38278 37260 35775 35420

Not-current habilities

Bank loans and other borrowings (24,209} {10,037) (9.796) (9,845) (6.936) (4.276) (3.852) (7.29%) (B.036) (9.639)
Deferred creditors - - - - (52) (548}  (760) (972) (I.184) ({l.3e2)
Customers’ deposits (1,676) (1,634) (1,585 (1.537) (1508} (1455} (1.387) (1,350) (1,002} (1.242)
Employee retrement benefit habilitres (722} (1267) (423} (307)  (268) (79 (68) (57) - -
Deferred tax liabiliues (note 4) (5,622) (5.479) (5428} (5.432) (5382) (5236} (5.105) (4.599) - -
Derwvauve financiat instruments {15} (14) )] (£)] (5} - - - - -
(32,944) (18,431) {17.237) (17,122) (14,151} (11,594) (18,172} (14,273) (10,522} (12,243)
Rate Reduction Reserve {note |} (14) (14) (n - - - 5 (10) (% (14
Tariff Stabilisation Fund (note 2) (485) (31N (14} - - - - {139y 138y  (249)
Net assets 15452 27,711 29184 26935 29447 27979 27101 22838 25106 229M
Capital and reserves
Share capital 2400 2410 2410 2411 2411 2411 2411 2411 2411 14|
Reserves (notes 3 and 4) 4 2 6 4 - - - 937 2 460 2,201
Hedging reserves (6) (22) (6) (4) k| - - - - -
Proposed dividend 4,196 3455 4928 4878 3882 4144 5200 1,903 4301 3917
6,607 SB66 7339 7289 6296 6655  76Fl 5251 9182 8529
Loan capital 8,845 21845 11845 19646 23,051 21,324 19490 (7587 15924 14,385

15,452 27,711 2984 26935 29447 27979 27101 122838 25106 20914

Notes
{1 The purpose of this reserve is to reduce by means of rebaces, electricity tanfis o customers
{2 The urff stabilisauon fund is not part of sharcholders funds

{3) Up to 2001 these reserves include a Scheme of Control tax adjustment, calculated in accordance with the renewed Schema of Control Agreement effective
Ist January 1994 These represent the accumulated difference between depreclation and the Inland Revenue tax allowances appiying the ax rate applicable to
each respective year This Scheme of Control tax adjustment was required to be retained within The Hongkong Electric Campany, Limited (“HEC") until such ome
as it may be required to pay the tax Smarung from 2002 fell g the imp of Hong Keng Satemant of Standard Accaunting Practica No 12 (revised)
“Incame Taxes™, a deferrad tx Jabdity has been rocogruzed on HEC's balance sheet and this Schema of Control tax adjustment is no longer considered necessary

{4) Hong Kong S of Standard Ac g Practice No |2 (ravised) “Income Taxes™ was first effacuve for accounting periods beginning on or after I3t January
1003 In order to comply with this revised § the Group adopted 3 new acc Ing policy for defarred tax in 2003 Figures for 2002 have been adjusted
However It |s not practicable to restate earlier years for comparison purposes




Ten-Year Operating Statistics

The Hongkong Electric Company, Limited

Haongkong Electnic Holdngs Limited Annual Report 2009 ‘

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Units sold (millions of kWh)
Commercial 8,084 BOS2 8109 79864 7866 778l 7596 7709 7456  Tl4l
Domestic 2495 2416 2394 2372 2445 2332 2346 2443 2159 2346
Industrial 342 367 188 417 444 480 4 490 496 505
Total {millions of kWh) {note 1) 10,921 10865 108%1 10773 10755 10,593 10413 10,642 1031 9992
Annual increase/(decrease) (%) 03 ©2) 11 02 15 17 22) 32 32 35
Average Net Tariff (cents per kWh)
Basic Tar/ff 945 1169 1143 144 1149 1085 1085 1085 1057 1057
Fuel Clause Surcharge/(Rebate) 25.4 105 59 49 21 @y (&N 7n #3) {52
Special Rebate - - - (19 71} {1oy (10 - - -
Rate Reduction Rebate - - - - - on o {on {02) 02)
Nez Tariff (cents per kWh) 1es 1274 1202  1i74 (100 1033 Q13 1013 962 903

(note 2) (note 3}

Number of customers (000's) 564 563 561 559 556 552 547 544 536 526
Installed capacity (MW)
Gas turbines and standby units 555 555 920 920 920 920 920 920 805 805
Coal-fired units 2,506 2500 2500 2500 2500 2500 2500 2,500 2,500 2,500
Gas-fired combined cycle unit 680 680 335 EEH - - - - - -
Wind turbine I ! t | ! - - - - -
Total (MW) 1736 376 375 3756 3421 3420 3420 3420 3305 3,305
System maximum demand (MW) 1837 2589 2552 2,597 2565 2588 2440 2436 2516 2417
Annual increase/(decrease) (%} (29) I 4 (7} 12 (09 6l 02 (32} 41 32
Annual tead factor (%) 554 539 548 536 543 529 553 552 530 535
Thermal efficiency (%) 35.2 58 364 355 351 353 153 354 355 356
Plant availabihty (%) 83.4 855 838 861 838 876 a70 851 803 847
Number of switching stations 24 pL} 23 23 23 22 23 12 20 20
Number of zone substations 26 26 26 26 26 26 28 26 L3 25
Number of consumer substations 3,667 3648 3632 3617 3597 3570 3531 3487 344 3,091
Number of employees 1,862 1,841 1,857 1,907 1,965 2,022 1092 2,168 2277 2,325
Capital expenditure (HK$ million) LISE 2084 1,747 2307 3,006 2248 LI06 3,145 4133 3549

Notes

m 2002 included 2 one-off adjustment anistng from 2 change o the recogmtion of electricity units sold during the year
(2) Applicable from April 2004 to December 2004
{3) Apphicable from January 2003 to March 2004
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of the Company will be held
at the Ballroom, Ist Floor, Harbour Grand Kowloon (formerly Harbour Plaza Hong Kong), 20 Tak Fung 5treet,
Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong on Thursday, 6th May 2010 at [2 00 noon for the following purposes

Ordinary Business

| To receive and consider the audited Financial Statements and the Reports of the Directors and Auditor for
the year ended 31st December 2009

2 To declare a final dividend

3  To re-elect retiring Directors

4 To appoint Auditor and authorise the Directors to fix the Auditor’s remuneration.

Special Business
5 To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolution as an Ordinary Resclution

“THAT

(a)

(b)

a general mandate be and 1s hereby unconditionally given to the Directors during the Relevant Period

to 1ssue and dispose of additional shares of the Company not exceeding twenty per cent of the existing
1ssued share capital of the Company as at the date of passing this resalution, such mandate to include the
granting of offers or options (including bonds and debentures convertible into shares of the Company)
which might be exercisable or converuble during or after the Relevant Pertod, and

for the purpose of this resolution
“Relevant Period™” means the period from the passing of this resolution untl whichever 1s the earhest of
(1) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company,

(1) the expiration of the period within which the next annual general meeting of the Company
15 required by law to be held, and

(m) the revocation or varation of this resolution by an ordinary resolution of the shareholders
of the Company in general meeting”

6  To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution

“THAT

(@

(b)

subject to paragraph (b) below, the exercise by the Directors during the Relevant Period of all the
powers of the Company to repurchase shares of HK$1 00 each in the issued capital of the Company in
accordance with all applicable laws and the requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited as amended from time to time, be and s hereby generally
and uncondiuonally approved,

the aggregate nominal amount of shares of the Company which may be repurchased by the Company
pursuant to the approval in paragraph (a) above shall not exceed ten per cent of the aggregate nominal
amount of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this resolution, and
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c) for the purpose of this resolution
purp
“Relevant Period” means the period from the passing of this resolution untl whichever 1s the earliest of
() the concluston of the next annual general meeting of the Company,

(1) the expiration of the period within which the next annual general meeting of the Company
15 required by law to be held, and

(m) the revocation or variation of this resolution by an ordinary resolution of the shareholders of
the Company in general meeting”

To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resclution as an Ordinary Resolution

“THAT the general mandate granted to the Directors to 1ssue and dispose of additional shares pursuant to
Resolution 5 set out in the notice convening this meeting be and 1s hereby extended by the addition thereto of
an amount representing the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of the Company repurchased by the
Company under the authority granted pursuant to Resolution 6 set out In the notice convening this meeting,
provided that such amount shall not exceed ten per cent of the aggregate nominal amount of the 1ssued share
capital of the Company as at the date of the said resolution

To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolution as a Special Resolution

“THAT the Articles of Association of the Company be altered by deleting the last sentence in Article 99 and
substituting therefor the following sentence

“Any Director so appointed shall hold office enly until the next following General Meetung of the Company
(i the case of filling a casual vacancy) or untit the next following Annual General Meeting of the Company
(10 the case of an addition to the Board) and shall then be efigible for re-election at the meetng” "

By Order of the Board

Lilhan Wong
Company Secretary
Hong Kong, 7th April 2010

Notes

m
@)

3

)

(5)

(8)

U

(8)

(%}

At the Annual General Meeting the Chalrman of the Meeting will exercite his power under Arucle 80 of the Companys Articles of Association to put each of
the above resolutions to the vots by way of a poll

A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Meeung is enuded o appoint a proxy to atrend and ona poll vote for him The number of proxies
appointed by any member who s 2 holder of twa or more shares shall not exceed two A proxy need not be a member To be valld, all proxies must be deposited
at the registered office of the Company 44 Kennedy Road Hong Kang not later than 48 hours before the time for halding the Meeting

The register of members will be closed from Thursday, 2%th Aprl 2010 to Thursday 6th May 2010 both days inclusive during which no transfer of shares will be
effected To quafify for the final dividend and the right to attend and vote at the Meeung {or any adjournment thereof), all transfers accompanied by the relevant
share certificates should be lodged with the Company s Registrar Computershare Hong Kong nvestor Services Limited, Shops 17#2-1716 17th Fioor, Hopewell
Centre 183 Queen's Road East, Wanchai Hong Kong not later than 4 30 pm on Wednesday 28ch April 2010

Regarding Resolution 3 above Mr Lee Lan Yee, Francis and Mr Frank John Sixt will reurs under Arucle 116 of the Company’s Articles of Associauon and being
eligible, will offer themselvas for re-election at the Meeting Particulars of these Directors required to be disclosed by the Rules Governing the Listng of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Lsmited (“Listung Rudes”) are set out In Appendix Ik to the eircular mentioned in Note {9) below

With reference to Resolution 5 abeve, approval is being sought from members for a general mandats to be granted to the Directors to 1ssue and dispose of
shares of the Company Tha Directors wish 1o state that they have no immediate plans to 1ssue any new shares in the Company The general mandate is being
sought from bers in compliance with the Companies Ordinance and the Listing Rules

With reference to Resolution 6 above approval 1s being sought from members for 3 general mandate to be granted to the Directors to repurchase shares
issued by the Company The Directars wish to state that they will exercise the powers conferred thereby in circumstances which they deem appropriate for the
benefit of che members The explanatory statement containing the informauon refating to the repurchase of shares as required by the Listing Rules, s set out in
Appendix | to the eircular mentioned in Note (9) below

With reference to Resolution 7 above approvat is being sought from members for the general mandate to be granted to the Directors under Resolution 5 above
be extended by adding to it the amount of shares repurchated under the authority to be granted pursuant to Resoluton 6 abave

Regarding Resolution 8 above, the proposed ar d to the C y's Articles of Assoclation 13 also set out in the circulir mentioned in Note (9) below The
reason for the proposed amendment is to comply with Code A4 2 of the Cade on Corporate Governance Pracuces set out in Appendix 14 of the Lisung Rules
which provides that any Director appointed for filling a catual vacancy shall hold office untl the next following general mestng

A oircular containing the informanion regarding, inter alia the Directors proposed to be re-elected at the Meeting the general mandates co issue shares and
repurchase shares of the Company and the proposed amendment to the Articles of Association of the Company will be despatched to members together with
the 2009 annual report.
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Corporate Information

Board of Directors

Executive Directors FOK Kin Ning, Canning (Charrman}
TSO Kai Sum (Group Managing Director)
CHOW WOO Mo Fong, Susan*
Andrew John HUNTER
KAM Hing Lam
LI Tzar Kuos, Victor
Neil Douglas MCGEE (Group Finance Director)
Frank John SIXT
WAN Chi Tin {Directer of Engineering (Planning & Development;))
YUEN Sui See (Director of Operations)
CHAN Lo! Shun {Alternate Director to KAM Hing Lam)

Non-executive Directors Ronald Joseph ARCULLI
LEE Lan Yee, Franais
George Cobn MAGNUS

Independent Non-executive Directors Holger KLUGE
Ralph Raymond SHEA
WONG Chung Hin

* Also Alternate Director te FOK Kin Ning, Canning and Frank John SIXT

Audit Committee WONG Chung Hin (Charrman)
Ronald Joseph ARCULLI
Holger KLUGE
Ralph Raymond SHEA

Remuneration Committee FOK Kin Ning, Canning {Chairman)
Ralph Raymond SHEA
WONG Chung Hin

Company Secretary Lilian WONG
Registered Qffice 44 Kennedy Road, Hong Kong
Telephone 2843 3111 Facsimile 2537 1013
E-mail mail@heh com Website www heh com
Principal Banker The Hongkong and Shangha Banking Corporation Limited
Solicitors JSM
Auditors KPMG
Share Registrar Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limrted

Shops 712 = 1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen's Road East, Wanchal, Hong Kong

Stock Codes The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 6
Bloomberg 6 HK
Reuters 0006 HK

ADR Depaositary Ciubank, N A
Shareholder Services
PO Box 43077, Providence, Rhode Island 02940-3077, US A

Financial Calendar

Half-year results announced on 5th August 2009

Full-year results announced on 3rd March 2010

Annual Report posted to shareholders on or before 7th April 2010
Share register closed 29th April 2010 to 6th May 2010 (both days inclusive)
Annual General Meeting to be held on 6th May 2010

Dividends per share

Interim: HK$0.62 paid on |5th September 2009
Final : HK$1.49 payable on 7th May 2010
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This Annual Report has been printed in both the Enghsh and
Chinese languages If shareholders who have recerved an Enghsh
copy of this Annual Report wish to obtain a Chunese copy, or

vice versa, they may request for it by wnting to the share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at 46th Floor;
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong

This Annual Report has been posted in both the English and
Chnese languages on the Company's website at wwwheh com
If shareholders who have chosen to receive corporate
communicatons through the Company's websiie are unable to
gain access to the Annual Report, they may request that a copy
of this Annual Report be sent to them free of charge by mail

Shareholders may at any time change their choice of language

of alt future corporate communications, or choose to recenve

all future corporate commurucations erther in prninted form or
through the Company's website, by wrring to the Company at
the registered office, 44 Kennedy Road, Hong Kong or the share
registrar, Computershare Hong Kong investor Services Limited

at the address above-mentioned or by emailing to the Company's
ematl address at mal@heh com
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